
 

 

Legislative Assembly 

Tuesday, 18 June 2002 

                 

THE SPEAKER (Mr Riebeling) took the Chair at 2.00 pm, and read prayers. 

CAMPAIGN TO BOOST TOURISM IN WESTERN AUSTRALIA, RESULTS 
Statement by Minister for Tourism 

MR BROWN (Bassendean - Minister for Tourism) [2.01 pm]:  I am pleased to relay to the House the results of the first 
initiatives undertaken last year as part of the ongoing campaign to boost tourism in Western Australia.  These initiatives 
were part of the $5 million, 10-point plan put in place by the Government to counter the impact on tourism of the 
aftermath of the 11 September attacks on the United States and the collapse of Ansett Australia.  The early results 
indicate a resounding success, and show that Western Australia’s recovery is well in front of that of all other States.   

The 2001 Bureau of Tourism Research national visitor survey indicates that the Government’s swift response to these 
events has been successful.  The survey showed that in the December quarter, immediately following 11 September and 
the collapse of Ansett, Western Australia experienced an increase in domestic visitors of more than 12 per cent 
compared with the same period for the previous year.  The number of interstate travellers decreased, but intrastate 
tourism - the number of Western Australians travelling within their own State - countered this decline with a 25 per cent 
increase.  These figures demonstrate that the Western Australian Tourism Commission’s marketing focus on boosting 
the intrastate tourism market succeeded in softening the blow.  A new Western Australian tourism activity barometer, 
set up with crisis funding, has provided further evidence of a recovering tourism industry in Western Australia.  Results 
for January, February and March 2002 indicate that the majority of regional Western Australian operators surveyed 
experienced activity equal to or better than that of the past season.  This indicates that Western Australia’s $100 million 
holiday catalogue sale, an early strategy employed to counter the crisis, has also proved successful.  Visitor expenditure 
during the first three months of the campaign, which began in October 2001, increased by nearly four per cent.  This is 
estimated to generate an additional $21 million for Western Australia.   

I acknowledge that metropolitan operators have been hit hard by the events of September 2001.  A number of strategies 
are being implemented to help turn this around.  A new Perth regional tourism association has been established to 
market the metropolitan area.  Funding of $360 000 has been provided over two years. 

The grounding of Ansett also had the potential to devastate regional Western Australia.  Nearly three-quarters of the 
operators surveyed as part of the Western Australian tourism activity barometer attributed the fall in business activity to 
the collapse of Ansett.  The Government provided crisis funding of $250 000 to the Kimberley Tourism Association to 
attract new markets through a print campaign.  As a result, the Kimberley Tourism Association undertook activities, 
including the Broome and Derby fight-back campaigns.  Furthermore, all 10 regional tourism associations were eligible 
for up to $50 000 for new marketing initiatives.  Six of the other nine regional tourism associations adopted the State’s 
new QuickTime commercials, adding their own specific product tags.  Four of the QuickTime commercials, which 
cover most of the Western Australian tourism regions, have been aired.  A commercial for the Kimberley-Pilbara area is 
being filmed. 

Internationally, Western Australia moved its focus to Malaysia immediately following the crisis.  A tactical campaign 
called “strike back” resulted in over 2 300 passenger bookings worth more than $3 million in direct sales for an 
investment of only $163 000.  Almost 2 000 British tourists booked holidays to Western Australia on the back of a 
three-month advertising blitz launched in the United Kingdom last year.  The $200 000 “bridge the world - coast to 
coast” campaign was a joint initiative between the Western Australian Tourism Commission, Tourism New South 
Wales and the Australian Tourist Commission.  The Western Australian Government contributed $60 000 to this 
initiative.   

I table the list of funding allocations made by the Western Australian Tourism Commission under the 10-point plan. 

[See paper No 1570.] 

ABORIGINAL EMPLOYMENT AND CAREER ACTION PLAN 
Statement by Minister for Indigenous Affairs 

MR CARPENTER (Willagee - Minister for Indigenous Affairs) [2.05 pm]:  I was very pleased last Friday to launch 
the Department of Education’s Aboriginal employment and career action plan for 2002 to 2004.  Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander people currently represent less than half of one per cent of the Department of Education’s teaching staff.  
The Aboriginal employment and career action plan is a Department of Education initiative to increase the employment 
of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and support their development and career progression in the government 
school system.  The plan was developed after consultation with interest groups and stakeholders who play a part in 



11494 [ASSEMBLY - Tuesday, 18 June 2002] 

 

educating children and those who are directly involved in the education of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
children.  The need for a strategic and planned approach that focuses on increasing Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
representation in the school system is of paramount importance, and the Aboriginal employment and career action plan 
provides the basis for achieving this.  The plan offers the opportunity across the system for shared solutions to increase 
the employment of indigenous people and support their career progression.   

There is a long way to go in improving educational outcomes for Aboriginal students.  There is no doubt that Aboriginal 
students have much lower educational outcomes than their non-Aboriginal counterparts.  Plans to increase the number 
of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander teachers in Western Australia’s schools will help more Aboriginal children stay 
in school for longer.  I assure Western Australia’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people that the Government, the 
Department of Education and I are all committed to improving those outcomes.    

The learning obstacles faced by Aboriginal students go well beyond the boundaries of the schoolyard.  To make genuine 
improvements in this area, we must have a broader and more coordinated approach to indigenous issues.  As a 
Government, we are addressing those big-picture problems through initiatives such as the creation of the indigenous 
affairs advisory committee, which is now recognised as a model for the rest of the nation to follow.  However, we also 
need on-the-ground initiatives, and that is what the Aboriginal employment and career action plan for 2002 to 2004 
provides.  Having more Aborigines in teaching and administrative position in our schools is a logical way to make 
Aboriginal children feel more welcome and more engaged with the system.  Aboriginal staff can also play a major role 
in helping other staff and non-Aboriginal students to understand and embrace Aboriginal culture as something that we 
want in our schools, rather than some vague educational problem to grapple with. 

The Aboriginal employment and career action plan for 2002 to 2004 on its own will not transform the educational 
outcomes and retention rates for Aboriginal students.  However, I believe it is an important step in the right direction, 
and I hope it will be seen as this Government and the Department of Education refusing to accept the current 
educational outcomes for Aboriginal children. 

WOMEN’S POLICY OFFICE, CONSULTATION WITH ABORIGINAL WOMEN 
Statement by Minister for Community Development, Women’s Interests, Seniors and Youth 

MS McHALE (Thornlie - Minister for Community Development, Women’s Interests, Seniors and Youth) [2.07 pm]:  I 
take the opportunity to highlight the Government’s significant commitment to consulting with the people of Western 
Australia, particularly, in this case, Aboriginal women.  Genuine consultation is not easy to achieve in our very vast 
State, but we have taken up the challenge to consult with those who often have the least opportunity to make an input 
into government decision making.  Building on the momentum of the women’s convention in March 2002, which 
heralded a new way of doing business with the women of Western Australia, the Women’s Policy Office has embarked 
on statewide consultation with Aboriginal women.  This process has seen the office’s Aboriginal consultation 
coordinator travel more than 18 000 kilometres to hold in excess of 50 meetings with over 600 Aboriginal women in 
some of the most remote and inaccessible communities in Australia.  Working in conjunction with the Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Commission, in the spirit of this Government’s statement of commitment, we have listened to the 
stories, issues and concerns raised by Aboriginal women.  The consultations have also served as a vehicle to gather the 
views of Western Australian Aboriginal women on issues of national significance.  Western Australian delegates will 
present the issues arising from these consultations at a national indigenous women’s gathering to be held in Darwin this 
week.  

This gathering, the first of its kind, will be co-chaired by my parliamentary colleague the member for Kimberley in 
recognition of her achievements as the first Aboriginal woman to be elected to any Parliament in Australia.  Following 
the gathering, an action plan on women and reconciliation will be developed under the auspices of the commonwealth, 
states and territories ministers for women.  This report will be provided to the Council of Australian Governments in 
response to its decision in November 2000 requiring all ministerial councils to develop action plans to address the 
disadvantages faced by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

I can confidently say that the Western Australian Government has risen to the challenge of consultation and input.  In 
this vast State, we have managed to reach women in large regional centres and small remote communities.  Our 
consultations have provided a starting point for an ongoing process of engagement and empowerment.  Aboriginal 
women in Western Australia will be involved in strengthening their own communities and will have the opportunity to 
contribute to building a better Western Australia for themselves and their families.  I know that the member for 
Kimberley will chair this national meeting with her great skills and wisdom. 

COASTAL PLANNING AND MANAGEMENT TASK FORCE 
Statement by Minister for Planning and Infrastructure 

MS MacTIERNAN (Armadale - Minister for Planning and Infrastructure) [2.11 pm]:  In August last year, I established 
a ministerial task force to review structural arrangements for coastal planning and management in Western Australia.  In 
recognition of the high environmental, social, cultural and economic importance of the coast, the task force comprised a 
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broad cross-section of stakeholders with the intention of providing an outcome that would have wide community 
support. 

The task force has now reported to me and I advise the House of key issues and recommendations on how we will take 
the process further.  The task force considered the roles and relationships of government agencies, relevant legislation, 
previous reviews and structural arrangements interstate and internationally.  These considerations led the task force to 
identify five areas of concern: structural arrangements; roles and responsibilities of government agencies; framework 
for strategic coastal planning and management; decision-making processes; and stakeholder awareness, participation 
and resourcing. 

The task force recognised that the current legislative arrangements for planning provide a good basis for coastal zone 
planning and management decision making.  However, the system continues to have significant gaps, fragmentation and 
a lack of transparency in decision making.  Accordingly, the task force has recommended reconstituting the existing 
Coastal Zone Council and enhancing its operation to empower it to have a more meaningful role in the deliberations of 
the Western Australian Planning Commission.  This body will have greater statutory standing and increased community 
and regional representation.  It is considered that this model is more functional than having a separate agency with 
responsibilities for the coast. 

Other recommendations provide for increased recognition of coastal values and agreed objectives and principles for 
coastal planning and management that reflect community values; improved community participation in decision 
making; the need for better and more accessible information as the basis for decision making; and the development of a 
state coastal strategy and a state marine planning strategy. 

The full report of the task force sets out a range of detailed recommendations.  To facilitate the conciliation of the 
recommendation by the Government, I will release the task force’s report for a six-week public comment period.  
Following that, guided by the comments received and the report’s recommendations, a government response will be 
prepared. 

Finally, I place on record my thanks to the task force members, led by Verity Allen, and to the departmental officers for 
their tremendous efforts in grappling with this very complex issue and for producing a report that will help us to 
improve planning for the coast. 

QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE 

MICKELBERG CASE, MINISTER FOR HEALTH 

1093. Mr BARNETT to the Premier: 

I refer the Premier to statements by the Attorney General on radio 6PR yesterday that he had spoken with the Minister 
for Health about the Lewandowski affidavit, and that he had given him a copy of the affidavit prior to its consideration 
in Cabinet. 

(1) When was the Premier first made aware of the affidavit? 

(2) Did the Premier discuss the affidavit with the Minister for Health prior to the cabinet meeting on 10 June? 

(3) Has the Minister for Health at any stage offered to resign or stand aside over this matter? 

Dr GALLOP replied: 
(1)-(3) I will start with the last question.  The Minister for Health, throughout this matter, has reaffirmed the evidence 

he gave to the Court of Criminal Appeal on every occasion, including in the public debate that occurred last 
week.  The Minister for Health has the full support of this side of the House.  We will discuss that matter in the 
debate to come on later. 

I find this line of questioning and the pursuit of this aspect of the issue absolutely unbelievable.  Let us say that 
the Government of Western Australia received the knowledge of this affidavit and sat on it.  It has implications 
for the Government on whether it should be referred to the Court of Criminal Appeal and, down the track, 
whether convictions should be quashed and compensation paid.  There are lots of issues concerning the 
Government.  Let us say we sat on that knowledge and did not make public that important matter.  Can 
members imagine what would have been said against the Government of Western Australia if that had been the 
case?  That is an absolutely ludicrous proposition.  It does not surprise me that the Leader of the Opposition is 
pursuing that line of argument in the Parliament today.  Last week, he did not put together one argument 
relevant to this issue that was raised following the release of the affidavit. 

The Attorney General made me aware of the matter when he discovered that the affidavit had been made.  He 
pointed out to me the steps that he had taken, quite properly, to make sure that it was referred to the 
appropriate authorities.  He said that it was an important issue and that we as a Government needed to address 
it in an open and accountable way, which decision the Cabinet took last Monday. 
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As members know, a claim has been made that this matter has a direct implication on the Minister for Health.  
The Attorney General pointed out to me that some people might make such a claim.  He has proved to be 
prophetic on that point.  Because of the politics of the situation, that very claim was made.  The Attorney 
General and I spoke separately to the Minister for Health.  I think the Attorney General indicated he spoke to 
the Minister for Health.  I spoke to the Minister for Health, who maintained very clearly that the evidence he 
gave to the inquiry was truthful evidence and he has never changed his position on that matter.  As far as I am 
concerned, that was a very clear statement from the Minister for Health. 

I therefore find it extraordinary that the Leader of the Opposition would get up in this Parliament and ask a 
question today based on the assumption that when important material like this comes to the Government, 
material that has implications for the processes of government in Western Australia, we should have sat on it 
and not made it public.  That is a ludicrous proposition.  The Leader of the Opposition had better get his act 
together.  He is not pursuing an issue in the interests of the public of Western Australia.  He is engaged in base 
party politics, unlike the Government, which has been open and accountable about the matter, put it out into 
the public arena when it was appropriate to go into the public arena, and directed it towards all the relevant 
authorities to which it should go.  This base party political pursuit by the Leader of the Opposition will get him 
absolutely nowhere. 

BUSINESS TAX REFORM 

1094. Mr D’ORAZIO to the Treasurer: 
I refer to the release of the Government’s white paper on business tax reform.  Will the minister explain the reception it 
received by the business community and the community at large? 

Mr RIPPER replied: 
I thank the member for some notice of this question. 

The Government commissioned a review of business taxes.  We honoured a pre-election promise in doing that.  We 
received a report from the review and we released a draft white paper in response at a CPA Australia function last 
Friday morning.  At that launch I pointed out that business tax reform would put all of us to the test.  It will certainly 
test the Government’s resolve to press ahead with tax reform in the long-term interests of the State.  It will also test the 
business community’s ability to weigh up the overall benefits of the package.  We do not want to see people simply 
cherry picking and undoing the financial integrity of the package by taking the best parts and trying to pass the 
disadvantages on to others.  I am pleased to say that the business community has responded in the way that I have asked 
it to respond: it is weighing up the net effect of the package.  I believe it will make constructive suggestions during the 
consultation phase.  Lyndon Rowe, of the Chamber and Commerce and Industry, said in an ABC radio interview - 

I think the Treasurer is right, I think you do have to look at this as a total package . . .  

The chamber’s press statement said -  

Overall, the changes will simplify tax administration considerably and reduce the compliance burden on 
business. 

The Insurance Council said - 

The combination of these reforms will help Western Australia achieve a fairer, simpler and more efficient tax 
system which eases the tax burden on businesses and householders.   

The Real Estate Institute has some complaints about the package, but even it said it was a step in the right direction.  I 
commend the business community for its response.   

As usual, there was a fly in the ointment, a knocker and a whinger.  Guess who?  Yes, it was the Leader of the 
Opposition.  

Mr Kobelke:  No, it was not!  

Mr RIPPER:  Yes it was.  It was a very predictable response.  He condemned the plan to replace the payroll tax scale 
with a single marginal rate of six per cent because not everyone would be a winner.  He said we should get rid of 
payroll tax altogether.  What a blinding insight!  How would we pay for that?   

Of course, the Liberal Party has been down this track before.  I recall the 1993 election campaign, during which the 
Liberal Party presented a proposal on payroll tax.  The West Australian of Tuesday, 19 January 1993, stated - 

Mr Court said if Federal coalition leader John Hewson won Government in Canberra payroll tax would be 
abolished by October next year; if Dr Hewson did not win the tax would be phased out over two terms, with 
the first round of reductions in the first year.  

Of course, members opposite might suggest that Richard Court was misquoted.  However, he appeared on the 7.30 
Report and said - 
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I mean, it’s an absurd tax and it’s one where we have had the courage to come out, put on the table how we’re 
going to abolish it.   

The Liberal Party had its chance.  Did it reduce total state taxes during its eight years in office?  No.  Did it tackle 
reform of state taxes as this Government has done?  No, it did not.  The Liberal Party’s record speaks for itself.  The 
Opposition has no credibility on this issue.  

MICKELBERG CASE, MINISTER FOR HEALTH 

1095. Ms SUE WALKER to the Attorney General:   
I refer the Attorney General to his comments on radio station 6PR yesterday relating to the private briefing he provided 
for the Minister for Health on the contents of the Lewandowski affidavit.  He said - 

Now, my reason for briefing my colleague . . . is that Bob Kucera was not involved, not mentioned in the 
affidavit directly or indirectly.  But I thought it was very important that knowing that there would be a political 
attack on him by the Opposition, that he be aware that these matters had been the subject of an affidavit by 
Lewandowski and that he could then prepare himself . . .  

I ask - 

(1) As there was no mention of the Minister for Health in the affidavit, and he was in no way involved, why would 
he need to prepare himself?  

(2) On what basis did the Attorney General really provide this private briefing to the Minister for Health prior to 
the matter being discussed in Cabinet and before it was made public?  

Mr McGINTY replied: 
I congratulate the member opposite for a top interview on Stateline on Friday night.  It is always difficult when one 
cannot articulate the point one wants to make.   

(1)-(2) The Crown Solicitor advised me about this matter on the day that Mr Lewandowski and Mr McCusker spoke 
to the Director of Public Prosecutions because the Government was necessarily involved in what flowed from 
the affidavit and confession.  It would necessarily involve the Government in decisions about whether to grant 
a pardon, whether to refer the matter again to the Court of Criminal Appeal, whether compensation should be 
paid - although that would be somewhat further down the track - and whether the terms of reference for the 
Royal Commission Into Whether There Has Been Any Corrupt or Criminal Conduct by Western Australian 
Police Officers should be amended given the cut-off date of 1985 because the perjured evidence was given 
before and after that cut-off date, and also because the royal commission was about to commence.  For all 
those reasons, it was appropriate for the Crown Solicitor to brief me on the matter and to provide advice.  That 
was particularly relevant because this case, more so than any other, has dominated public attention in Western 
Australia for the past two decades and questions have been asked about the Police Service and the justice 
system.   

It is interesting to note that Mr Lewandowski did not go to the police royal commission.  The first time this 
affidavit was made available to the royal commission was when I forwarded it on Friday of the week before 
last.  The Government took the view very quickly upon receipt of this information that it would be of 
enormous public interest.  Given the subject matter of Mr Lewandowski’s affidavit and confession, the 
Government believed that the public should be made aware, without limitation, of the subject matter in 
question.  That is particularly the case when one has regard for the fact that no new allegations were raised in 
the affidavit.  Mr Lewandowski simply said that evidence already given by other people was correct.  He said 
that he and Don Hancock had perjured themselves, fabricated evidence and committed an assault on Peter 
Mickelberg.  Those matters had been raised previously by other people.  There was nothing new in the 
affidavit or the confession. 

I drew the matter to the attention of the Minister for Health because I was aware that he gave evidence in the 
1998 case in the Court of Criminal Appeal.  I was also aware that Mr Lewandowski did not mention directly or 
indirectly or refer to any involvement by the Minister for Health, or Detective Sergeant Kucera as he then was.  
However, I knew that, as sure as the sun would come up the next morning, members opposite would seek to 
make political mileage.  I was sure that they would attack the minister for no reason other than that he is the 
Minister for Health.  If he were still a serving police officer or if he had retired from the Police Service, they 
would not have bothered to raise the issue.  His involvement in this matter was so peripheral as to be 
irrelevant.  As members have already heard, that is also Avon Lovell’s view.  Because I knew members 
opposite would want to make political mileage out of the issue, I thought it was appropriate to inform him.  He 
was not given special consideration; it was always intended that this matter would be put into the public arena.  
Given that, it was appropriate to inform him about the allegations that had been made against him.  What a 
remarkable world it would be if I did not tell the Premier and the Minister for Health about a sensational 
development that had occurred, which did not involve him but about which I knew members opposite would 



11498 [ASSEMBLY - Tuesday, 18 June 2002] 

 

try to make political capital.  Members on this side are a team; we work together and will continue to do so.  If 
we can assist and advise each other when we know questions will be asked, we will do so.  Nothing in this 
affidavit implicated, involved or in any way whatsoever touched upon the integrity or credibility of the 
Minister for Health.   

The member asked about the basis on which the briefing was provided.  It was provided because this 
Government believes in openness.  It has been open throughout this process and has been happy to answer any 
questions.  Paul Murray asked me a question yesterday about the provision of the affidavit and I happily 
answered it.   Questions were to put to me last week about whether I had briefed the Minister for Health.  I 
happily answered them.  We on this side of the House are an open book and we will happily tell members 
opposite anything they want to know.  

EAST BEECHBORO PRIMARY SCHOOL, ASBESTOS CONTAMINATION 

1096. Ms RADISICH to the Minister for Education:   
Will the minister provide an update on the current situation at East Beechboro Primary School, which was recently 
temporarily closed as a result of concerns about possible asbestos contamination?  

Mr CARPENTER replied: 
I thank the member for the question.  This morning I went to East Beechboro Primary School, in the company of the 
member for Swan Hills, to personally thank the principal, staff, parents, students and the district director for the 
outstanding way in which they dealt with the possible asbestos contamination at the school.  The matter was raised a 
few weeks ago and caused some considerable concern, in particular to the parents about the safety of their children, and 
also to the staff and other people at the school.  Such was the level of concern and the desire to alleviate that concern 
and ensure there were no health risks that the principal, in consultation with staff, parents and the district director, 
believed that the best option was to temporarily close the school while the roof from which the asbestos had been 
removed was checked for safety to ensure that there was no health risk to the children.  That occurred and the school 
was closed for eight days.  The 500 children who attend the school were hosted by nearby schools, and the year 7 
students went to nearby high schools, which turned out to be a beneficial experience for all involved.  The principal of 
the school, Mr Rick Larsen, has proved himself to be an outstanding leader because of the way he handled this issue.  
The district director, Steffan Silcox, is known to many members on both sides of the House, and he is a great attribute to 
the education system.  The president of the parents and citizens association, Ms Donna Baken, deserves special praise, 
as does the member for Swan Hills, for dealing with this in such a professional manner.   

I have been through these issues before as a journalist.  I remember the situations that arose at Perth Modern School in 
about 1986 and at John Curtin Senior High School at one time.  I know that the situation can be quite devastating when 
this issue is not handled well.  Despite the urgings of some sectors that we notify the parents at every school in the State 
that had its asbestos roof removed by the same company, and that all sorts of issues would arise if we did not do that, 
the way we handled the problem was a model for the way to deal with this sort of situation; that is, the problem was 
isolated to East Beechboro Primary School, the risk or lack of risk was ascertained, and 10 of the other schools that had 
work done by the same company, but about which no concern had been raised, were checked for any associated health 
risks.   
It will occur again.  The history of Western Australia indicates that the level of asbestos product in our built 
environment is such that from time to time these issues will arise.  Despite the hysterical urgings of some sections of the 
media, including the editorial in The West Australian, which was ludicrous to say the least, I congratulate all the people 
involved in the management of this situation for the professional and calm way in which they dealt with it.   
I also pay a compliment to the shadow education spokesperson, the member for Darling Range, who could have sought 
to score cheap political points in this kind of environment but did not.  He raised a very valid point when he said that the 
Minister for Education should take control of the issue.  I took his advice and I did that.  I contrast his behaviour on that 
issue with the behaviour of some of his colleagues on some of the other issues that are before the House, including the 
matter that we have briefly heard about and the school fees issue that was raised by the member for Mitchell, which I 
will not go into.  I thought I would pass that compliment to the member in full view of his colleagues because he 
acquitted himself well.   
All those people involved deserve to be complimented for the way in which this issue has been handled.  I thank the 
member for Swan Hills for facilitating my visit to the school this morning.  

MICKELBERG CASE, MINISTER FOR HEALTH 

1097. Ms SUE WALKER to the Attorney General:  
I refer again to the private briefing given by the Attorney General to the Minister for Health on the Lewandowski 
affidavit on the weekend of 6 and 7 June.   

(1) With which of his cabinet colleagues did the Attorney General discuss Lewandowski’s affidavit before the 
cabinet meeting on Monday, 10 June, and when and in what order were those discussions held?   
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Several members interjected. 

The SPEAKER:  Members!  This is an important issue and I am sure everyone wants the questions and answers to be as 
accurate as possible.  Interjections do not assist in the flow of questions and answers.   

Ms SUE WALKER:  Thank you, Mr Speaker. 

(2) Did the Minister for Health attend the cabinet meeting when the affidavit and its implications were discussed?   

(3) Does the Attorney General concede that the Minister for Health was briefed earlier and more thoroughly than 
his other cabinet colleagues on an issue about which he has such a conflict of interest that he removes himself 
from Cabinet?  

Mr McGINTY replied: 
(1) In the interests of being fully open about this matter, as this Government has endeavoured to be since I became 

aware of it on Thursday, 6 June, I spoke with two of my cabinet colleagues prior to the cabinet meeting on the 
Monday.  The first was the Premier.  On the day that Mr Lewandowski and Malcolm McCusker went to the 
Director of Public Prosecutions at nine o’clock in the morning to hand over the affidavit to confess to serious 
criminality and to seek an indemnity, I was in the member for Warren-Blackwood’s electorate visiting the 
Manjimup region, Greenbushes and Bridgetown.  I went to One Tree Bridge while I was there and looked at 
the icon site.  I also spent some time visiting the new industries that are being established in the Manjimup 
region.  I received a message on my mobile telephone to ring my principal policy officer, which I did in the 
early afternoon.  She advised me of the general nature of what had occurred; that is, the matter that the 
Solicitor General had drawn to her attention.  I organised for a meeting to take place as soon as I returned from 
the south west that night.  I met with my principal policy officer.  I met with the Solicitor General in my office 
just before six o’clock - I think it was about 5.40 pm or thereabouts - and he provided me with a copy of the 
affidavit and the other matters.  I am happy to give the member more detail of what was said if she wants to 
ask that question.   

I rang the Premier at his home, but he was not there.  I then rang him on his mobile phone, but he was not 
answering.  I did not know at the time that he was in Sydney; I found that out subsequently.  He returned my 
call at about midnight Sydney time on the Thursday night.  I advised him of the general nature of the matter 
and how it was a matter of very significant public concern.  We left the matter there.   

On the following day, Friday, I endeavoured to contact the Minister for Health.  The difficulty was that he was 
visiting hospitals in the great southern region of the State.  I knew that because he flew to Manjimup with me 
in the morning and then continued on to Albany, Esperance, Ravensthorpe and other areas; therefore, he was a 
bit difficult to contact.  I managed to make very brief contact with him at nine o’clock on the Friday morning.  
I think he was either on or was just getting off an aeroplane at the time.  I indicated to him that I needed to 
speak to him.  It was not possible to have a decent conversation on that occasion.  It was not until about six 
o’clock that night that I managed to have my first lengthy discussion with the Minister for Health, once he had 
reached Bunbury on his return from visiting the hospitals and health establishments in the great southern 
region.  I spoke to him at some length over the phone and I went through what was involved.  That was on the 
Friday night.  The Minister for Health spent that night in Bunbury because I understand he had things to do in 
Bunbury on the Saturday morning.  He arrived back in Perth early to mid afternoon on the Saturday.  I met 
him.  I gave him a copy of the affidavit, and I think statements of evidence or parts of transcripts were involved 
as well.  We did not speak much on that occasion; it was mainly the previous night when I went through the 
issues that were involved as I saw them.  They were the two cabinet colleagues with whom I raised this matter 
prior to Cabinet commencing at 10 o’clock on the Monday morning.  That is the order in which they were 
spoken to, and the times as best I recollect it when people were spoken to.   

(2) Yes, the Minister for Health attended the Cabinet meeting, and he excused himself from that Cabinet meeting 
on the basis that it was inappropriate for him to stay there while the matter was being decided.   

(3) I concede that the Minister for Health was briefed earlier, but not more thoroughly.  The matter was given 
detailed and thorough consideration of all the ramifications, such as the nature of the affidavit; what we should 
do in terms of making it public; whether consideration should ultimately be given to a pardon, or a reference to 
the Court of Criminal Appeal; and the question of referring this affidavit to the royal commission to assist it in 
its investigations.  All of those matters were given some detailed consideration.  If I can take the liberty, Mr 
Premier, of discussing briefly what occurred in Cabinet -  

Dr Gallop:  You cannot. 

Mr McGINTY:  It is not true to say that the Minister for Health was given a more detailed briefing.  He was certainly, 
as was the Premier, made aware of the content and the issues involved at an earlier time; and I think it was appropriate 
that the Minister for Health excused himself from the cabinet meeting while the matter was being decided.   
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MICKELBERG CASE, MINISTER FOR HEALTH 

1098. Ms SUE WALKER to the Attorney General: 
I ask a supplementary question.  What were the transcripts and other material that the Attorney General passed to the 
Minister for Health with the affidavit?   

Mr McGINTY replied: 
The transcript was of the evidence that the now Minister for Health gave in the 1998 Court of Criminal Appeal matter.  
One or two statements of evidence had been prepared and were tendered in those proceedings, on the basis of which he 
gave that evidence.  It related to the evidence that he gave in 1998.  It was those matters that I gave him copies of in 
addition to the affidavit. 

REGIONAL DISTRICT EDUCATION OFFICE RESPONSIBILITIES AND PROGRAMS, REVIEW 

1099. Mr TRENORDEN to the Minister for Education: 
Will the minister confirm -  

(1) That regional district office responsibilities and programs in the Education Department are under review? 

(2) That this review is intended to result in some resources and responsibilities in country district offices being 
transferred to the city?   

Mr CARPENTER replied: 
I thank the Leader of the National Party for the question.   

(1)-(2) We had a broad ranging review of the Education Department when I first became the Minister for Education.  
It started in about April last year, and it became known as the Robson report.  The Robson report made some 
50 recommendations that went to structural change in the department.  Some of those recommendations have 
been implemented.  Some questions were asked during the estimates hearing about some of the 
recommendations on the early childhood education section and so on.  That process is still going on.  I give the 
Leader of the National Party and other members of the National Party an assurance - they can take it at face 
value or they can say the words are not worth the wind they create - that I will not do anything to diminish the 
capacity of country schools to deliver top-class education.  I think so far my record stands as vindicating that 
position.  The new Director General of Education is constantly reviewing whether the department can operate 
more effectively and efficiently, but he is in no doubt about my view that the educational outcomes for non-
metropolitan students are not as good as we would like.  I do not want the Education Department to do 
anything that would further undermine, if that is the right way of putting it, those educational outcomes.  No 
specific propositions have been put to diminish the importance of education districts and their directors.  
Whatever structural changes may occur will be done only in the best interests of non-metropolitan students.  I 
give that assurance to the Leader of the National Party and every member in this place. 

REGIONAL DISTRICT EDUCATION OFFICE RESPONSIBILITIES AND PROGRAMS, REVIEW 

1100. Mr TRENORDEN to the Minister for Education: 
I ask a supplementary question.  I am happy to take the minister at face value, but is the minister prepared to report back 
to us on the status of this report, because this information is out in the community?  

Mr CARPENTER replied: 
Absolutely.    

EDUCATION SUPPORT SCHOOLS FOR DISABLED CHILDREN 

1101. Dr WOOLLARD to the Minister for Disability Services: 
(1) Is the Disability Services Commission restructuring medical clinical services in education support schools for 

disabled children? 

(2) Did the DSC secure the support of parents for the proposed model? 

(3) Have some doctors who are working in those schools rejected the model on the ground that they believe it is 
inadequate?   

Ms McHALE replied: 
(1)-(3) Members will recall that last week I made a statement in this Parliament about, among other things, a major 

overhaul of the way in which we are delivering medical services to people with disabilities.  With regard to 
whether the Disability Services Commission is restructuring medical services, let me make it very clear that 
the Disability Services Commission provides medical services to families.  I think the member for Alfred Cove 
is referring to some work that is being carried on between doctors and their clients through the school process.  
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The important thing to remember is that I am very happy to indicate to the House, as I did last week, that we 
are reviewing the delivery of medical services through the Disability Services Commission.  It is true that one 
of the doctors is unhappy with the restructure.  Perhaps that is not surprising, because the doctors who work for 
the Disability Services Commission have been there for many years, and I commend them for the work they 
have been doing.  However, the reality is that we have moved on from that model of service delivery, which 
was a very one-dimensional model.  When the Disability Services Commission looked at the work and case 
loads of those doctors, it found that on average 16 clients per month were being provided with services.  That 
is not the sort of service and efficiency we need in the twenty-first century.  I am delighted to tell the House 
that there is a major review of medical services to people with disabilities, the outcome of which will be a 
much better service.  I assure the House that every client who receives medical services through these GPs will 
continue to receive these services.  In addition, we will be providing services such as hospital-home liaison, 
and advice to GPs on how to provide proper medical services to people with disabilities.  We will be looking at 
training, so that families with disabilities can access the sort of care that they need at a local level, which is the 
choice of the majority of the families who are receiving medical services through the Disability Services 
Commission.  I stress that I am not prepared to have a situation in which one doctor may see one client on one 
day.  That is a ludicrous situation.  Yes, one of the doctors is not happy with the changes.  The commission is 
managing that matter.  However, we will be providing a far better service to families with disabilities than is 
currently the case.   

Finally, I have been given an assurance by the director of the commission that the services provided to schools 
will continue.  Those services were provided once every six weeks for one hour.  That is not the sort of service 
I am demanding of the Disability Services Commission. 

EDUCATION SUPPORT SCHOOLS FOR DISABLED CHILDREN 

1102. Dr WOOLLARD to the Minister for Disability Services: 
Was there consultation with the parents and do they support the proposed new model in the schools? 

Ms McHALE replied: 
It is fair to say that the principal of one school - I cannot remember that person’s name - wrote to all the families saying 
that the service would be finished.  That was completely untrue and that is part of the misinformation that is going 
around.  This process has been under development for about two years; there has been a lot of consultation.  
Unfortunately, when we are at the point of implementing what is an incredibly good model, there is resistance; that 
resistance is natural.  The four doctors who are currently employed have a total of approximately 109 years of service 
with the commission.  That is a lot of history.  There has been a one-dimensional way of delivering services, and we are 
moving on from that.  An increased pace of change is required.  Unfortunately, some misinformation has been provided, 
but I assure the House of two things: first, there has been a great deal of consultation and consideration about this 
matter; and, secondly, we are providing a service to families with disabilities far superior to the service they have 
received previously.   

FREIGHT NETWORK REVIEW 

1103. Mr McRAE to the Minister for Planning and Infrastructure: 
The Gallop Labor Government has just completed its innovative and inclusive freight network review.  Indeed, I was 
part of that process on the weekend.  I congratulate the minister for her efforts in that regard and for my opportunity to 
represent not only the interests of my community in Riverton but also the broader economic interests of our great State. 

The SPEAKER:  This is a question, member for Riverton. 

Mr McRAE:  Yes, I am getting to that, Mr Speaker.  I ask - 

(1) Why was this review conducted? 

(2) How was the review conducted? 

Mr Omodei interjected. 

The SPEAKER:  Member for Warren-Blackwood! 

Mr McRAE:  My question continues - 

(3) What will be the key outcomes from this innovative process? 

Ms MacTIERNAN replied: 
(1)-(3) I understand the enthusiasm of the member for Riverton, because he, along with the member for Cockburn, has 

participated in this important, innovative and interesting process of government decision making.  I am glad I 
have been able to break the code of silence - or should I say the cone of silence - that has descended over the 
Opposition.  From our days in opposition it was evident to us that there was a real problem with the freight 
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network in the metropolitan area.  Road freight was increasing by seven per cent per annum, and under the 
previous Government - and even before that - there had been an extraordinary shift of freight from rail to road 
and from shipping to road.  The community was becoming increasingly unwilling to continue to accept that 
course of events, and there was a desire for something to be done about it.  It was not simply a question of 
expanding the road network.  Many elements of the road network were planned some 50 years ago and would 
not pass muster today with the community; they continued to form part of the planning process but did not 
provide part of the solution.  We recognised that we had to rethink the whole of our freight network and to get 
all elements of the community involved.  For the past nine months we have been conducting the freight 
network review, and this has involved community reference groups overseeing the congress progress.  Last 
October we established a forum of more than100 people, comprising industry groups, environmentalists, 
community groups, regulators and producers, to talk about this problem and to set the policy.  Policy was 
established at that congress and since then six groups have been working continually to formulate detailed 
recommendations.  That congress was reconvened last weekend when a range of priorities was established.  
First, priority was given to identifying the preferred alignment and the design and construction of Roe 
Highway stage 7.  We identified that we should move quickly to recognise which roads needed upgrading and 
provide the necessary funding.  We needed to commence the detailed planning and construction of a new rail 
link infrastructure into the Fremantle port, and also have the proper corridors in place for the port overflow 
facilities at the outer harbour.  One of the most essential and important recommendations to come out of this 
process concerned the pitiful performance of bringing three per cent of containers into Fremantle port by rail.  
We have undertaken to turn that around over the next eight years so that 30 per cent of all containers enter the 
Fremantle port by rail.  A range of other recommendations will be implemented over the next two years.  We 
have given the community an undertaking that this will not be just a talkfest; it will translate into action.  One 
of the most rewarding aspects in this whole process has been the community’s preparedness to get together and 
deliberate on and be part of this process.  When the community saw that the Government was genuine about 
involving it in the decision making, there was an enormous preparedness to make an extraordinary 
contribution. 

AUSTRALIAN LABOR PARTY, UNION INFLUENCE 

1104. Mr BARRON-SULLIVAN to the Premier: 
I refer to the recent concerted, public and gallant efforts of federal Labor Leader Simon Crean and other federal Labor 
members of Parliament to reform the Labor Party, and ask - 

(1) Does the Premier agree with former Western Australian Premier Carmen Lawrence’s comments - 

Several members interjected. 

The SPEAKER:  Members! 

Mr BARRON-SULLIVAN:  I will start that again. 

(1) Does the Premier agree with former Western Australian Premier Carmen Lawrence’s comments about Labor 
Party processes when she said that unions exercise disproportionate influence through the 60-40 rule and 
through affiliated membership? 

(2) In the light of the forthcoming ALP state conference, what is the Premier personally going to do to reduce 
union influence in the Labor Party? 

Several members interjected. 

The SPEAKER:  Members!  Member for Peel!  I fail to see how that question relates to the Premier’s responsibilities.  
However, the Premier, being the head of the Labor Party, may wish to comment about his ministerial responsibilities. 

Dr GALLOP replied: 
(1)-(2) I am intrigued by the interest that the opposition parties are showing in the future of the Labor Party. 

Mr Hyde:  Let them buy an observer ticket! 

Dr GALLOP:  They should feel free to do so.  The future of the Labor Party is a matter that will be discussed by those 
of us who are members of the Labor Party.  I am sure we will have an interesting debate about those matters, not only 
here in Western Australia but also right around Australia.  That question is a political stunt.  It is a good try.  However, 
the matters about which I am happy to answer questions concern the way in which we are transforming the health and 
education systems and providing more resources to the Police Service in the State.  I would love to have a debate in 
Parliament about the Opposition’s view that the royal commission into the Police Service is a waste of money.  That 
would be an interesting matter to debate.  The Deputy Leader of the Opposition should feel free to raise issues in 
Parliament that have no relationship to the real matters of the State.  He should keep following the path of the Leader of 
the Opposition by creating diversions.  The people of Western Australia will soon ask why the Opposition is not getting 
on with the job of being a proper opposition in Western Australia.  
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DISABILITY SERVICES COMMISSION, CAPITAL WORKS ON HOSTELS 

1105. Mr QUIGLEY to the Minister for Disability Services: 
From a question without notice to the Minister for Disability Services, I understand from the Budget Statements and 
other sources of information that a series of capital works are being carried out in the Disability Services Commission’s 
hostels.  Will the minister provide information on capital works and their impact on the Sussex hostel in my electorate 
and other hostels that accommodate people with disabilities? 

Ms McHALE replied: 
I thank the member for his question.  Recently there has been a lot of debate about accommodation support for the 
families of people with a disability.  The Disability Services Commission provides accommodation for disabled people.  
The member is correct in saying that this Government is spending a significant amount of money this year on capital 
improvements in the hostels that are managed by the commission.  An additional $1.1 million has been allocated in this 
year’s budget that will enable the hostels to be upgraded and refurbished.  Those funds are in addition to the 
$1.1 million that is already budgeted for.  Through this allocation, we will improve these facilities and ensure that our 
hostels meet the changing needs of people with disabilities who live in managed residential care.  The Norwich hostel in 
Bull Creek, the Sussex hostel in Innaloo and the Bristol hostel in Yokine will receive a significant allocation for kitchen 
upgrades and to ensure that fire and occupational health and safety standards meet the national levels for disability 
providers.  Three new duplexes will be constructed at Fairholme in Guildford to replace the existing duplexes.  The new 
accommodation will comply with fire safety and occupational health and safety national standards.   

Importantly, the funds will improve the accommodation in which people with disabilities live.  Overall, $4.6 million of 
the capital budget will be spent on improving the operations and the environment of hostels and several community 
houses in which people with disabilities live.  This constitutes a significant investment in infrastructure and, more 
importantly, the future quality of the homes of people with disabilities.  

MICKELBERG CASE, MINISTER FOR HEALTH 

1106. Mr BIRNEY to the Attorney General:  
I refer to the evidence given by the Minister for Health Mr Kucera, at the 1998 Mickelberg Perth Mint swindle appeal 
case, that he witnessed former Detective Sergeant Lewandowski reading back confessional notes to Peter Mickelberg 
during the now infamous 1982 interview, and the subsequent revelation by Mr Lewandowski that he did not take any 
notes during that interview and that, in fact, they were fabricated three months later.  If the royal commission calls on 
the Minister for Health to give evidence in relation to this matter, will the Government pay his legal expenses?  

Mr McGINTY replied: 
What a remarkable question!  I will give the member for Kalgoorlie one piece of brief advice: if he is to ask questions 
and make allegations, he should get his facts straight.  Two instances in that question reveal that he obviously has not 
read the evidence that was given at the 1998 appeal, which is essential reading for anyone who wants to ask a question 
on this matter.  

No evidence of the nature to which the member referred was given in that case.  Has the member read the transcript?  

Mr Birney:  Yes.   

Mr McGINTY:  Why then did the member get it so horribly wrong? 

ROCKINGHAM-KWINANA DISTRICT HOSPITAL, RENAL DIALYSIS UNIT 
Petition 

Mr Board presented the following petition bearing the signatures of 374 persons - 

To the Honourable the Speaker and members of the Legislative Assembly in Parliament assembled. 

We the undersigned, request the Minister for Health establish a renal dialysis unit at the Rockingham Kwinana 
District Hospital.  Many severe diabetics in the Rockingham and Kwinana region require renal dialysis 
treatment and are required to travel up to three times a week for treatment at the Peel District Health Campus 
in Mandurah, the Melville Satellite Facility or Fremantle Hospital. 

Each treatment can last between 4 to 5 hours and after receiving treatment for such a lengthy period of time, 
patients often feel weak and lethargic and it is unreasonable to expect them to then drive home in such a 
condition. 

Your petitioners therefore humbly pray that you will give this matter earnest consideration and your 
petitioners, as in duty bound, will ever pray. 

[See petition No 209.] 
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Mr Marlborough interjected. 

The SPEAKER:  I call the member for Peel to order for the first time.   

MINISTER FOR HEALTH, MICKELBERG CASE 
Matter of Public Interest 

THE SPEAKER (Mr Riebeling):  Members, today I received within the prescribed time a letter from the Leader of the 
Opposition seeking to debate as a matter of public interest the following motion -  

That this House calls upon the Premier to stand the Minister for Health aside from his ministerial duties in 
view of the significant new evidence of Anthony Lewandowski in relation to the Mickelberg affair and the 
serious doubt it casts upon crucial evidence given by then Assistant Police Commissioner Bob Kucera in the 
1998 Mickelberg appeal.   

If sufficient members agree to this motion, I will allow it. 
[At least five members rose in their places.]   
The SPEAKER:  The matter shall proceed on the usual basis.  
MR BARNETT (Cottesloe - Leader of the Opposition) [3.09 pm]:  I move the motion.   
This motion calls upon the Premier to stand aside the Minister for Health in the light of the revelations in the affidavit 
by Mr Lewandowski.  I want to concentrate on three points.  The first is the 1982 interview at the Belmont CIB 
headquarters.  The second is the evidence given by the now Minister for Health, Mr Bob Kucera, in the 1998 Supreme 
Court appeal case, and the third is the conduct of the Attorney General in response to the Lewandowski affidavit. 

I will outline the history of the events as concisely as possible.  On 22 June 1982, couriers presented false cheques to 
the Perth Mint and left with 49 bars of bullion worth an estimated $650 000 at the time.  The gold was taken to Jandakot 
Airport and never seen again.  Numbers on the cheques were allegedly traced to the Mickelbergs, who became suspects 
in the case.  Peter Mickelberg, one of the three brothers, was picked up for questioning over the Perth Mint swindle 
after leaving Whitfords shopping centre on 26 July 1982.  Then Detective Sergeant Kucera was the officer in charge of 
the Belmont CIB.  In his Supreme Court evidence he stated that he learned from Hancock that Mickelberg had been 
picked up.  Kucera offered the Belmont CIB office to Lewandowski and Hancock for the purpose of interviewing 
Mickelberg.  Kucera left the office for approximately four hours while the interview was conducted.  At that time, 
Detective Sergeant Kucera was an experienced police officer with 16 years service.  Mickelberg and Lewandowski have 
both claimed that Mickelberg was stripped naked and beaten.  The Attorney General has described the affidavit of 
Lewandowski as - 

 . . . chilling reading . . .the assault involved . . . continual humiliation and beating of Peter Mickelberg . . . 

That is a quote from Hansard of 12 June 2002. 
Mickelberg stated that he met Kucera for the first time only after the interview had finished - I refer to page 104 of the 
Supreme Court judgment.  Mickelberg also claims that he complained to Kucera that he had been beaten.  It is stated at 
page 46 of the 1998 Supreme Court judgment - 

Kucera was there and he introduced himself to Peter.  Peter told Kucera that he had been hit and Kucera said, 
“It’s got nothing to do with me” and “I can’t help you at all’. 

However, Kucera states that he entered the interview room three times and that Mickelberg did not complain to him.  
Kucera may not have been present in the interview room when the bashing took place, but he claims to have entered the 
room on three occasions.  To my knowledge, no evidence or person suggests that Minister Kucera was in the interview 
room during the time of the bashing.  He has claimed that he entered the interview room at least three times.  It is 
widely agreed that in 1982, at the time of the interview at the Belmont CIB, the role of then Detective Sergeant Kucera 
was peripheral.  It was at that stage, but it was to change dramatically in 1998.  Between 1982 and 1998, the events 
continued to develop.  On 28 July 1982, Ray, Peter and Brian Mickelberg were charged with the Perth Mint swindle.  In 
March 1983, the brothers were sentenced: Ray for 20 years, Peter for 16 years and Brian for 12 years.  In November 
1983, Brian’s sentence was overturned on appeal.  There were several further appeals, none of which was successful.  
They involved one High Court appeal and three Court of Criminal Appeal applications.  Kucera was never called to 
testify in any of the trials or appeals - for good reason.  To that point his role was peripheral.  He was not called during 
the initial investigation or for any trials or appeals between 1982 and 1998.  In 1998, a further Court of Criminal Appeal 
application was made.  Kucera’s role only became pivotal in the 1998 Court of Criminal Appeal case: Ray and Peter 
Mickelberg v the Queen.  The main point of contention during the appeal case was the authenticity of interview notes 
supposedly made during the interview at the Belmont CIB. 
Several members interjected. 
The SPEAKER:  Order, members!  This issue is vitally important.  Even if members do not like what is being said, it is 
important for the minister under attack that accuracy be maintained in what is being said.  I ask all members to ensure 
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that interjections are kept to the level at which the contribution of the Leader of the Opposition can be put clearly on the 
record.  I am sure the same consideration will be given when government members respond. 

Mr BARNETT:  The role of former Detective Sergeant Kucera was peripheral at the time of the interview at Belmont 
CIB.  His role became pivotal only during the 1998 Court of Criminal Appeal case before the Supreme Court.  The 
main point of contention of that appeal was the authenticity of interview notes supposedly made during the interview.  
The testimony of handwriting experts became critical.  Peter Mickelberg claimed that no notes were ever taken during 
the interview and that they were fabricated at a later date.  Lewandowski and Hancock claimed at the appeal hearing 
that they had taken notes and read them back to Peter during the interview.  They claimed someone saw that happen, the 
by then, Assistant Commissioner of Police Bob Kucera.  Kucera was called to testify under oath in the Supreme Court.  
He appeared as Assistant Commissioner Kucera in full dress uniform.  Kucera was called for the specific purpose of 
rebutting Mickelberg’s claim that the notes were fabricated.  It is stated at page 104 of the Supreme Court judgment - 

The importance of Kucera’s testimony lies in the fact that he thought a standard interview was taking place, he 
saw Lewandowski reading something (that appeared to be notes) out loud to Peter, and his refutation of Peter’s 
testimony concerning complaints having been made to him (ie. Kucera) about Peter’s treatment at the hands of 
Hancock and Lewandowski.   

Kucera claimed at the trial that he entered the room three times.  The judgment states - 

. .  with Lewandowski writing what appeared to be notes of the conversation.  He said that it looked like a 
normal interview with Hancock asking questions.   

 . . .  

At that stage Lewandowski was reading from some handwritten notes to Peter.   

 . . .  

When he left, Lewandowski was still reading out aloud.   

The Supreme Court found that Kucera’s evidence was critical in the quashing of the Mickelberg 1998 appeal. 

Points of Order 

Mr KOBELKE:  The Leader of the Opposition is continually referring to the Minister for Health by his surname.  If he 
is quoting a transcript of a legal judgment in which the Minister for Health’s surname is used, the Government will 
accept that.  It appears he is quoting from his own speech notes.  In which case, the standing orders require that he be 
referred to only as the Minister for Health. 

Mr JOHNSON:  The Leader of the Opposition is referring to the then Detective Sergeant Kucera who later became the 
Assistant Commissioner of Police.  He is not referring to the Minister for Health in his current position; he is referring 
to historic positions.  It is perfectly normal practice.  When the Government was in opposition it did it all the time.  
Members opposite referred to members on my side by their surnames in relation to historic positions.  This is not a 
point of order.  The Leader of the Opposition has every right to quote Detective Sergeant Kucera as he then was.  The 
Leader of the Opposition is quoting from transcripts that refer to Kucera, not as a detective sergeant or an assistant 
commissioner.  This is a spurious attempt by the Government to try to protect the Minister for Health.   

The DEPUTY SPEAKER:  My understanding of Standing Order No 93 is that it does not apply if the Leader of the 
Opposition is quoting from documents or referring to the Minister for Health in his previous role.  However, I warn the 
Leader of the Opposition that should he at any stage refer to the member in his capacity in this House, he must address 
him by the correct title.  

Debate Resumed 

Mr BARNETT:  I understand the point exactly.  The Supreme Court found that then Assistant Commissioner Kucera’s 
evidence was critical in quashing the Mickelberg’s 1998 appeal.  The judges said on page 132 of the judgment -  

The most powerful individual factors rebutting the case made out by the appellants are the testimony of Mrs 
Holz and Kucera . . .  

Therefore, in 1998, then Assistant Commissioner Kucera took on a major role when he corroborated Hancock and 
Lewandowski’s claims that notes had been taken and there was no beating.  His role at the Belmont CIB offices in 1982 
was peripheral.  In 1998, in the words of the judges, he became the most powerful individual factor in the quashing of 
the appeal.  His role had gone from being peripheral to pivotal.  That is why we raise the issue in this Parliament.  On 
the basis of the evidence of then Assistant Commissioner Kucera and others, the appeal was quashed.  Kucera’s 
evidence was clearly pivotal.  He became pivotal to this issue in 1998, not in 1982.  That is not in question.  The appeal 
was quashed in 1998.   

Perhaps no further issues would have arisen if not for two, almost uncanny, factors.  I imagine they were not thought 
likely to happen.  The first factor is the car-bombing death of Don Hancock last year, and the second is the sworn 
affidavit of Anthony Lewandowski. 
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Points of Order 

Mr McGOWAN:  A standing order of this Parliament is that members must not read speeches.  They may refer to notes 
but they cannot read speeches.  I have observed the Leader of the Opposition for the past nine minutes, and he has 
constantly read the speech that he is making.  I do not mind if he quotes from a court transcript.  That is entirely 
appropriate.  However, it is outside the standing orders to read a speech. 

Mr JOHNSON:  This is another attempt by the Government to keep this issue quiet and brush it under the carpet.  We 
will have our say.  The Leader of the Opposition is quoting from documents because accuracy is absolutely essential to 
the motion before the House.  The Leader of the Opposition is also paraphrasing some notes.  He is not reading a speech 
as such.  I ask the Speaker to rule in that manner. 

The SPEAKER:  That standing order is clear.  However, in this place people sometimes appear to read from prepared 
speeches.  However, I am sure that at all times those members are referring to notes to make sure their speeches are as 
accurate as possible.  As the member for Hillarys has rightly said, this particular contribution needs to be very accurate 
because of the nature of the matter we are debating.  

Debate Resumed 

Mr BARNETT:  As I said, this matter may never have arisen again had it not been for the car-bombing murder of 
Hancock and the surprising affidavit and confession of Lewandowski.  The affidavit of Anthony Lewandowski was 
presented to the Director of Public Prosecutions on 6 June this year.  In it, Lewandowski admitted that he had fabricated 
evidence, that no notes were taken during the interview, that he and Hancock had stripped Peter Mickelberg naked and 
beaten him, and that he had repeatedly perjured himself.  Lewandowski has confirmed what Mickelberg has said, and he 
has admitted to perjuring himself in the 1998 Court of Criminal Appeal case.  Lewandowski’s affidavit throws doubt on 
the veracity of the evidence given by then Assistant Commissioner Kucera in the 1998 Court of Criminal Appeal in the 
Supreme Court.   

There are four areas of discrepancy.  First, Lewandowski has now admitted that no notes were taken during the 
interview.  According to The West Australian, his sworn affidavit states - 

We never did the record of interview until much later, about two months later . . .    

Another area of discrepancy is that Lewandowski now admits that Peter Mickelberg was stripped naked and beaten in 
the Belmont CIB offices.  Assistant Commissioner Kucera claimed in 1998 that it looked like “a normal interview”.  A 
third area of discrepancy is that Peter Mickelberg has consistently claimed throughout the various hearings that then 
Detective Sergeant Kucera never entered the room.  Page 104 of the judgment of the 1998 case states -  

Peter . . . said that he first saw and met Kucera after the interview had finished and he had been moved into a 
different room. 

That directly contradicts the evidence given by Assistant Commissioner Kucera that he entered the room three times 
during the interview.  The fourth discrepancy is between the accounts of Peter Mickelberg and Assistant Commissioner 
Kucera about complaints of assault.   

The third aspect is the handling of Lewandowski’s affidavit by now Attorney General McGinty.  

The SPEAKER:  It is inappropriate to refer to the Attorney General as McGinty.  

Mr BARNETT:  Attorney General McGinty. 

The SPEAKER:  The Leader of the Opposition knows the rule about referring to members. 

Mr BARNETT:  There is no disrespect.  I will refer to him as the Attorney General.  The Minister for Health has stated 
that he absented himself from all cabinet discussions about the Royal Commission Into Whether There Has Been Any 
Corrupt or Criminal Conduct by Western Australian Police Officers because of a possible conflict of interest.  That is 
quite proper.  The Minister for Health said on Radio 6PR last week -  

And on every occasion there has been any discussion, even informal discussion in that regard, I have 
disqualified myself. 

The Attorney General received Anthony Lewandowski’s sworn affidavit on 6 June, and the next day he properly 
referred it to the Commissioner of Police, the Solicitor General, the Anti-Corruption Commission and the Royal 
Commission Into Whether There Has Been Any Corrupt or Criminal Conduct by Western Australian Police Officers.  
The Attorney General apparently initially considered the affidavit to be significant new evidence.  On 10 June he said 
that he was gravely concerned.  Hansard of 11 June reports the Attorney General as saying -  

I received an affidavit from Anthony Lewandowski that in no way - directly or indirectly - referred to or cast 
any doubt upon the evidence given to the Court of Criminal Appeal by Mr Kucera in 1998.  

However, according to statements on Radio 6PR on 12 June 2002, the Attorney General had already informed the 
Minister for Health of the affidavit.  The Attorney General said - 
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Of course I did, Bob’s a colleague.  I spoke with him over the weekend and . . . after I’d had a chance to read 
the affidavit, to think about it, and . . . I discussed the matter several times over the weekend with Bob Kucera 
and I talk to him regularly about it. 

It has emerged - it was confirmed in question time today - that the Attorney General not only discussed this affidavit 
with the now Minister for Health but also provided the minister with a copy of the affidavit and transcripts of his 
evidence in the 1998 appeal.  There are two points to be made.  I argue that the Minister for Health has a conflict 
between his former role as a police officer and in giving evidence in this case and his role as a minister of the Crown in 
a Cabinet that is overseeing a royal commission into police.  He properly absented himself from cabinet discussions, but 
neither he nor the Attorney General excused themselves from discussing this matter before it went to Cabinet.  It was 
improper for the Attorney General to have discussed and given a copy of the affidavit to the Minister for Health, who 
was a senior police officer at the time the incident occurred.  Members should bear in mind that the Minister for Health 
is not only a former police officer and a minister of the Cabinet but also a pivotal witness in the 1998 appeal case.  The 
Attorney General of this State gave a confidential affidavit to a key witness prior to giving it to the relevant authorities.  
Why would he give that affidavit to a key witness?  He gave it to the new Minister for Health, who was, in the judge’s 
own words, a key witness in the 1998 case.   

Mr McGinty:  It was not given to him before it was given to the relevant authorities. 

Mr BARNETT:  I accept what the Attorney General says, but he gave it to him before it went to Cabinet.  What is the 
point of the health minister’s absenting himself from Cabinet when he has been provided with not only the information 
but also a copy of a confidential affidavit on a weekend prior to its going to Cabinet?  Not only is the Minister for 
Health facing a conflict of interest in the Royal Commission Into Whether There Has Been Any Corrupt or Criminal 
Conduct by Western Australian Police Officers, but also he was a key witness in the 1998 appeal.  Which other witness 
in Western Australia would be given a copy of a sworn affidavit in person by an Attorney General?  When has that ever 
happened in the State of Western Australia?  I am talking about a witness who was given a confidential affidavit.  That 
was clearly improper conduct by the Attorney General. 

I can go on.  Why did the Attorney General call the Minister for Health?  The decision by the now Minister for Health 
to absent himself from Cabinet is at best token.  It has no real substance because the Attorney General briefed him and 
gave him the affidavit and transcripts of evidence of the 1998 appeal case before the matter went to Cabinet.  The 
Attorney General now appears to be casting doubt on the veracity of Lewandowski’s affidavit.  Have we gone from the 
confession of Lewandowski to the tip-off by the Attorney General to the now Minister for Health.  Are we now heading 
into a cover-up?  Are we now seeing a three-phase scenario?   

I will summarise and conclude my comments.  When the Attorney General received Lewandowski’s affidavit, he said 
that a former police officer had perjured himself.  I am not qualified to judge whether Lewandowski is telling the truth.  
The Attorney said in this Chamber that a former police officer had perjured himself. 

Mr McGinty:  I prefaced everything I said by saying “if it is true”.  That is what the affidavit says.   

Mr BARNETT:  Okay, but the Attorney General gave great credence to the affidavit in the media.  I cannot judge and 
probably the Attorney General cannot judge whether Lewandowski is telling the truth, but Lewandowski has admitted 
that he perjured himself in the 1998 Court of Criminal Appeal case.  It is a fact of his testimony that then Assistant 
Commissioner Kucera, now Health Minister Kucera, corroborated the alleged perjured evidence.  I do not know who is 
telling the truth; I do not know whether Lewandowski is telling the truth and I do not know whether Assistant 
Commissioner Kucera told the truth.  However, one thing I can tell the House is that they are not both telling the truth.  
Someone is not telling the truth.  Either Lewandowski is not telling the truth or the now Health Minister did not tell the 
truth in his capacity as assistant commissioner. 

There is substantial and serious doubt about the veracity of the evidence given by the now health minister in the Court 
of Criminal Appeal; that is point No 1.  Point No 2 is that he, as a former senior police officer, clearly faces a conflict of 
interest in the royal commission.  It is no good the Minister for Health’s absenting himself from Cabinet if he and the 
Attorney General are to have private conversations and if the Attorney General is to provide him with copies of 
transcripts and the affidavit prior to the matter going to Cabinet.  What other witness in the legal history of this State has 
been given a confidential affidavit in person by an Attorney General, the chief law officer of the State?   

There is a serious conflict of interest in the cabinet process and serious and improper conduct by the Attorney General.  
In the words of the Attorney General, this issue goes to the very integrity of the Western Australian justice system.  It 
goes to the very standing of our Police Service in this State.  It is a serious and in-dispute issue as to whether former 
Assistant Commissioner Kucera told the truth.  There is a clear conflict and, in my judgment, clear and improper 
conduct by the Attorney General and the Minister for Health in discussing the issue prior to its going to Cabinet. 

I put on the record that the Opposition has had many opportunities in this debate to raise personal and family issues and 
other factors.  We as an Opposition have not done that.  We have not attacked the Minister for Health in any personal 
way, we have not condemned him, we have not called for him to resign and we have not called into question his 
standing as a former police officer.  We have simply said that there is enough doubt through sworn affidavits and 
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conflicting evidence that his testimony under oath, in uniform, is in doubt.  For that reason, supported by the conflicts in 
Cabinet and the conflicts in the behaviour of the Attorney General, all we say is that the most modest position the 
Premier can take is to stand aside the Minister for Health until these issues are resolved satisfactorily.  That is the 
minimum position, and members should compare that position with the way in which the former Labor Opposition 
conducted itself on these sorts of issues in this Parliament. 

DR GALLOP (Victoria Park - Premier) [3.35 pm]:  We deserve a better argument than the one we have just had from 
the Leader of the Opposition.  It is as though we took a film of all the arguments raised in the Parliament last week and 
re-ran it this week.  We might as well go to Hansard and get all the film records of the parliamentary sittings last week, 
send them to the television stations, close Parliament for this week and go off to our electorates and do some work, 
because the Leader of the Opposition has said absolutely nothing today that he did not say last week. 

Let us go to an important question.  Why is the Opposition pursuing this issue?  There is only one reason: it is called 
base party politics.  The Attorney General made it absolutely clear in his answer to a question earlier today, when he 
asked members whether they believed the Leader of the Opposition would stand in this Parliament and raise these 
issues if the now Minister for Health had not become a member of Parliament and was not a minister in my 
Government.  Of course he would not.  If this issue had the gravity that the Leader of the Opposition claims it has, he 
would have been obliged to raise these issues if the Minister for Health had not been a member of Parliament and a 
minister.   

Let us put this matter into context.  Let us not take my word as the Premier on this matter and my judgments about the 
role of the Leader of the Opposition, although later I will have some very strong words to say about the Leader of the 
Opposition.  At the moment, let us not take my judgment that this is not an important matter.  Let us not take my 
judgment that the Opposition has not made a case for standing aside the Minister for Health.  Let us look at what other 
people, who are not in this Parliament and who do not have a party political axe to grind, have said about the issue.  
What are those people saying about this issue?  Is it not interesting that the Opposition has said that I should stand aside 
the Minister for Health?  I am listening and I am reading, but I have not heard or read of anyone else saying that, 
besides the Liberal Party and the Leader of the Opposition.  In fact, no editorial has appeared in The West Australian 
newspaper to that end.  The editorial of the Sunday Times of 16 June 2002, under the headline “Don’t play politics in 
gold affair” states -  

We have witnessed the State Opposition taking cheap political shots in a bid to win the scalp of Health 
Minister and former senior police officer Bob Kucera. 

 . . .  

The Opposition claims Mr Lewandowski’s new affidavit brings into question court evidence given by Mr 
Kucera.  But does it? 

Mr Kucera claims he was “only a peripheral player” and nothing has emerged this week to significantly change 
his position. 

If the commission did find that Mr Kucera had turned a blind eye to what was going on and made an adverse 
finding against him, then that is the time for Mr Kucera to stand aside - not now. 

He, like anybody else, is entitled to the presumption of innocence until proven guilty. 

That is the view of the Sunday Times in response to the suggestion that the Minister for Health should stand aside.  I 
will go further.  Professor Campbell Sharman was appointed by the previous Government to the Commission on 
Government.  An article in The West Australian states - 

THERE was no reason why Health Minister Bob Kucera should stand down from his portfolio, University of 
WA associate professor of political science Campbell Sharman said yesterday.   

Professor Sharman said there were no constitutional issues at stake and nothing in the public arena to warrant 
such a move. . . 

Professor Sharman said that the Westminster argument was commonly used by Opposition parties in such 
circumstances.   

But Mr Kucera’s involvement in the Mickelberg affair had nothing to do with his status as Minister for Health.  

One of our leading newspapers states directly that the minister should not stand aside.  A former commissioner, 
appointed by the previous Government, and leading political scientist in this State also said that there was no case that 
would warrant the minister’s standing aside.  Avon Lovell knows a fair bit about this issue, and he stated - 

Bob’s involvement, if any, has been so peripheral as to be uninteresting. . . 

Kucera is one of the good one’s . . . It’s a red herring; get back to the main chase.   

The Leader of the Opposition is off on his little chase.  It is called base party politics.  It has nothing to do with a serious 
discussion about ministerial responsibility in Western Australia.  
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The Opposition has been grasping at straws on this issue.  The now Minister for Health gave evidence to the Court of 
Criminal Appeal, and nothing has been revealed that casts doubt on the honesty of that evidence.  That is the view of 
the vast majority of Western Australians and the commentators who have looked seriously at the matter.  What is more, 
nothing in the Lewandowski affidavit refers to Bob Kucera and his role.  In other words, the document that is the basis 
of this debate does not mention the Minister for Health.  The Opposition has taken up this issue for base political 
purposes.   

I will get to grips with the Opposition’s twisted political logic.  I have tried to take seriously what members opposite 
have said.  They said that the evidence given by Mr Mickelberg during the Court of Criminal Appeal case was 
questioned and Lewandowski has now backed up Mickelberg in certain respects, so the Minister for Health’s 
recollection must be questioned.  They said that that was pertinent despite the fact that Lewandowski said nothing about 
it; indeed, Lewandowski does not even mention the minister in his affidavit.  That is the logic members opposite are 
pursuing.  That is basis upon which they want me, as the Premier, to shift the Minister for Health from his portfolio.   

The Liberal Party is willing to say anything about this issue to achieve its political objectives.  Members opposite 
expect the Government to take these statements seriously despite the fact that they did nothing about the ministerial 
responsibility issues raised when they were in government.  Indeed, the now Leader of the Opposition, as Leader of the 
House, would come into this place day after day arguing that the ministerial responsibility issues the Labor Party was 
raising were not relevant.   

There was one exception and it provides a humourous footnote.  Poor old Doug!  The ex-Minister for Fair Trading, the 
then Hon Doug Shave, has been left out in the breeze.  The Leader of the Opposition, the member for Nedlands and the 
Leader of the National Party say he should have resigned.   

Mr Pendal:  You said it too.   

Dr GALLOP:  Hang on!  I will educate the member for South Perth.   

Mr Pendal:  You have changed your mind!   

Dr GALLOP:  The member obviously was not in this place last week.  He is defending his mate, the Leader of the 
Opposition.  He is the best supporter the leader has in this Parliament - whatever he says, he supports him!  The member 
for South Perth should refer to last week’s Hansard.   

Mr Pendal:  I remember last year.  You have changed your mind.   

Dr GALLOP:  The Labor Party argued that Hon Doug Shave should resign because the department he administered 
totally mucked up an issue that led to a scandal of great proportions in Western Australia.  We did not call on him to 
stand aside because an allegation had been made; we called on him to be sacked because of what happened in his 
department!  The issue was different and we stand by the position we took.  We have noted the Leader of the 
Opposition’s attitude to his colleagues.  We know he did not like Hon Doug Shave; in fact, we could say that he 
despised him.  That was the impression he gave in this Parliament whenever the matter was debated.  Members opposite 
should note that we have not been provided with a rational argument about whether Hon Doug Shave should have been 
sacked.  We have simply been subjected to a display of the Leader of the Opposition’s petty prejudices.   

Members opposite expect us to take them seriously when for eight years ministerial responsibility was given no serious 
treatment in this Parliament.  They do not even support the Royal Commission Into Whether There Has Been Any 
Corrupt or Criminal Conduct by Western Australian Police Officers.  The Leader of the Opposition has said it is a waste 
of money, that there is no evidence of endemic corruption in the Police Service and that mischievous allegations will be 
made that might affect the careers, if not the lives, of good officers.  I think he was looking at himself in the mirror 
when he made that statement.  The best example we have had of that in recent weeks is his behaviour.  He says he is 
appalled about what will happen when the royal commission commences its work, but then indulges in that appalling 
behaviour himself.  That is the standard he is setting.   

We must go further in our argument against the Leader of the Opposition.  This is a very clear example of the way in 
which he approaches these questions.  He reached a low point with his statement on Channel 10.  We will not forget 
that statement; it is a very important issue.   

Accountability goes both ways.  The Government accepts responsibility for what it has done - so much so that it has 
been open about what has happened.  It has publicly released the affidavit and handed the information to the royal 
commission.  This Government has been completely accountable and open.  The Leader of the Opposition has a 
problem, and that problem is the Channel 10 news broadcast.  He cannot avoid what he said.  Members opposite should 
keep in mind that the Government will not leave this matter to rest.  Their leader must be held to account for what he 
said; that is - 

A member of Cabinet, by clear fact, was present during the interview when a prisoner was bashed.  

We demand an apology for that statement.  It was a disgraceful comment.   
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Mr Johnson:  I think the minister said that he went in three times.   

Dr GALLOP:  The member is saying that the Minister for Health was in there when the prisoner was bashed; he is 
repeating it.  The member for Hillarys is now getting caught up in the web created by the Leader of the Opposition.  The 
Leader of the Opposition can apologise now to the Minister for Health!  There is no accountability.  Members opposite 
want to have a debate in this Parliament but they do not respond.   

Mr Johnson:  Have you spoken to the media about this? 

Dr GALLOP:  I do not care what the Leader of the Opposition might or might not have said to the media.  I saw him on 
television last Thursday night.  We demand an apology from him, and we will keep pursuing one.  This indicates that 
the Leader of the Opposition’s mouth occasionally gets the better of him, and members opposite know it.  We have seen 
it on many occasions.  One day we might tell the Parliament his views of his colleagues and what he was quite happy to 
say about them on many occasions.  We saw what he did in the previous Government.  We know why the former 
Premier did not want him to be leader, because he knows that the current Leader of the Opposition’s definition of 
loyalty is the opposite of the meaning of the word.  We know all of that.  However, there is a problem with the Leader 
of the Opposition: he lets his mouth get carried away.  That is what he did on Channel 10.   

I read in The West Australian last week that an excited party staffer of the Liberal Party said that this is wonderful and 
has brought the Liberal Party together.  Mud-slinging brings the Liberal Party together!  That is fine; that is a statement 
about how it operates.  The Leader of the Opposition saying something about which there is no evidence brings the 
Liberal Party together!  That is a statement about the current state of the Liberal Party in Western Australia.   

Mr Pendal interjected. 

Dr GALLOP:  The member for South Perth is the only member of Parliament interjecting in defence of the Leader of 
the Opposition.   

Mr Pendal:  I am attacking your Oxford-schoolboy logic. 

Dr GALLOP:  What is wrong with my logic?  No-one else will talk to me!  At least the member for South Perth will 
talk to me!   

Mr Pendal:  Exactly!  Just don’t tell my friends! 

Dr GALLOP:  Let me summarise the argument.  There is no case for the Minister for Health to stand aside.  Not only is 
that my view, but also it is the view of all serious political commentators in Western Australia.   

Mr Johnson:  All?   

Dr GALLOP:  I have quoted them. 

Mr Johnson:  You quoted about two. 

Dr GALLOP:  Who will the member quote?  Can he quote a political commentator who says that the minister should 
stand aside?   

Mr Johnson:  Can you quote some more?  You gave me two.  That is “all”, is it?  

Dr GALLOP:  They are only the major newspapers and a commissioner of government in Western Australia!  That is 
not a bad duopoly!   

The real issue before this Parliament today is not the credibility of the Minister for Health; it is the credibility of the 
Leader of the Opposition.  People cannot get up and say just anything; they must be held to account.  I call upon the 
Independents and the National Party to look at this issue seriously.  I repeat: the Leader of the Opposition said - 

A member of Cabinet, by clear fact, was present during the interview when a prisoner was bashed.   

The member for South Perth has had a lot to say.  Does he think that that is a statement of fact?  Does he think that there 
is evidence of that statement? 

Mr Pendal:  This is not question time.  

Several members interjected. 

The SPEAKER:  Members! 

Dr GALLOP:  The issue in this Parliament today is not the credibility of the Minister for Health; it is the credibility of 
the Leader of the Opposition.   

Amendment to Motion 

Dr GALLOP:  I move -  

To delete all words after “House” with a view to substituting the following -  
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calls upon the Leader of the Opposition to apologise and unreservedly withdraw his false and 
malicious accusations against the Minister for Health, which sought to implicate the then Detective 
Sergeant Kucera in the alleged bashing by police of Peter Mickelberg  

Point of Order 

Mr JOHNSON:  This negates the motion.  The amendment has nothing whatsoever to do with the motion.  This is a 
typical stunt that the Government pulls, and this House went into a terrible state the last time it occurred.  It brought 
discredit on this Parliament and on members on that side of the Chamber.  Can I have a look at the amendment?  This 
amendment negates the original motion, because the original motion calls on the Premier to stand aside the Minister for 
Health while this investigation goes on. 

Dr Gallop:  It does not negate it.  It deals with a different aspect of the problem, which you do not like.   

Mr JOHNSON:  It negates the motion by saying that the Leader of the Opposition is in the wrong and that the Minister 
for Health should stay where he is and so on.  It is a contradiction of the original motion.  

The SPEAKER:  For the standing order to have an impact, the amendment needs to be a direct negative of the motion 
before the House.  It clearly is not a direct negative of the original motion; therefore, the amendment stands and will be 
put to the House.  The question is that the words to be deleted be deleted.   

Debate Resumed 

MS SUE WALKER (Nedlands) [3.56 pm]:  I support the Leader of the Opposition in relation to this motion.  I have 
listened to the responses given by the Attorney General to some of the questions asked today, and it is staggering to 
think that a person who has been implicated in a confession of perjury has been given confidential information about 
that person, as well as - the Attorney General can correct me - a transcript of confidential files held by either the 
Solicitor General or the Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions.  
Mr McGinty:  You are wrong.   
Ms SUE WALKER:  I am glad.  The Attorney General can tell me from where he got that information.   
Mr McGinty:  I will.  I already have, and you would know that if you had been listening.  We have been perfectly open 
about all of this.   
Ms SUE WALKER:  The question to which this Parliament and the Western Australian public need an answer is 
whether the Attorney General and the Minister for Health have acted in concert to mislead Parliament and the people of 
Western Australia about their sincerity in properly pursuing matters in relation to the Royal Commission Into Whether 
There Has Been Any Corrupt or Criminal Conduct by Western Australian Police Officers and protecting the integrity of 
the criminal justice system, as well as about the role played by the Minister for Health in supporting what is now 
alleged to be perjured evidence of Lewandowski.  The public may ask why the Minister for Health’s role is being 
minimised.  The answer is that it taints the Government.  It does the Government damage, and it is desperately trying to 
minimise the damage that has been thrust upon it by the affidavit of Mr Lewandowski.   
I will not go over the facts already outlined by the Leader of the Opposition.  However, I will refer to aspects of the 
evidence of the Minister for Health in the Court of Criminal Appeal that have not been referred to by the Leader of the 
Opposition, because they are important.  The Peter Mickelberg case was specifically reopened for three reasons: first, 
there was said to be fresh evidence of expert testimony about the veracity of the notes by Lewandowski; secondly, the 
doctor was giving fresh evidence about examining Peter Mickelberg after the interview in then Detective Sergeant 
Kucera’s room; and, thirdly, three witnesses testified that Lewandowski had made admissions that he lied at the trial.  It 
was the first really serious challenge to their evidence.  However, Mr Hancock and Mr Lewandowski had fresh 
evidence of their own.  That was the evidence of the now Minister for Health and then Assistant Commissioner Kucera.  
I quote from page 101 -  

The evidence of Kucera was objected to by Mr McCusker on the ground that it was not fresh.  Kucera was 
called by the Crown to testify principally as to what he had observed on 26 July 1982 when he entered the 
room in which Peter was being interviewed by Hancock and Lewandowski.  Kucera also testified that Peter 
made no complaint to him that he had been assaulted.   

We heard from the Attorney General last week that the Minister for Health went along after 16 years and gave evidence, 
and recollections are a bit fuzzy after that length of time.  How can the Minister for Health now recollect?    
I ask the Attorney General whether he will table the covering letter that he sent to the royal commission with the 
Lewandowski affidavit; the transcript of the evidence in chief, the cross-examination and the re-examination of the 
Minister for Health when he gave evidence in the 1998 Mickelberg appeal; the statements that he handed to the Minister 
for Health at the weekend when he handed him the affidavit; and the transcript, from which he quoted, of the evidence 
in chief, cross-examination and re-examination of Mr Mickelberg in relation to the Minister for Health.   
It appears from page 102 that under cross-examination from Mr McCusker, then Assistant Commissioner Kucera had a 
distinct recollection -  
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Under cross-examination, Kucera said that he could recall the people being in his office at the time “because it 
was different.  It was unusual”.  By that he meant that it was unusual for his office to be used as an interview 
room.  Kucera stated that his recollection was that on both occasions “I actually interrupted their interview”.  
He said that his recollection was that he entered his office in the first instance because he needed to get some 
papers. 

Kucera said: - 

I refer the Attorney General to the answer he gave to the member for Kalgoorlie this afternoon -  

“On the first occasion I can recall that Hancock was talking and on the second occasion I can recall 
Lewandowski holding something up and speaking, and my impression was that he was reading notes 
back to the person Mickelberg”. 

He said not only that he entered the interview room but also that he spoke to Peter and asked him if he wanted coffee.  I 
read from page 103 -  

Under cross-examination, Kucera said that lunch was an afterthought on his part.  He said that he “probably 
would have asked them at the same time if they wanted coffee, and I recall making coffee and taking it in with 
the food”.  He would have asked Hancock, Lewandowski and Peter whether they wanted coffee, because he 
served them with coffee later as well.   

Not surprisingly Lewandowski remembers the now Minister for Health coming in, and so did Hancock.  I read from 
page 75 - 

Lewandowski said that there was a break when Kucera came into the office and asked whether they needed 
anything to eat.  He said that this occurred “basically at the end of the interview”, but prior to him reading the 
notes to Peter.  This differs from the evidence of Hancock who stated that Kucera came in while the interview 
was still in progress, and asked if they wanted something to eat (this version was the same as that of Kucera).  
Save in regard to this aspect, Lewandowski’s version as given in his oral evidence before this court was the 
same as that given by Hancock. 

The Minister for Health, Lewandowski and Hancock all corroborate each other that the now Minister for Health went 
into that room.  It is odd, but perhaps at this stage I had better not go into why that has not been mentioned further by 
Mr Lovell; perhaps that is a matter for another time.  I support the Leader of the Opposition in calling on the Premier to 
ask the Minister for Health to stand aside, particularly in light of the revelation this afternoon that the Attorney General 
tipped him off, if we like, or gave him information that he had not given to any other of his parliamentary colleagues; 
and particularly when the Gallop Government has said it has drawn a line in the sand as to whether the Minister for 
Health should be excluded from Cabinet.  This Government is making a mockery of the system, the Parliament and the 
people of Western Australia.  As the member for Nedlands, I support the motion.   

MR McGINTY (Fremantle - Attorney General) [4.04 pm]:  There are no grounds for the Minister for Health to even 
consider standing down from his position.  During the 35 years that the Minister for Health served this State as a police 
officer, rising to the senior position of assistant commissioner, he would have been responsible for locking up thousands 
of Western Australian criminals.  We would expect that some of those people would have been very unhappy and from 
time to time they might have made allegations that they had been unfairly treated by the now Minister for Health 
because he was responsible for bringing them to justice.  One could understand this motion if an allegation had been 
made by someone who felt aggrieved at having been locked up by this very effective police officer during his 35 years 
in the Police Service.  However, we do not even have an allegation against the Minister for Health.  The Lewandowski 
affidavit, which is the new material that we are dealing with here, does not mention in any way, shape or form, directly 
or indirectly, the now Minister for Health.  Nothing in the Lewandowski affidavit raises a question about the integrity, 
evidence or role of the now Minister for Health.  That should be clearly understood by everyone.  

Mr Barnett:  Apart from the fact that Lewandowski has admitted that he perjured himself.  

Mr McGINTY:  Lewandowski has admitted that he perjured himself.  However, that does not in any way, shape or form 
detract from the evidence - evidence that has been misrepresented in this House on a number of occasions.  If we read 
the evidence that was given in 1983 and onwards by various people in this trial, Mr Mickelberg has been consistent in 
his view, and the now Minister for Health has also been consistent in what he has said.  It is the case, as we discussed 
last week, that there were differences of recollection and evidence in respect of some things that happened at the 
Belmont Police Station in 1982.  However, nothing has been raised in this debate today that adds anything to this 
debate.  There is no new element.  It is just a recital of everything that we heard during the course of last week.   

We have been quite open.  We have come in here and said happily that if the Opposition asks us a question, we will 
give it the answer.  I have done numerous radio and television interviews.  If people asked me a question, I was more 
than happy to tell them what was going on.  A question has been raised about the propriety of my giving to the Minister 
for Health a copy of the affidavit.  From the moment I was made aware of this affidavit on Thursday a week ago, I was 
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of the view that it was of such enormous public interest and importance that we should not in any way seek to hide or be 
secretive about it.  My view from the start was that it is a matter of being up-front and telling people what is going on.  
That is the reason I held a press conference on Monday a week ago to inform the public about what was going on in this 
case.  The Director of Public Prosecutions and the Solicitor General discussed with me on Monday morning the nature 
of the affidavit and whether it should be made public.  When I asked them was there any reason that I should not make 
the affidavit public and that I should not go to the press conference and hand out a copy of the affidavit, both of them 
said there was no reason.  They raised no objection.  For the information of members, because we wanted to do 
everything properly, I then needed to check whether the police royal commission and the Police Service in this State 
had any objection.  I spoke with Peter Hastings, QC later in the day on that Monday before the press conference, and he 
requested that I not dish out copies of the affidavit to everyone.  However, he raised no objection when I advised him of 
my view that we would proceed, in accordance with the advice from the Solicitor General and the Director of Public 
Prosecutions, to answer any questions and to give details of the nature of the allegations and the content of that 
affidavit.  Do not try to describe it as a confidential or secret document, or anything of that nature; it was nothing of the 
sort.  It was always intended that we take the public into our confidence because this was a matter that the public had 
every right to know about.  It was a matter which, to be very practical about it, was quickly going to find its way into 
the public arena in any event.  It transpires now that various media outlets were aware - from what source I am not 
sure - of the general nature of the document, and ultimately the affidavit was published in The West Australian on 
Tuesday. 

Mr Barnett:  Why did you find it necessary to give the Minister for Health a copy of the transcript from the Court of 
Appeal? 

Mr McGINTY:  As I said, we expected the Opposition to come into the House and raise a political issue to try to 
capitalise on events that had transpired.  It was important to refresh his memory, to make sure he had information about 
what was said and things of that nature.  There is nothing unusual about that.  The transcript is on the public record.  
Why is there anything unusual about that?  It was a weekend.  He flew back from his ministerial duties in the south 
west, and I supplied him with information that was on the public record.  There is nothing more to it than that. 

The member for Nedlands has come into this place and raised the question of integrity.  I will just run through a few 
issues about her integrity.  It is important that these issues be raised.  I will go back over the past three years.  Prior to 
her coming into the Parliament, while she was employed in the office of the Director of Public Prosecutions - 

Mr Johnson:  Will you table the transcripts? 

Mr McGINTY:  Let me deal with these matters.  I have six minutes left. 

Mr Birney:  This is going to be grubby. 

Mr McGINTY:  Not at all.  This is all on the public record.  It does no harm, when questions of integrity are being 
raised, to have a good look at this, because a trifecta of fabrications by the member for Nedlands will be shown in this 
place today.  We all remember a Liberal Party member by the name of Mr Collier who forged a signature - 

Mr Johnson:  What did you call this earlier? 

Mr McGINTY:  We are talking about fabrication; that is the subject matter of this debate.  The member should just 
listen.  Mr Collier forged the name of Mr Peter Getgood on a Liberal Party membership form.  He was found by the 
Liberal Party to have behaved improperly in that forgery, and who should be there to represent him at internal party 
forums at a time when she was on the payroll, albeit on leave without pay, of the office of the Director of Public 
Prosecutions in this State, but the member for Nedlands?  She was defending somebody in Liberal Party internal forums 
who had forged the signature of another person on an application to be a member of that party.  That was in 2000, and 
the following year she was at it again.  By then the member for Nedlands was a member of this House.  She came into 
the Parliament on Wednesday, 5 December and said, as reported on page 6523 of Hansard - 

 . . . I have had the experience of working in the criminal justice system as a prosecutor for 12 years. 

A quick check of the records shows she was admitted to practise law in this State in 1993, eight years earlier.  I hope 
she was not carrying on the practice of law as a prosecutor in this State without being a registered lawyer and without a 
practice certificate.  That was another fabrication by the member for Nedlands designed to assist her argument. 

Last week, on 12 June, the Leader of the Opposition appeared on television, on both Channel 10 and I think on the 
ABC, and said - 

A member of Cabinet, by clear fact, was present during the interview when a prisoner was bashed. 

That was another fabrication.  To her credit, the member for Nedlands did not support her leader on that occasion.  
When asked directly whether she supported what the Leader of the Opposition had to say to the people of Western 
Australia on behalf of the Liberal Party she was silent - stony silent.  She would not support her leader in respect of that 
fabrication. 
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This is a series of fabrications by the member for Nedlands, who stands in this Parliament and launches an attack on 
someone else about their integrity.  We must very seriously question someone with that annual track record of being 
associated with fabrications about very important matters. 

There is no justification for the Minister for Health to consider his position or for the Premier to consider it.  It is clear 
that no allegation has been made against the Minister for Health.  He has given an honest account of his recollections of 
events that happened when he was a serving police officer of considerable distinction,.  Nobody has seriously 
questioned those events, other than the consistent evidence presented to the courts over a number of years in some 
respects by Peter Mickelberg about the events that occurred back then.  There is nothing new about that.  The 
recollection of Mr Mickelberg has been on the public record since the first trial in 1983. 

Mr Barnett:  It is new when Lewandowski says that he fabricated the evidence. 

Mr McGINTY:  Mr Lewandowski gave no evidence whatsoever about the minister; he did not refer to him directly or 
indirectly.  Mr Lewandowski said that he perjured himself, that he was involved in an assault, and that he was involved 
in a fabrication.  Putting it all together, what transpired in that room was the beginning and the end of what Mr 
Lewandowski had to say.  When Mr Lewandowski returns, and if opposition members can say, “Here is now a serious 
allegation”, they might have something they can raise, but in the meantime the Leader of the Opposition - 

Mr Barnett:  He should step aside until it is decided. 

Mr McGINTY:  The Leader of the Opposition might make that rhetorical political point, but he is increasingly looking 
like Spiderman, just hanging there by a thread! 

MR BIRNEY (Kalgoorlie) [4.16 pm]:  In the two minutes that I have left I would like to outline a couple of points.  
This is a matter of grave concern and it is one that I have followed rather closely.  I have observed the Attorney General 
engaging in more twists and turns than a game of snakes and ladders.  The Attorney General presents all these minute 
facts in an attempt to convince people that he is being full and open about the details of this case.  However, in my view 
he has not been completely full and open about this case.  He keeps referring to 1983 and the fact that the now Minister 
for Health had a very small role to play in the 1982 interview.  The Opposition has never said anything else.  The 
discrepancy arises in 1998 when the now Minister for Health said, when he allegedly first went into the room - 

“On the first occasion I can recall that Hancock was talking and on the second occasion I can recall 
Lewandowski holding something up and speaking, and my impression was that he was reading notes back to 
the person Mickelberg.” 

When I asked a question during question time the Attorney General said that the Minister for Health had not said that, 
and the Attorney General asked me whether I had read the transcript.  I suppose he was querying my use of the word 
“confessional”.  That is the little technical point he might be trying to make.  Detectives Lewandowski and Hancock 
have said that the notes they took during that interview formed a confession, yet the Attorney General tries to twist that, 
and so does the Premier. 

Several members interjected. 

The SPEAKER:  Order members!   

Mr BIRNEY:  When the Premier was asked whether the Minister for Health ever offered his resignation, he refused to 
answer.  He went off on some cock-and-bull story.  I ask the Premier whether the Minister for Health ever offered his 
resignation?  The Premier is never short of a word. 

The SPEAKER:  The member’s time has expired. 

DR WOOLLARD (Alfred Cove) [4.19 pm]:  I do not support this amendment.  I had not intended to support the 
motion moved by the Liberal Party either, because at the moment I do not believe there is proof.  I intended to reserve 
my right to decide.  Although I do not agree with all the decisions that the Minister for Health is making, I believe we 
need some consistency in the health system.  We have had probably 10 health ministers over the past 10 years, and both 
sides of the House came into Parliament saying they would improve health services.  The minister has absented himself 
from some cabinet meetings because of a conflict of interest over this matter, which is the correct thing to do.  The 
Government should give an assurance that it will not pass on any confidential information to the Minister for Health 
that relates to this issue.  I will not support this amendment.   

MR KOBELKE (Nollamara - Leader of the House) [4.20 pm]:  We will vote on the amendment that calls on the 
Leader of the Opposition to unreservedly apologise for his false and malicious allegations against the Minister for 
Health.  It is clear that only the Opposition has accused the Minister for Health of anything.  Its claims have been false 
and malicious.  When members opposite vote on this issue, they must take a stand.  Will they support the Leader of the 
Opposition and tar themselves with the same brush?  Like the Leader of the Opposition, will they not believe in true 
statements?  Will they make false and malicious statements for the purpose of impugning the reputation of a good man 
who has served this State well for 35 years and continues to do so?  They are the questions on which they must decide 
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before they vote on this amendment.  Either they must back the Leader of the Opposition and get in the gutter with him, 
or they must make a stand and let everyone know that principles mean something and that people should speak the 
truth.  If they vote against this amendment, we will know that they do not stand for the truth and are not interested in 
either upholding the integrity of the minister or getting to the truth.  

Amendment (words to be deleted) put and a division taken with the following result -  

Ayes (30) 

Mr Andrews Ms Guise Ms McHale Mr Ripper 
Mr Bowler Mr Hyde Mr McRae Mrs Roberts 
Mr Brown Mr Kobelke Mr Marlborough Mr Templeman 
Mr Carpenter Mr Kucera Mrs Martin Mr Watson 
Mr Dean Mr Logan Mr Murray Mr Whitely 
Mr D’Orazio Ms MacTiernan Mr O’Gorman Ms Quirk (Teller) 
Dr Edwards Mr McGinty Mr Quigley  
Dr Gallop Mr McGowan Ms Radisich  

Noes (21) 

Mr Barnett Mr Grylls Mr Omodei Ms Sue Walker 
Mr Birney Ms Hodson-Thomas Mr Pendal Dr Woollard 
Mr Board Mr House Mr Barron-Sullivan Mr Bradshaw (Teller) 
Dr Constable Mr Johnson Mr Sweetman  
Mr Day Mr Marshall Mr Trenorden  
Mr Edwards Mr Masters Mr Waldron  

            

Pair 

 Mr Hill Mr Ainsworth 

Amendment thus passed. 

Amendment (words to be substituted) put and a division taken with the following result - 

Ayes (30) 

Mr Andrews Ms Guise Ms McHale Mr Ripper 
Mr Bowler Mr Hyde Mr McRae Mrs Roberts 
Mr Brown Mr Kobelke Mr Marlborough Mr Templeman 
Mr Carpenter Mr Kucera Mrs Martin Mr Watson 
Mr Dean Mr Logan Mr Murray Mr Whitely 
Mr D’Orazio Ms MacTiernan Mr O’Gorman Ms Quirk (Teller) 
Dr Edwards Mr McGinty Mr Quigley  
Dr Gallop Mr McGowan Ms Radisich  

Noes (21) 

Mr Barnett Mr Grylls Mr Omodei Ms Sue Walker 
Mr Birney Ms Hodson-Thomas Mr Pendal Dr Woollard 
Mr Board Mr House Mr Barron-Sullivan Mr Bradshaw (Teller) 
Dr Constable Mr Johnson Mr Sweetman  
Mr Day Mr Marshall Mr Trenorden  
Mr Edwards Mr Masters Mr Waldron  

            

Pair 

 Mr Hill Mr Ainsworth 

Amendment thus passed.  

Motion, as Amended 

Question put and a division taken with the following result - 
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Ayes (30) 

Mr Andrews Ms Guise Ms McHale Mr Ripper 
Mr Bowler Mr Hyde Mr McRae Mrs Roberts 
Mr Brown Mr Kobelke Mr Marlborough Mr Templeman 
Mr Carpenter Mr Kucera Mrs Martin Mr Watson 
Mr Dean Mr Logan Mr Murray Mr Whitely 
Mr D’Orazio Ms MacTiernan Mr O’Gorman Ms Quirk (Teller) 
Dr Edwards Mr McGinty Mr Quigley  
Dr Gallop Mr McGowan Ms Radisich  

Noes (21) 

Mr Barnett Mr Grylls Mr Omodei Ms Sue Walker 
Mr Birney Ms Hodson-Thomas Mr Pendal Dr Woollard 
Mr Board Mr House Mr Barron-Sullivan Mr Bradshaw (Teller) 
Dr Constable Mr Johnson Mr Sweetman  
Mr Day Mr Marshall Mr Trenorden  
Mr Edwards Mr Masters Mr Waldron  

            

Pair 

 Mr Hill Mr Ainsworth 

Question thus passed. 

APPROPRIATION (CONSOLIDATED FUND) BILL (NO. 1) 2002 
APPROPRIATION (CONSOLIDATED FUND) BILL (NO. 2) 2002 

Estimates Committees A and B Reports and Minutes - Presentation and Adoption 

THE DEPUTY SPEAKER (Ms Guise): I present the reports and minutes of Estimates Committees A and B. 

[See papers Nos 1571 and 1572.] 

The DEPUTY SPEAKER:  I move - 

That the report of Estimates Committee A be adopted. 

Estimates Committee A ran relatively smoothly and I will refer to some of the feedback received from the committee.  I 
am advised that at noon today, only two questions requiring supplementary information were outstanding.  I hope that 
most members have received answers to their questions.  There were a few instances in which the role of the Chair was 
misunderstood.  Those few problems will be addressed by the Speaker.  For the purpose of Hansard I will refer to some 
of the questions asked in the different divisions.  I advise members that I will include additional questions that were 
allowed to be asked. 

The first session was held on Tuesday, 28 May, and covered divisions 1 and 2, representing the Parliament.  One hour 
was set aside and 30 questions were asked.  Opposition members asked 20 questions and government members asked 
10 in division 1.  In division 2, 21 questions were asked; opposition members asked 11 and government members asked 
10.  Three questions required supplementary information.  Subsequent divisions were covered the Deputy Premier and 
Treasurer, and six hours were set aside.  In division 3, Premier and Cabinet, 33 questions were asked; the Opposition 
asked 22 and the Government asked 11.  In division 9, Treasury and Finance, 74 questions were asked; opposition 
members asked 53 and government members asked 21.  Division 10 was the Office of the Auditor General.  Ten 
questions were asked, with an equal number between the Government and the Opposition.  Division 11 was the Office 
of Energy.  Opposition members asked 18 questions and government members asked four questions.  Division 12 
covered the Perth International Centre for Application of Solar Energy.  Fifteen questions were asked, mostly by 
opposition members.  Division 71 was Racing, Gaming and Liquor.  Opposition members asked 14 questions and 
government members asked six.  Division 72 covered the Goldfields-Esperance Development Commission.  Members 
of the Opposition asked five questions.  The six-hour session was broken evenly in two with a break for lunch, and 
progressed smoothly. 

On Wednesday, 29 May, the session from 9.00 am to 3.00 pm was set aside for education, sport and recreation and 
indigenous affairs.  A tea break of 15 minutes duration was taken in the morning.  Members upheld an agreement to 
ensure that the education divisions were completed by lunchtime.  They were completed by 1.00 pm.  Seventy-three 
questions were asked on education.  Opposition members asked 58 and government members asked 15.  Division 60 
covered the Country High School Hostels Authority, but only four questions were asked, three of which were by 
opposition members.  Divisions 61 and 62 covered the Curriculum Council and Education Services and 15 questions 
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were raised, 14 of which were asked by opposition members.  After lunch, division 63, covering the Recreation Camps 
and Reserves Board, involved nine questions, six of which were asked by opposition members and three by government 
members.  Division 64 was Sport and Recreation and 28 questions were raised, 24 of which were asked by opposition 
members and four by government members.  Division 65 was the Western Australian Sports Centre Trust.  Opposition 
members asked five questions and a government member asked one.  Division 66 was Indigenous Affairs, and 23 
questions were raised, 21 of which were asked by opposition members and two by government members.  Division 52 
was held between 4.00 pm and 5.00 pm and 23 questions were raised, 14 of which were asked by opposition members.  
Four hours were set aside for police and emergency services.  In division 47, 102 questions were asked, 75 of which 
were asked by opposition members and government members asked 27.  A number of questions required supplementary 
information.  During division 48, which covered fire and emergency services, only six questions were asked, five of 
which were from opposition members.  The time allotted for the division was insufficient as only eight to 10 minutes 
were available for it.  It was a time management issue that was agreed by the members of the committee. 

One minister was required to field questions for Estimates Committee A on Thursday, 30 May, from nine o’clock in the 
morning until 10 o’clock at night, with only a break for lunch.  Next year, that should be taken into account.  A lesser 
soul than the Minister for Planning and Infrastructure would not have lasted the distance.  I take my hat off to the 
minister.  She stuck it out for the whole day.  It is too much for one person.  Commonsense must prevail. 

Mr Day:  These things happen by agreement. 

The DEPUTY SPEAKER:  I will get to that.  We need to do something about it next year.  Division 50, Land 
Administration, contained 40 questions, 25 of which were from opposition members and 15 from government members.  
Sitting was then suspended for 16 minutes, as agreed, for a morning tea break.  The committee then moved on to 
division 51, Main Roads.  A total of 35 questions were asked, and the Opposition asked 25 of those.  After lunch, the 
committee proceeded to division 49, Planning and Infrastructure.  A total of 78 questions were asked, 68 of which were 
asked by opposition members.  Sitting was again suspended for an afternoon tea break - commonsense must have 
prevailed - before the committee moved onto the Western Australian Planning Commission, for which only seven 
questions were asked, three by opposition members and four by government members.  Time for those divisions expired 
at 5.00 pm.  The minister then dealt with the divisions covering housing and works, local government, regional 
development and Kimberley, Pilbara and Gascoyne.  For divisions 21 to 25, 97 questions were asked, 96 by the 
Opposition and only one by a government member.  The committee adjourned early - at 9.15 pm.   

Mr Board:  That is how it ought to be - the Opposition asking all the questions.  

The DEPUTY SPEAKER:  There might be some comment on that from this side!  However, everybody seemed 
reasonably happy.  Friday’s hearings ran from 9.00 am to 1.00 pm and covered the portfolios relating to the Premier, 
public sector management, federal affairs, science, and citizenship and multicultural affairs.  For division 3, Premier and 
Cabinet, 103 questions were asked, 82 of which were allocated to members from the opposite side.  Once again, the 
committee was suspended for a 15-minute tea break before proceeding to division 4, Royal Commission Into Whether 
There Has Been Any Corrupt or Criminal Conduct by Western Australian Police Officers.  A total of nine questions 
were asked, seven of which were allocated to opposition members.  For division 5, Anti-Corruption Commission, a total 
of 11 questions were asked.  One question was asked by the Opposition and 10 were asked by government members.  
For division 6, Governor’s Establishment, a total of five questions were asked, two by opposition members and three by 
government members.  For division 7, Office of the Public Sector Standards Commissioner, a total of 10 questions were 
asked, seven by opposition members and three by government members.  The hearing finished with division 8, Salaries 
and Allowances Tribunal.  A total of eight questions were asked, six by opposition members and two by government 
members.  That committee adjourned at 12.45 pm, with 15 minutes to spare.   

I have made a point of putting that on record because I think it will make an interesting analysis for years to come.  I 
have deliberately mentioned the tea breaks.  I urge the Leader of the House and the opposition team to take on board 
that, as well as members liking a cup of tea - we made arrangements for that - some physical necessities need to be 
taken care of.  People need pit stops, if I can put it that way.  It is not good to sit in the Chair and watch ministers turn 
all colours of the rainbow as they signal frantically that they would like a break. 
Mr Johnson:  I think they are called comfort breaks.  
The DEPUTY SPEAKER:  That is nicely put.  There was some contention about tea breaks.  In one case agreement was 
reached, only for members to later realise that they had given up what they considered precious minutes.  Time 
allocation in the estimates committees is a matter for members, not the Chair.  We can only try to encourage members 
to fit in with the time slots. 
I raise two points: first, it is unrealistic to have one minister deal with divisions all day; and, second, given the number 
of tea breaks that were taken, unless sessions are evenly divided into two sections by a lunch or dinner break - there was 
one - it would be better to allocate the time beforehand so that everyone knows where they stand.  The advisers were 
able to go to the Strangers Bar, but they were not likely to leave the Chamber while a session was still on.  They would 
not leave their minister without assistance.  I bring those matters to the attention of the House and urge it to consider 
them for next year.   
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I finish by thanking members and the Acting Speakers who assisted throughout the week for their cooperation.  It was a 
long week.  I think I was a bit grumpy by the end, but I am sure I am excused.  I particularly thank the parliamentary 
staff, who did a sterling job and assisted us so well through the week.   

MR KOBELKE (Nollamara - Leader of the House) [4.44 pm]:  I thank all members for their contributions, both in 
committee A and committee B - although it is not appropriate to speak about that committee now.  I particularly thank 
the member for Girrawheen, who did the job of organising our members to cover the committees and making sure they 
ran smoothly on our side.  I thank the Acting Speakers and the Deputy Speaker for the role they played, and the Clerks 
etc who assisted.  The committees went particularly smoothly, and for that I thank all those who had some responsibility 
in their management, and all members who participated and contributed to the work of the two estimates committees.  

Question put and passed. 

THE DEPUTY SPEAKER (Ms Guise):  I move -  

That the report of Estimates Committee B be adopted. 

I report on the committee B hearings that were held during the week, and will close with some comments.  On Tuesday 
we started with the divisions relating to the environment, and they ran from 9.00 am until 11.00 am.  Once again, for the 
purpose of Hansard, I will go through the volume of questions, because I know some members will be interested.  For 
division 38, Conservation and Land Management, a total of 35 questions were asked, with the Opposition asking 25 of 
those and government members asking 10.  There was, once again, that famous tea break.  For division 39, Botanic 
Gardens and Parks Authority, a total of 16 questions were asked, 11 of which were from opposition members.  For 
division 40, Environmental Protection, a total of 10 questions were asked, eight by opposition members.  Government 
members asked two.  For division 41, Office of Water Regulation, three questions were asked, all by members of the 
Opposition.  For division 42, Swan River Trust, seven questions were asked.  Opposition members asked three and 
government members asked four.  For division 43, Water and Rivers Commission, only one question was asked by the 
Opposition before time expired.  This led to a question about time allocation and some debate about members having 
agreed to morning tea.  The committee then moved on to division 45, Heritage Council of Western Australia.  A total of 
22 questions were asked, 12 by opposition members and 10 by government members.  For division 46, National Trust 
of Australia (WA), there was a total of nine questions, with four being asked by opposition members and five by 
government members.  Five hours were set aside from 2.00 pm to 7.00 pm, with a dinner break, for state development.  
For division 54, Industry and Technology, 87 questions were asked.  Opposition members asked 80 questions and 
government members asked only seven.  The sitting was suspended twice during the afternoon, once at 3.38 pm for 12 
minutes and again at 5.00 pm for five minutes.  For division 55, Mineral and Petroleum Resources, a total of 28 
questions were asked, 24 by opposition members and four by government members.  For division 56, Minerals and 
Energy Research Institute of Western Australia, seven questions were asked, all by members of the Opposition.  From 
8.00 pm to 9.00 pm, the committee dealt with division 57, Western Australian Tourism Commission.  A total of 19 
questions were asked, 14 by opposition members and five by government members.  For division 58, Small Business 
Development Corporation, 18 questions were asked, eight by opposition members and 10 by government members, 
before time expired.   

On Wednesday the committee dealt with the divisions covering the Attorney General, justice and legal affairs, electoral 
affairs, Peel and south west.  Six hours were set aside for these divisions.  For division 30, Commissioner for Equal 
Opportunity, a total of six questions were asked, four by the Opposition and two by government members.  For division 
31, Law Reform Commission, only three questions were asked, all by government members.  For division 32, Office of 
the Director of Public Prosecutions, a total of 50 questions were asked, 38 by opposition members and 12 by 
government members.  Once again, sitting was suspended for a 14-minute morning tea break.  In division 34, Office of 
the Inspector of Custodial Services, 23 questions were asked, 15 by the Opposition and eight by the Government.  In 
division 29, Justice, 84 questions were asked, 72 by the Opposition and 12 by the Government.  In division 35, Western 
Australian Electoral Commission, 20 questions were asked, 12 by the Opposition and eight by the Government.  In 
division 36, Peel Development Commission, 15 questions were asked, eight by the Opposition and seven by the 
Government.   

In Estimates Committee B, for two hours from 4.00 pm to 6.00 pm, division 68, Disability Services Commission, was 
dealt with and 73 questions were asked, 59 by the Opposition and 14 by the Government.  From 7.00 pm to 10.00 pm 
we moved to the portfolios of community development, women’s interests, seniors and youth and culture and the arts.  
In division 67, Community Development, 51 questions were asked, 39 by the Opposition and 12 by the Government.  In 
division 69, Culture and the Arts, 14 questions were asked, nine by the Opposition and five by the Government.  On 
Thursday, five hours were allocated to division 26, Consumer and Employment Protection, in which 90 questions were 
asked, 79 by the Opposition and 11 by the Government.  The time for that division and division 27 expired, and I am 
unsure how they were ultimately dealt with because I could not find them in Hansard.  In division 27, Registrar, 
Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission, 59 questions were asked, 58 by the Opposition and one by the 
Government.  As I said, time expired for these two latter divisions. 
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In division 28, Training, 76 questions were asked from 3.00 pm, 69 by the Opposition and seven by the Government.  
That division finished early at 5.09 pm. 

Committee B dealt with agriculture, forestry and fisheries, the mid west, wheatbelt and the great southern portfolios 
from 7.00 pm to 10.00 pm.  In division 16, Fisheries, 16 questions were asked, nine by the Opposition and seven by the 
Government.  In division 13, Agriculture, 31 questions were asked, 23 by the Opposition and eight by the Government.  
In division 17, Mid West Development Commission, five questions were asked, four by the Opposition and one by the 
Government.  In division 18, Wheatbelt Development Commission, four questions were asked, three by the Opposition 
and one by the Government.  The committee adjourned at 10.00 pm.  I note that no questions were asked on the great 
southern region.  I am not sure whether time expired. 

Mr Sweetman:  Time expired. 

The DEPUTY SPEAKER:  Time expired.  I note that no questions were asked on that day on the great southern region.   

Mr Hyde interjected. 

The DEPUTY SPEAKER:  No, that was another committee in the other place. 

Finally, we finished on Friday with division 72, Health, for which six hours were allocated and 72 questions were 
asked, 53 by the Opposition and 19 by the Government.  The sitting was suspended at 11.20 am for a nine-minute break 
and later adjourned at 2.00 pm.   

Comments have been made about the length of time it took members to get the call to ask a question.  I have made some 
comparisons between the health portfolio and other portfolios.  Bearing in mind that six hours were allocated for health 
and 72 questions were asked, six hours were also allocated to the Attorney General’s portfolios, in which 201 questions 
were asked.  In division 29, Justice, 84 questions were asked.  The Deputy Premier’s portfolios were also allocated six 
hours in which 179 questions were asked, 74 in division 9, Treasury and Finance.  The Minister for Consumer and 
Employment Protection, over five hours, fielded 149 questions, 90 of which were on division 26.   

I mentioned those comparisons because a concern was raised about the allocation of questions.  However, members will 
see from a reading of Hansard that some questions were quite lengthy and many complex issues were raised requiring 
detailed answers.  Members, rather than asking questions, often made statements.  That raises the role of the Chair, and 
I suggest that members be more mindful of that matter next year.  We must ensure that members ask questions and 
others answer them in a more succinct way so that we can move on.  I have made those points to address some of the 
queries and the feedback that the committees received.   

I thank members once again for their cooperation.  I particularly thank the President of the Legislative Council for the 
use of the other place.  It was much more agreeable than the Assembly committee room for dealing with bigger 
portfolios.  I again thank the Acting Speakers, who did a marvellous job throughout the week, and the parliamentary 
staff for their support. 
MR PENDAL (South Perth) [4.55 pm]:  I make some brief comments about an item considered in Estimates 
Committee B, particularly to raise concerns about the corporate arm of the Department of Agriculture known as 
AgWest.  The matters I raise are centred around part 4 on page 223 of the Budget Statements.  Members will recall that 
the department has an allocation in the budget this year of $128 million.  The specific issue I raise is the only reference 
to intellectual property, which appears on page 234, and relates to lupin growers.  On page 236 reference is made to 
research and development to enhance the productivity of agriculture.  My remarks go to the heart of that matter. 
This is not the first time that the Department of Agriculture’s intellectual property rights have been raised in this 
Parliament, and it is now two or so years since it was last raised.  My focus today will be very much concentrated on an 
extension of the matter raised in the Parliament three to four years ago.  Several years ago, concerns were raised in the 
Parliament and in the wider media in Western Australia about what had happened in the issue of the loss of intellectual 
property rights to the Pink Lady apple.  I advise members who are unaware of the issue that the Pink Lady apple has 
become an icon around the world today because of the work done and the research developed principally at Manjimup 
by research officers of the Western Australian Department of Agriculture.  Many members will be aware that what 
should have been a great triumph for Western Australia in fact developed into a catastrophic loss to Western Australia, 
when at least four overseas countries beat us to the punch and registered the trademark and the intellectual copyright of 
our own apple. 
Mr Omodei interjected. 
Mr PENDAL:  Indeed.  If I recall correctly, those countries were Argentina, France, the United Kingdom and the 
United States of America.  I also recall that, over time, the Western Australian Government has been able to resuscitate 
that rather drastic position in three of those countries.  We were able to recover our position and we regained what at 
that time looked like a loss.  The reality is that in the USA, which is the largest of all the markets, the Government 
failed to reverse that appalling record; that is, the Americans beat us to our own product.  It would be almost impossible 
for anyone to compute the loss to the Western Australian Treasury of the royalties and revenue that might otherwise 
have flowed had people been doing their job.   
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If that were not bad enough, and if it were not sufficient to trigger the Auditor General’s intervention in the question of 
the loss of intellectual property rights, what some people fear will happen should be enough to force a reassessment of 
the way we value research and the intellectual property that should flow from it.  There are real fears that the Pink Lady 
fiasco will be repeated with the Ben 18/8 apple.  There are real and substantial fears that, unless the Department of 
Agriculture gets on top of the situation, a greater loss will be sustained by Western Australian taxpayers when we might 
otherwise have enjoyed huge gains.  It is important to understand that we are not talking about the private sector; we are 
talking about taxpayers’ funds being allocated to the Department of Agriculture so that research will reap substantial 
returns for Western Australian taxpayers.   

In the face of the abject failure by the department with regard to the Pink Lady project, the research, marketing and 
intellectual property components of the Ben 18/8 project have been handballed to the Australian Apple and Pear 
Growers Association.  I do not think one could find a more illustrative vote of no confidence on the part of the 
Department of Agriculture.  It is almost intimidated at the prospect of success.  

Mr Kobelke:  When did that happen?  

Mr PENDAL:  It is happening as we speak.  It has come to a head in the past 18 months; that is, since the transfer.  I 
find it particularly offensive that what should be a benchmark of success will in all likelihood be a display of the 
Department of Agriculture’s lack of confidence in the product it helped to develop with money allocated by this 
Parliament.   

I have taken it upon myself to have the matter referred to the Auditor General to see whether he can instigate a fresh 
inquiry; that is, in addition to the inquiry he carried out in 1999.  I note that the member for Riverton is in the Chamber.  
He is the Chairman of the Economics and Industry Standing Committee.  On behalf of the people who have approached 
me, I have sent him a letter similar to that which I sent to the Auditor General, suggesting that his committee has a role 
in establishing whether we are on the verge of losing another huge opportunity.  It may be an opportunity for the 
standing committee and the Auditor General, who is an officer of this Parliament, to collaborate to find the answer to 
that question.   

The Auditor General took an interest in agricultural intellectual property some years ago.  He gave the Parliament a 
perspective that should have stopped members in their tracks.  We are talking about research in Western Australia 
costing in excess of $100 million.  The Auditor General’s “Public Sector Performance Report 1999” refers to the 
management of assets, and intellectual property is a key component of those assets, particularly in this day and age of 
the global market.  The report states - 

Government agencies spend at least $96 million per year on various types of research or development activities 
that may give rise to ‘intellectual property’ (IP).  In addition to this amount, agencies engage in activities such 
as the creation of training and advertising materials, databases and computer programs which may also be the 
subject of IP protection.   

I am not concerned at this stage about advertising material, databases and computer programs.  The Auditor General 
quantified the potential risk to Western Australia as follows  - 

The financial returns available from the successful commercialisation of IP could be lost if agencies fail to: 

•  consider whether any of their projects or activities will result in the creation of some form of IP; and 

•  take adequate steps to protect and preserve the value of IP assets.   
He then goes on to say -  

In addition to loss of financial returns, Western Australian industry may lose important business opportunities 
if agencies do not effectively commercialise their IP.   

The Auditor General later effectively answers his own question.  In respect of the Pink Lady apple issue he said - 
Mr Kobelke:  Which report was it? 
Mr PENDAL:  It was a 1999 report; it is very recent.  The then opposition spokesperson on agriculture took a very keen 
interest in this topic.  The Auditor General said - 

 . . . the move away from AGWEST’s traditional focus as a provider of a range of cost-free services towards 
some emphasis on IP exploitation means that AGWEST needs to - 

•  conduct formal assessments or evaluations (‘business planning’) of the commercial costs and benefits 
of exploiting its IP assets;  

•  develop commercial expertise to exploit its IP and to access appropriate legal advice; 

•  conduct regular reviews of its IP portfolio and reassess protection and commercialisation strategies in 
response to changing needs and industry conditions; and 

•  maintain adequate records of revenue and expenditure associated with commercialisation.  
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I have asked the Auditor General what has happened to the four benchmarks set three years ago.   

The same report traces the terrible story of how the Pink Lady project was transformed from a potential windfall for 
Western Australia into a fiasco.  The Auditor General states -  

•  Due to limited experience with plant breeders’ rights legislation and uncertainty about industry 
acceptance, AGWEST did not apply for plant breeders’ rights in Australia to the Cripps Pink variety.   

That is associated with the trademark Pink Lady.   

He went on to say -  

•  In Argentina, France, UK and the USA, other organisations successfully filed applications for the 
Pink Lady® trademark before AGWEST.  In all but the USA ownership of these trademarks has been 
recovered by negotiation with the relevant parties.   

He is saying that after we made a mess of it, we had to fight very hard to recover in those three countries.  He 
continues -  

•  In 1998, AGWEST successfully defended its . . . rights in legal action against an infringement of its 
Cripps Pink variety rights in the USA.   

This is the final part of the matter that I wanted to raise before the budget was finally given approval.  It begs the 
question of whether anything has changed.  If it has not changed as a result of the Auditor General’s report, there is a 
responsibility on the part of the Government to say in this House why it has not changed.  There is a responsibility in a 
collaborative sense with the Auditor General for the standing committee of this House to make an examination of the 
kind that I am talking about.   

As someone pointed out to me, when we lost the rights to the Pink Lady apple, we did not lose just the apple.  Hundreds 
of millions of trees are being planted in other countries and little or no benefit is being returned to Western Australia.  I 
am told that more than just the fresh apples are involved.  Associated flow-on and by-product industries have been 
given up, including the industries for apple pies, which would go down particularly well in the United States, apple 
juices, apple milks and other products.  If they are accumulated, they can run potentially to hundreds of millions of 
dollars in annual sales, and many millions of dollars to the Western Australian Treasury by way of proper royalties.   

I am told that the department regards the Ben 18/8 apple as having no established market and as not having performed 
to international standards.  This is the same department that dropped the ball on the Pink Lady.  I do not know whether 
the evidence I am being given is substantial.  I believe it to be, and that is why I am raising it in this place.  I think that 
the Auditor General and the Economics and Industry Standing Committee should be in a position to call this person as a 
witness to determine whether the Department of Agriculture has learned any lessons.  It is the view of the people who 
have come to see me that the Ben 18/8 is the only apple with the potential to return a royalty to Western Australian 
taxpayers.  That is a very sad situation.  These people take the view that it has an extraordinary and exciting commercial 
potential, which seems to have been bypassed in this apparent science cringe in which the intellectual concepts are 
discovered in Western Australia and then are lost to other parts of Australia or the world because there is not sufficient 
scrutiny and diligence on the part of the Government to bring home the bacon.   

In summary, it is a serious situation.  The person who has come to see me is adamant.  We do not need to be on the 
verge of losing our Pink Lady mark II in the form of the Ben 18/8 apple.  It is not something that should appeal just to 
members of this Parliament who represent the agricultural region and who live in those areas.  It should appeal as a 
serious issue to every member, metropolitan or country, who is offended by the notion of intellectual concepts and 
property moving out of Western Australia.  Why?  When I asked what was the motive of the department and why it 
would do this, the person made no greater claim than to say that it just failed to read it properly.  It did not have the 
confidence in the products that it should have had.  It did not have the confidence in its own research staff.  There was 
almost a belief that if this variety had been discovered locally at Manjimup, it could not be all that good.  There is also 
the track record that those varieties the department is backing have far less potential, and there is far less excitement 
among the scientists who have brought this to my notice.  This matter was raised with me at about the time of the 
estimates committees, but there was no opportunity to pursue it at the time.  First, I use this occasion to draw it to the 
attention of the House, and to ask that the chairman of that committee treat my request seriously when he receives it.  
Secondly, I hope that the Auditor General will do likewise.  Western Australia has a good track record with an Auditor 
General who is very much on the ball in all respects.  Finally, I hope that a minister in this House conveys to the 
Cabinet or to the Minister for Agriculture that a matter that he thought was of immense importance two or three years 
ago, when he was the shadow minister, is now in danger of falling by the wayside in the same way that happened when 
he was critical of his predecessor.  

MR JOHNSON (Hillarys) [5.15 pm]:  Estimates Committees A and B were very useful.  I thank all members of the 
Liberal Party who took part in the committees.  They made a useful contribution.  I reiterate that the Opposition and the 
Procedure and Privileges Committee are of the view that non-government agencies should be incorporated in the 
estimates committees in future, but not all at once.  More appropriately, perhaps the Opposition could name four and 
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government members could name four, if they so wish.  I know that the Leader of the House does not want the 
Opposition to have it all.  However, it is the Opposition’s job in this place to scrutinise all the expenditure of the 
Executive Government.  That is not likely to be done as vigorously by government members as by opposition members.   

In relation to the comments made by the Deputy Speaker when she presented the reports of Estimates Committees A 
and B, the Opposition is willing to have comfort breaks at certain times throughout the committee hearings.  It is 
unreasonable to expect members to sit through either Estimates Committee A or B for extensive periods without a 
comfort and refreshment break of about 15 minutes.  We do not oppose the idea of set comfort breaks in the estimates 
committees next year.   

I use this opportunity to once again say to the Leader of the House that we expect to be able to scrutinise certain non-
government agencies next year.  The most important organisation that comes to mind at the moment is the Western 
Australian Government Railways Commission, which is responsible for the largest infrastructure project this State has 
seen for many years.  That project will cost about $1.4 billion.  My view is that it will blow out to nearly $2 billion.  
That is an enormous amount of Western Australian taxpayers money.  It is essential for the Opposition to be able to 
scrutinise that sort of expenditure through the estimates committees.  It is the only avenue through which we can ask 
detailed questions.  Chief executive officers and their administrative staff are in attendance to answer the more detailed 
questions that ministers probably would not know, and I would not expect them to know those answers.  It is essential 
that agencies such as the Western Australian Government Railways Commission, the Water Corporation, Homeswest 
and maybe one or two others be taken into consideration when the time comes for the next budget estimates.   

I also place on record my thanks to you, Mr Acting Speaker (Mr Edwards), for doing an excellent job during the 
estimates committees.  I also thank the Deputy Speaker, the member for Wanneroo; my colleague the member for 
Southern River, who is an excellent chairman of committees, as I have said many times; and my colleague the member 
for Carine, who did not do quite so much this year because her commitments did not permit her to do so.  I think I have 
covered everyone to whom I would like to express my thanks.  There were problems in some of the estimates 
committee sessions.  I experienced a problem in one of the estimates committees, and that is unfortunate.  Some of my 
colleagues have also expressed to me problems that they experienced in one or two of the estimates committee sessions; 
they were not estimates committees that were chaired by the members whom I have acknowledged so far.  The 
difference between the estimates committees this year and last year is that there was more courteous behaviour on the 
part of committee members and those chairmen of committees whom I have mentioned, and that resulted in a better 
system of estimates committee management.  At a future date I may use another avenue to explore the concerns that I 
have from time to time about the chairing of certain committees.  Today is not the time to do that; but, unless I see some 
improvement, at some time in the future I will be forced to take certain action that I do not really want to take.  Time is 
marching on, and I know one or two other members wish to say a few words on this motion.  

DR CONSTABLE (Churchlands) [5.22 pm]:  I found that the estimates committee process this year was much 
improved on last year.  Last year seemed very disjointed and longwinded, and it was very difficult to get in more than 
one question every hour.  This year flowed quite smoothly.  Members who asked questions had the ability to develop a 
theme, and that went really well.  One of the problems we always have, and it was a problem again this year, is that 
some of the answers that are given by ministers are far too long.  Ministers sometimes like to waffle on certain subjects 
and make all sorts of grand ministerial statements instead of sticking with the exact questions that are asked.  Perhaps 
we can forgive them for that some of the time, but not all of the time. 

I found it a bit frustrating that the timetable provided a number of clashes for me.  On the Wednesday I had to try to be 
in two places at once throughout the entire day in order to ask questions about the portfolio areas about which I wanted 
to ask questions.  I ask the Leader of the House whether next year the draft timetable can be drawn up much earlier than 
it was this year so that we can look at those clashes and have a bit more time to sort them out.  It is difficult to be in two 
places at once, although I am getting better at that now I have had some practice this year.  One way of solving that 
problem may be to allow more hours in the timetable.  I know ministers do not want to do that, but when we consider 
the importance of the budget we only scratch the surface in the estimates committees.  Members have the opportunity to 
ask a lot of questions on notice afterwards, but the estimates committees and the face-to-face contact with ministers and 
senior members of government departments is a great way of questioning the budget.  I would like more time allocated 
to that process if at all possible.   

I found also that the use of the Council Chamber this year was a great improvement over a select committee room.  It 
was much easier and more comfortable for everyone concerned to be in that venue than in a select committee room.  I 
hope that can be arranged again next year, because it was exceptionally good. 

In summary, I found the estimates committee process much better than last year.  I had the opportunity to ask more 
questions; and I am sure everyone else felt that was the case.  It went much more smoothly. There were problems with 
the timetable.  I encourage the use of the Council Chamber.  If we could encourage ministers to be more succinct in 
their answers, perhaps more questions could be asked.   

MR BOARD (Murdoch) [5.25 pm]  I want to make a few comments about the estimates committee process, in 
particular Estimates Committee B.  I will deal particularly with the health portfolio, which was a six-hour session, and I 
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will highlight a number of issues, I hope in a constructive way.  I commend the Deputy Speaker for her report, which I 
found fairly accurate.  I also commend the Government for trying to expedite the estimates committee process, and for 
using the Assembly and Council Chambers, which I found very beneficial, particularly for the health portfolio.   

The Minister for Health had between 25 and 30 advisers, which we would expect in such a large portfolio, with many 
issues to be addressed.  However, during that six-hour period, as the Deputy Speaker indicated, only 72 questions were 
asked.  Although the Deputy Speaker indicated that 53 questions went to the Opposition and 19 to the Government, the 
reality is that many of the answers from the Government were extremely long.  Therefore, the number of questions that 
were asked by each side does not indicate the amount of time that the Opposition and the Government had.  I do not say 
this as a criticism, but on occasion, five or six different advisers commented on the same question, because each adviser 
wanted to add a comment; and sometimes five minutes was spent on one answer.  At one stage I looked at my watch, 
and one answer from the Government had taken 15 minutes, because the minister had handballed the question to five or 
six advisers. 

The appropriation Bill is probably the most important Bill to come before the Parliament, yet the committee process for 
the examination of that Bill is different from that for a normal Bill, in which we normally have an exchange between the 
minister and a member of Parliament, and members can follow a theme or develop an issue and can ask repetitive-type 
questions on the same subject.  We cannot do that in the estimates committee, because by the time five or six other 
people have asked a question, things have moved on and there is no opportunity to explore and debate an issue of 
importance.  I find that strange, considering the importance of the estimates committees and of putting the appropriation 
Bill through the Parliament.  I am not criticising the Government, because it is following a process that has been in 
place for some time; and, if anything, it has improved that process.  However, I found the process flawed when in 
government, and I say the same in opposition.  It is very difficult, because of the number of advisers and the rotating 
nature of the questions, for opposition and other members to work through the budget in detail and explore an issue for 
any length of time; hence we end up having to put on notice questions that we could have asked in the Chamber, or we 
have to find other ways of gaining that information.  That does not do the Parliament or the estimates committee process 
justice.  It also means that people who want to read the debate in Hansard - because this is a public process as well - are 
denied the exploration of issues that need to be explored through the estimates committee process.  As I said at the 
outset, I do not criticise the Government for that.  This Government is continuing with the process that is in place, but if 
we want to use the committee process when dealing with the appropriation Bills to obtain information and explore 
issues that are of interest to members and the community, we should look at it.  It is a question of whether we really 
want to use that process properly.  If we do, and if that is what we as a Parliament intend to do, the Government should 
look at whether the process should be further refined.  Questions and answers could have time limits, similar to those in 
debates in this place.  The Opposition could be given a time frame within which to examine an issue, rather than have 
questions rotating around six different members so that we do not have the opportunity to explore issues to their 
conclusion.  There are many ways in which this process could be better used to extract the required information.  I thank 
the Government for the opportunity to participate in discussion on the committee process. 

MR TRENORDEN (Avon - Leader of the National Party) [5.31 pm]:  I will make some comments on the estimates 
process.  I ask the Leader of the House to take into account some of my history: I spent 12 years as a member of the 
Public Accounts Committee and eight years as chairman, during which time we looked constantly at the budget.  On 16 
June 1998, the current Premier, as then Leader of the Opposition, asked a question of the then Premier, Richard Court.  
He said -  

 . . . budget papers are misleading and lacking in financial transparency . . . the Budget does not give members 
of Parliament enough information about where money is being spent? 

He then alluded to an attack on the budget presentation by government members, and concluded by asking -  

 . . . what action does he intend to take to improve next year’s budget presentation? 

I make that point, because for as long as I have been a member of this House that has been the argument about the 
budget papers.  Interestingly, government members were also criticising the budget papers, the presentation of which is 
an important matter.  The budget papers have a dual purpose: they are used by us, and they are also used by other 
Treasuries in Australia, private interests, academics and others.  There is a conflict in that process.  Since we have 
moved from a cash system to an accrual presentation of accounts, accountability has been lost.  This has not been 
deliberate.  I have nothing but admiration for Treasury officers who have worked diligently over the years to try to 
make the budget papers presentable to members of Parliament.  That is a difficult process.  Let us face it, members 
come from different backgrounds; some of us can read balance sheets, but others cannot.  I would never criticise a 
member for not being able to read a balance sheet or for not getting involved in an in-depth reading of the budget 
papers, because it is hardly scintillating material; however, it is a very important part of the process. 

I will make a few comments about how we can make the budget papers more accountable and more informative.  I have 
been looking at this matter for some years.  The Premier and the Treasurer could start by looking at the education 
portfolio, which could be a great deal more accountable.  The coalition’s last education budget was made up of seven 
outputs: preprimary, primary, secondary, residential agricultural education, isolated and distant education, education for 
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students who require non-innovative education and senior college education.  This year’s budget had two outputs: 
primary and secondary.  Going from seven outputs to two outputs is a substantial reduction in accountability for the 
second biggest budget division.  It makes it a lot more difficult for members who have an interest in education, and that 
probably includes all 57 members of this House.  That is a reasonable criticism of the budget process.  Education has a 
$2 billion budget, but the budget papers contain no mention of residential agricultural education or isolated and distance 
education, expenditure on which amounts to more than $20 million.  There is no mention of expenditure on services for 
students who have special needs and disability problems, which amounts to $65 million.  It is important that members 
are able to dig into the budget papers and find out what they want to know.  It is not acceptable to have only two outputs 
for a budget division with expenditure of $2 billion. 
Mr Acting Speaker (Mr Edwards) will be in agreement with me, because in every agency there is a lack of distinction 
between city and country appropriations.  Those of us with an interest in rural Western Australia cannot delve into the 
budget papers and extract programs and activities that relate to the country.  Many agencies are connected with that 
appropriation.  The budget papers should contain a page with an appropriation based on regional development 
commissions.  There must be a reason for doing these things, and it would be logical to ask agencies to list their 
expenditure in clusters or to list accumulations of expenditure within regional development commissions.  That 
information would be useful not only for you, Mr Acting Speaker, and me, but also for the regional development 
commissions and the shires within those commissions.  It is important that that information be provided.  Some 
agencies will say that they do not have the capacity to do that.  I would prefer that the agencies with the capacity to do 
so supply the information, and those that do not have that capacity could indicate that, and we could deal with them at a 
later date.  The whole purpose of the estimates is to make the Government of the day accountable to the House, and it is 
a very important process.  It has always been my view that the estimates are the worst part of the government process.  
We in this House have debated these issues on many occasions and I do not intend to debate them now.  We should be 
acting to improve the estimates procedure as best we can. 
During a number of estimates hearings, we were told that expenditure on programs such as the salinity strategy was 
apportioned across more than one agency.  That argument was used to try to pass the buck between different ministers.  
When multi-agency delivery of programs occurs, there is no clear appreciation of what is happening on important issues 
such as salinity.  We should be able to follow serious issues such as salinity through the budget papers, even though 
funding is apportioned across a number of agencies.  Salinity is a good example of an issue that involves a number of 
agencies.  One should not need to be Einstein to work those things out from the budget papers.  Literally thousands of 
people outside this House have an interest in that issue.  They should be able to pick up the budget papers and read 
about it for themselves, and not have to take my word for it or that of the Leader of the Opposition, a minister or some 
spokesman from this side.  They should be able to find that information for themselves so that they can satisfy 
themselves about what happens to the money.  I am critical that in the Budget Statements people are not able to follow 
the expenditure across agencies to arrive at a global figure on, for example, salinity measures.   
The issue of major achievements has been around forever.  Some of the major achievements in the budget papers this 
year, as in previous years, are appalling.  They are motherhood statements that mean nothing at all.  From memory, the 
Financial Administration and Audit Act was passed in 1985.  Some 17 years after the passage of that Act, which 
established the guidelines for budget outcomes, it is time we got those things down pat.  Either we present the 
information in such a way that people can easily follow the system of achievements and outcomes in a budget, or we do 
as the Canadians have done and delete those statements.  The Canadians are yet to agree that including motherhood 
statements is of any value at all.  Those type of statements just waste the time of the Estimates Committee because 
members ask global questions about them and go on a fishing expedition when they should not have to.  Major 
achievement statements should provide a description of the major achievements; they should not be motherhood 
statements.  Some years ago the Auditor General tried to clamp down on these types of statements, and it is time for 
him to do it again.  I do not want to pick on the Auditor General because I have great respect for him.  Nevertheless, we 
cannot allow agencies to make statements about major achievements that are far too general.  Output descriptions are 
also inadequate and require further questions during the Estimates Committee to work out what they are about.   
The budget papers must be developed more sharply so that when members read the budget papers, they have a clearer 
idea of what they mean.  It is important that Treasury take on board that message and not allow agencies to provide 
inadequate output descriptions; they must be clear and concise.  If they are not clear and concise, we must question why 
they are there at all.  Some tables - for example, the relationship to government strategic objectives - are little more than 
major achievement statements.  Sections within the budget papers are too broad and are too much like motherhood 
statements to be of any real value to the budget papers; they must be tightened up.   
Some tables, such as key effective indicators, are also too subjective to be useful.  It all goes back to the FAAA.  After 
17 years of the operation of the FAAA, we must either operate the major achievement statements more effectively or 
get rid of them.  The Leader of the House must do this because he has his hands on the levers.  The Premier and the 
Treasurer must go back to Treasury and demand that the budget papers be improved.  They must do that not because the 
Opposition thinks this is a conspiracy - I do not - but because we want better budget papers.  They are becoming thicker 
each year.  We cannot control that.  However, if they are thicker, the content should be better.  All of us must ensure 
that the content of future budgets is better than it has been.   
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The Economic and Fiscal Outlook remains the best publication of the budget documents.  It is an important document.  
For members who do not spend a lot of time reading the budget papers, I suggest they put the Economic and Fiscal 
Outlook document in the drawer - 

Ms McHale:  By their bedside. 

Mr TRENORDEN:  I would not suggest that unless they are having trouble sleeping.  However, members should keep it 
nearby because it contains good information.  It can be used to demonstrate what I was talking about when I referred to 
agency papers.  It is more concise than the agency papers, which makes it easier to find where money has come from 
and where it is going.  

We congratulate Treasury for putting the budget on a CD-ROM.  The previous Government started to implement that 
process, but that is neither here nor there.  The use of CD-ROMs is a very good idea.  It has been suggested that we 
could do without them.  However, country members cannot do without them because many Internet users in the country 
have such a slow connection to the Internet that it is hard for them to download large amounts of information.  Rural 
users must have the budget information available on CD-ROM.  In future, the CD-ROM must list the page numbers of 
the Budget Statements so that one can be related to the other.  

Question put and passed. 

APPROPRIATION (CONSOLIDATED FUND) BILL (NO. 1) 2002 
Third Reading 

MR KOBELKE (Nollamara - Leader of the House) [5.46 pm]:  I move on behalf of the Treasurer - 

That the Bill be now read a third time. 

MR MARSHALL (Dawesville) [5.46 pm]:  In speaking to the appropriation Bill, I remind the Government that the 
penny has dropped for the public.  It has suddenly realised that it is disgruntled at the significant increases in payroll 
tax, land tax and stamp duty.  Incidentally, they are all broken election promises.  The public should be disgruntled 
because as well as increases in those three items, water, sewerage and drainage charges have increased by 3.5 per cent; 
compulsory third-party premiums have increased by two per cent; motor vehicle registration fees have increased by five 
per cent; parking levies in the central business district and probate fees have all increased; transport costs are up 2.6 per 
cent; and water rates are up by 2.8 per cent.  The Government increased all those charges after it went to the polls 
promising the people of Western Australia that there would be no increases at all.   

Of these increases, I am particularly concerned by the Government’s decision two weeks ago to increase stamp duty on 
the purchase of houses and motor vehicles.  This imposition disadvantages the young people of Western Australia, and 
it could also be considered an imposition on the elderly people of Western Australia.  The extra stamp duty of $295 on a 
moderately priced property of $150 000 does not sound like much until people must pay it.  The stamp duty on a 
$15 000 vehicle was increased by $37.50.   

I have previously mentioned the highs and lows of our State.  The State is overburdened with elderly people, although 
there is a growing population of younger people.  Elderly people are moving out of their four-bedroom homes and are 
buying smaller ones because they do not want to maintain, and no longer need, a big house.  Now when they move 
house, they will be taxed at a higher rate.  We should be looking after the elderly people of this State.  On the other 
hand, young people who have saved a small deposit for a moderately priced house are also being taxed.  I have not yet 
referred to the $500 000 houses and the extraordinary increases in stamp duty that must now be paid on them.   
Little fish are sweet.  The little people will be taxed the most.  Elderly people cannot afford these tax increases because 
their pensions are being depleted.  Every day, people retire who will have to carefully watch their money and their 
retirement plans.  I know people getting to the age of 65 years who have sold their $280 000 house and bought a 
$150 000 townhouse.  After bringing up children, and for the first time in their lives, they have $100 000 to spend.  
People are disgruntled.  They understand that the youth of today, the future of Western Australia, are not given a chance 
to get going. 
Other budget items affect my electorate.  The delay in the development of the Perth to Mandurah rail link is costing 
Western Australia taxpayers millions of dollars and has cost the people of Mandurah thousands of dollars.  The original 
route was to cost $1.2 billion but has blown out to $1.4 billion.  That is within only two years of this Government 
coming to office. 
The ACTING SPEAKER (Mr Edwards):  Order, Members!  There are too many conversations in the House.  I am 
finding it difficult to hear the member although he is quite close to me.  Hansard is also finding it difficult to hear.  
Members should be quieter or conduct their conversations outside the House. 
Mr MARSHALL:  I must say that $400 million is a very large amount just to change the direction of a track to save 12 
minutes in commuting time.  The money will come from taxpayers’ pockets.  The delay is costing thousands of dollars 
to people in my electorate because the rail link will promote tourism and the hospitality industry will blossom.  The rate 
of employment will improve and the retail and housing sector will explode when the rail link is in place.  In addition to 
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that, there will be numerous other business opportunities.  The rail link was planned to be finished by 2005.  
Completion has now been promised by 2006, although it might be 2007.  Every year of delay sets back the city I 
represent.   

The rail link will close the gap between regional and metropolitan areas in sport.  That will be a big achievement.  
Parents in country electorates whose children have sporting ability must taxi their children to and from events in the 
metropolitan area.  It is a huge expense and takes up a lot of time.  The delay in the completion of the rail link is a cost 
to all talented people who play sport and the people who have to transport them to the city.  The rail link will bring 
benefits to education and employment.  When the rail link arrives, there will be varied lifestyle benefits.  I put the 
emphasis on “when”.  The delay is costing money. 

When the rail link is complete, accommodation and car hire businesses will flourish.  They will benefit immensely from 
overseas and interstate visitors using Mandurah instead of Perth as the departure point for self-drive tours through the 
Peel region and the south west.  All the projected gains from the rail link have been negated by the Government’s 
inability to plan the project efficiently.  The Peel Region Tourism Association recently printed 80 000 copies of a Peel 
holiday planner for distribution in Australia and overseas.  If the brochure were able to feature access to Mandurah by a 
rail link, it would bring more tourists to the city.  Because of the uncertainty, it could not do that.  Each year, a crab 
festival and boat show are held in Mandurah, which attracts many daytrippers.  However, the rail link will bring even 
more.   

Peel Thunder Football Club has another year in the West Australian Football Commission competition, and after next 
year it should be permanent.  When an application for a licence for the club was made, we said that the West Perth 
Football Club could travel to Pinjarra by rail.  It would be a good way to promote football.  It would be similar to the 
way in which soccer fans travel throughout England; they use trains extensively.  The crowds are very colourful; they 
all get off the trains in large numbers and display their coloured scarves.  It is a fantastic way to travel to a sporting 
fixture.  The delayed rail link is postponing all those pleasures. 

The Peel deviation will cost $340 million and the first stage is set to cost $165 million.  It has been put on the 
backburner by the Government; it was not recognised in this budget.  The minister stood in the House and big-noted 
herself by saying that she had arranged for the deviation to be called a road of national importance.  As such, she said 
that the State could tap into federal funds.  She challenged me to help her.  Of course, I will help her.  However, the 
State Government should not rely on federal funds to get the most important project in the south west and the Peel 
region going.  When checking with federal authorities, I discovered that the minister had not done the detailed planning 
and design.  In fact, the project has not been accepted by federal authorities as a road of national importance.  I think a 
few little white ones have been spoken; there is a bit of dodging in the shadows.  The minister owes the House an 
apology. 

Local members have fought for the improvement of the school bus services in the Peel region.  After five years, the 
services are finally in place.  However, the Minister for Planning and Infrastructure has decreed that any service south 
of the Dawesville Channel, along the Old Coast Road, is classified metropolitan.  As such, students are charged a fee to 
attend school.  That is now accepted; however, if the services are classified as a metropolitan run, why are there no 
services on weekends as in the metropolitan area?  It is clear from examining the appropriations that issues have not 
been thought through.  The area has been deemed metropolitan to raise money to subsidise other areas of waste.  The 
area is not given the proper services that metropolitan people expect and get.  I want that discrepancy rectified. 

Another area in which my electorate was shortsheeted in the appropriations is in the removal of family support centres 
from shopping centres.  The Mandurah centre was the best in the State; in fact, it pioneered many ideas and was very 
successful.  It was located in the local shopping forum; people came to it like bees to honey.  Everyone in the Peel 
region travels to the shopping centre for shopping.  The family support centre was easily accessible as all the bus routes 
go to the centre.  It was easily accessible to parents who needed support.  Unfortunately, the rents in the shopping centre 
are quite high.  The work was sacrificed to save rental costs.  It has been replaced by some highflying idea first 
promoted in Albany.  It was not working in Albany so standards were dropped for other centres.  People should never 
change a winning game.  The game has been changed because the State is not able to work out the appropriation of 
funds.   

The Mandurah Police Station was due for extensions.  The police work in primitive conditions.  Because they do a 
marvellous job, they have the right to squeal about the facilities in which they work.  Offices are overcrowded and there 
is not enough monitoring of cells to ensure there are no deaths in custody.  Once again, funds for the extensions were 
overlooked.  I have fought for a long time to establish a police station in Falcon.  The need was recognised by former 
senior officers in the Mandurah region.  However, because the allocation of funds is tight due to waste in other areas 
such as the rail link, which has not been worked out properly, other services, including the building of the Falcon police 
station, have been cut.   

The same has happened with coastal care funding.  Huge storms hit our magnificent coast every year and there is 
widespread erosion.  The coalition Government used to provide funds to help coastal communities repair storm damage.  
This Government took those funds away last year and they have not been reintroduced.  The first storms have already 
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struck; there has been destruction at Avalon beach and Falcon.  We are expecting more at Tims Thicket and White Hill 
beaches, which are superb Western Australian beaches.  There is no money for them.  I am not complaining for myself; 
I am complaining for the ratepayers and the environmentalists who look after the sand dunes by planting shrubs that 
hold sand in place and fight erosion.  I am also fighting for the City of Mandurah, which has to subsidise these 
activities.  The ratepayers are paying, not this Government. 

Sitting suspended from 6.00 to 7.00 pm 

Mr MARSHALL:  Another budget item that was lost to the Dawesville area was the infill sewerage program.  Funding 
for this was slashed last year.  Again, we thought that some money would come in this year.  We believed that that 
allocation would be tentative and provided mainly to let us know that the program will continue.  The areas that should 
have received infill sewerage last year are Falcon, Halls Head, Dawesville and Riverview.  The Government slashed the 
programs to these areas to save $170 million.  That does not sound much, but the infill sewerage program is very 
important for the conservation of the pristine land centred between the ocean and the estuary.  We are very disappointed 
about that.  Further, that $170 million did not come back to my electorate.  The sea rescue group that services the large 
waterways in the Mandurah area needs money but did not receive any in the budget.  Neither the Department of 
Fisheries nor the Department of Transport offices in my area got extra staff.   

In conclusion, I finish as I started - with the word “disgruntled”.  The people of my electorate are disgruntled with this 
Government and they feel they are being ripped off.  I know that the people of Western Australia are very disgruntled 
with this Government.  They are feeling ripped off by all the extra charges that have been imposed on them.  It is fitting 
that we are talking about the appropriation Bills, because most of the people in the arena do not believe that this 
Government knows how to appropriate its money correctly.  They are not getting what they deserve.  The major issues 
that have been discussed in the Parliament in the past two years have been run by minor groups, such as gay and lesbian 
reform.  We are not happy with this budget. 

MR O’GORMAN (Joondalup) [7.02 pm]:  I congratulate the Treasurer and the ministers for a realistic and achievable 
budget.  I will highlight projects in the Joondalup area that were announced in this budget or have been continued from 
previous estimates.  One of the major projects in Joondalup is the advanced works on the Mitchell Freeway extension to 
Shenton Avenue, for which $5 million has been allocated.  That was an election commitment, and I congratulate the 
Government for delivering on that.  About $307 000 has been allocated for the Western Power feeder upgrade for 
Mullaloo, which will see infrastructure in the suburb of Mullaloo upgraded to prevent any future loss of power.  Arena 
Joondalup has received $264 000 for maintenance and upgrades.  It is an important facility in the northern suburbs and 
provides sporting amenities to a number of sporting clubs, including West Perth Football Club - the Falcons - which I 
hope will stay in Joondalup.  We have worked very hard to keep it there.  I congratulate West Perth on its recent wins in 
the West Australian Football League.  The budget contains $1.35 million for the new dental hospital, including 
$100 000 for planning this year.  This follows the debacle in which the previous Government closed the Perth Dental 
Hospital without making arrangements for dental patients to be accommodated elsewhere.  I am glad to say that this 
Government is planning for dental services to be delivered throughout the State and the metropolitan area.  Planning is 
going ahead for a facility in Joondalup, and a further allocation has been made for capital works to commence in 2003-
04.  The establishment of a licensing centre in Joondalup is long overdue and has been talked about for many years.  It 
is now coming to fruition and will open in early July.  I pass that facility every day, and much work is going on.  People 
from the far northern suburbs will have an easily accessible and excellent centre for delivering licensing information 
and services.  The budget also contains $600 000 for additional parking at the Joondalup train station.  This money has 
been handed to the City of Joondalup council to provide extra parking in and around the Joondalup train station.  I have 
seen the plans of the City of Joondalup, and I am very impressed with them.  I am also impressed that the council has 
already gone out to tender on that project.   

This Labor Government has not forgotten small business.  It is supporting the local business enterprise centre with 
further funding of $60 000.  As a Labor Government, we have delivered all round - not just in our traditional areas.  We 
are also looking after small business, and that is a great thing for a Labor Government.   

Funding in the training portfolio will add to Joondalup’s role as a city of learning.  That has been promoted by the 
council, and I also would like to promote it.  Joondalup has a great educational precinct that houses Edith Cowan 
University, West Coast College of TAFE and the police academy.  Those three institutions are practically co-located 
because they are so close to each other.  Joondalup is also home to a number of private providers, including the 
Australian Institute for University Studies.  I congratulate the Government on maintaining Joondalup as the learning 
city.  It is a great way to market Joondalup into the future, both at home and overseas.  The sum of $1.2 million has 
been allocated to further integrate the West Coast College of TAFE into the educational precinct.  That will largely 
involve the upgrading of car parking and lighting to make it safer for students attending the technical and further 
education institution.  Having worked at Curtin University of Technology, I am aware that security in and around car 
parks is a major issue, particularly for students and female staff.  The Government has also decided that the TAFE 
campus at Carine will be closed.  Many of its courses will be moved to the West Coast College of TAFE or Central 
TAFE.  The idea is to deliver services where they are needed.  It is difficult for many students to get to the Carine 
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campus.  I believe the previous Government would have made exactly the same decision.  Carine is too far out of the 
way to continue to attract students.   

The Eddystone Avenue bridge over the freeway is receiving federal money; however, I am glad to say that the State 
Government continues to support the Joondalup area by ensuring that the bridge work goes ahead.  I have noticed in the 
past few mornings that quite a lot of work is going on in that area.  Our bridge and the associated roadworks should be 
completed in the not-too-distant future.  I also thank the local council for contributing to that project and making sure 
that it gets under way. 

During the estimates process I participated in the division dealing with disability services.  The plight of people with 
disabilities and their accommodation, social and employment needs were made clear to us.  We had also been made 
aware of these issues through lobbying over the past number of months.  At this point, I congratulate the Developmental 
Disability Council of Western Australia on its excellent adopt-a-politician program.  Last night I had the honour of 
being adopted by a local family in my area - the Crothers family and their daughter Wendy.  I am happy to be part of 
that program.  I encourage any member who wishes to learn more about the disability services sector to participate.  It is 
a great way to get first-hand knowledge, as well as being an excellent experience for members.  It will give members an 
opportunity to help a particular family in their electorate and will give them a broad view of disability services.  People 
with disabilities really need these services.  They are not just numbers; they are actual people.  They probably need us a 
helluva lot more than many other members in the community.  Once again, I congratulate the members of the 
Developmental Disability Council and encourage as many members as possible to become involved in that scheme.  

The budget contains a number of revenue measures.  Mostly, these extend to changes in stamp duty collection, increases 
in conveyancing taxes and increases in stamp duty on the transfer of vehicles.  Over the weeks, since the introduction of 
the budget we have heard a lot of criticism of this method of raising revenue.  However, the State Government does not 
have a lot of options open to it to raise revenue.  Stamp duty, payroll tax and conveyancing tax are the types of taxes 
that the State Government can collect.   

Taxes were originally raised by the Romans to enable them to conquer other countries.  Historically, taxes were 
imposed by people in power or by wealthy people on poorer people so that they could satisfy their whims and perhaps 
grow their nation.  In Great Britain the lords of the manor taxed the peasants on their estates.  Over many hundreds of 
years we have built up a resistance to paying taxes.  The Government is trying to raise additional revenue to deliver 
services in health, education and in community safety.  The Government is directing dollars pretty reasonably in those 
areas.  Yes, it may be hitting people who cannot afford to pay; however, the Government targets the taxes in a good 
way.  We target them up-front.  If my daughter, my friends or I want to buy a car, we know that we have a certain 
amount of tax to pay up-front to purchase that vehicle.  It is part of the decision-making process on whether we buy that 
vehicle or not.  Need comes into it.  I am sure that people who decide they have sufficient need are happy to wait and 
get that extra few dollars together.  It is the same when purchasing a house.  It is an up-front cost, and people know 
about it.  The State Government has not imposed taxes in the mean, nasty-spirited way that the federal Government has 
done by attacking pharmaceutical benefits and people on pensions who are some of the most needy people in the 
community.  The aim of the State Government in its budget has been to deliver more services to those people.  None of 
us likes tax.  I am sure that we would all be happier not paying tax.  Then again, would we be happy to accept non-
delivery of services throughout this community?  This budget has moved on from the focus of the coalition 
Government, which was to deliver to certain sections of the community.  The current Government has refocused the 
budget to deliver services to people with disabilities and to young people in education, and it has catered for people with 
illnesses through additional funding to hospitals and health care services.  It is important to note that health care 
involves not just hospitals; a raft of services keeps us a healthy society - from fitness right through to the serious surgery 
that takes place in our hospitals.  This budget has addressed emergency services in the best way possible.  I congratulate 
all ministers on working very hard, and the Treasurer and Premier on bringing down a well-balanced budget.   

MR OMODEI (Warren-Blackwood) [7.14 pm]:  Not having had the opportunity to speak on the reports of the 
estimates committees, I would like to make some observations on those and then speak on the third reading of the 
appropriation Bills.  The estimates committee system falls far short of what should happen.   

I commend the member for South Perth for identifying the issue of intellectual property contained within the 
Department of Agriculture in Western Australia.  That issue arises across a number of portfolios including the 
Department of Conservation and Land Management and the Department of Land Administration, which over a number 
of years have sold intellectual knowledge to other countries.  It is not appropriate that the estimates committee debates 
should be constrained to such a short period.  It would be far better for the committees to range over a number of weeks 
while Parliament sits so that we can investigate all the issues in depth.  Two of my main interests, including the Forest 
Products Commission, were debated in the Legislative Council but not in this House.  In the Forest Products 
Commission portfolio alone there will be a huge diminution in the royalties to the State as a result of the Government’s 
forest policy.  That needs to be out in the open so that people can see the impact of those decisions.  Likewise with the 
Water Corporation, which rates people according to access to water and their consumption of water, and with sewerage 
services.  They are large costs to the community.  At a time of major water shortages - albeit today’s weather would 
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have helped the situation somewhat - they are major issues, and they were not debated during the estimates committees.  
That shows me that the budget process falls far short of what should happen.   

I know what has happened historically over a number of years.  The standing committee that looks at this issue needs to 
take that matter into consideration in its assessment of the estimates process.  A minister of the Crown should be more 
than willing to answer any question from members.  It is interesting that government members get the opportunity to 
ask questions, and I understand why.  However, government members can question the minister on any day of the week.  
The estimates debate should be the opportunity for Her Majesty’s Opposition to thoroughly scrutinise the budget.  To 
that extent, the budget outcome confirms a number of things.   

I said last year and I will say it again - I suspect it will not change - that we have a smoke and mirrors budget in which 
funds are double counted and there is an aggregation of amounts.  The regional investment fund is a good example of 
that.  An amount of $15 million that appears in that fund also appears in a number of other budgets and is aggregated so 
that the regional investment fund becomes the total figure.  I can now understand how the Government managed to 
balance its budget and show a surplus.  The Government has reneged on a lot of the commitments and promises that 
were made under previous budgets.  It follows that if the Government delays, obfuscates and reneges it will produce a 
surplus budget.  I am aware of a number of things that happened during the year and of a number of commitments that 
were made that have not come to fruition.   

I am still very concerned at the State’s net debt position and its net worth.  During the eight years of the previous 
Government the net worth of the State improved dramatically from about $15 billion to well over $30 billion.  In that 
same period the debt projections decreased from $8.5 billion to $4.5 billion.  Yes, a number of assets were sold 
including the R&I Bank Ltd as it was known then, the gas pipeline, Westrail and so on, which amounted to about 
$4 billion.  The previous coalition Government retained debt at roughly $8.5 billion over an eight-year period.  By any 
measure, retaining net debt at roughly $8.5 billion was a remarkable achievement, taking into account asset sales.  In 
that period, the net worth of the State increased from about $15 billion to $33 billion.  That was a major achievement 
and probably the best achievement of any State Government in the past 50 years. 
I will talk about current budget projections from the base of a question from the member for Vasse to the Treasurer on 
12 March 2002 and will presume, therefore, that the figures are accurate.  In 1991-92 the net debt was $8.357 billion, 
which went to a low of $4.6631 billion in 1998-99 and grew slightly in the next couple of years.  However, it is 
alarming to note that by 2004-05, although net worth will be $35 billion, net debt will be $6 billion.  That debt will then 
climb by another $300 million or $400 million in 2005-06. 
It concerns me that the people of Western Australia will face a budgetary increase in debt in one term of government of 
$2.5 billion.  If the Labor Party were to win another election, that debt could increase at the same rate over the next 
term, leaving the State of Western Australia, when the conservatives come back, to try to sort that out.  I will be 
working very hard to ensure that we do not have a Labor Government for too long in this State.  The signs are obvious 
already, after a year and a half of a Labor Government, that the State is in a parlous financial position. 
I will deal specifically with issues in my electorate and I will talk about some projects that appear in the budget and 
some that do not.  Spending in the Warren-Blackwood district in the last year of the conservative Government was 
about $22 million, and that is an electorate that takes in the entire south west corner of the State, including the Shires of 
Augusta-Margaret River, Manjimup, Bridgetown-Greenbushes and Nannup.  Those funds were spent mainly on public 
facilities such as hospitals, schools, a courthouse, housing for the aged and roads.  The budgets for all of those areas 
have been cut under the current budget, with a reduction in excess of $60 million for roads.  We know that 80 per cent 
of roads in Western Australia are controlled by local government, which means there will be a major cost shift to local 
government for the upkeep of roads.  The first question from people around Western Australia to whom I talk, as the 
shadow Minister for Local Government and Regional Development, is: what has happened to the road and infill 
sewerage funds?  The $800 million infill sewerage program was brought in by me when I was Minister for Water 
Resources.  I am very proud of that and it was a major achievement of the former Government.  The program cleaned 
up ground water and enabled people to a great degree to subdivide their blocks of land.  It certainly stopped surface 
sewage running down the sides of roads in many suburbs in the metropolitan area and country towns around Western 
Australia.  It allowed business and accommodation to expand and it provided a great multiplier effect for people 
involved in contracting to the infill sewerage program.  It is a major retrograde step and a great shame that this 
Government has gone down the path of reducing and almost eliminating the infill sewerage program. 
I refer now to some specific projects that the Labor Government promised in my electorate.  An icon project called the 
sky jetty was to be built in the Donnelly valley, for which the Labor Party promised $2 million.  The Government has 
since backtracked to the extent that it is prepared to spend only $1 million in the current financial year to the end of 
June 2002.  The communities of Manjimup, Nannup and Bridgetown and state government departments have been 
battling to find out when the Government will commit to that project, bearing in mind that, in its election campaign, it 
committed $2 million to the project and it has now backtracked to committing $1 million.  The total project, including a 
road, will cost about $3 million.  It will be a major regional tourist facility that will draw traffic from Margaret River 
into the karri belt of Manjimup, Bridgetown, Nannup and Pemberton and will create a huge amount of expansion in the 
tourist industry.  The Government must make a decision about that project. 
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At the same time, I congratulate the Government on its recent announcement of funds for the Pemberton recreation 
facility.  A commitment had already been made under the Department of Sport and Recreation of roughly $1.8 million 
for the sports facilities to go under one roof.  The proposal was that the State would provide $700 000 by buying the old 
sports facility for $550 000 and providing a further $150 000 to complete the project.  That commitment would create a 
$2.5 million project, housing under one roof all of the sports facilities such as basketball, netball, squash and other 
sports clubs, as well as a function room and licensed premises.  A project such as that would be the envy of most 
country towns.  It has taken the Government 18 months to make that decision.  I welcome the decision and give due 
credit to the Government for making it, but it should have happened a long time ago along with a decision on the sky 
jetty project.   
Last February, $20 000 was committed to the Pemberton community visitors centre and it has still not been 
forthcoming.  Funding of $100 000 was allocated in the budget for Muirs Highway.  That road has been surveyed three 
times in the past 10 years.  It is the major east-west route between the lower south west and the eastern States.  It has 
major traffic movements with B-trains, log trucks and school buses all travelling on a seven metre wide seal.  Members 
can imagine the large expanse of water at Lake Muir that is adjacent to the road; it is a death trap. 
I left home very early this morning, at 4.30, and travelled up the South Western Highway to Perth.  I do not know why 
more people are not killed on the South Western Highway.  Last Tuesday morning a young fellow died in Yornup.  I 
suspect he fell asleep and hit a tree on a slight bend.  It is amazing, with all the B-trains carrying timber and 
horticultural produce coming up to the city and all the containers going back down to that area, that more people are not 
killed on that road.  I do not wish to even think about it.  Even discussing it concerns me, because I am sure that will 
happen.  It is a very narrow, winding and undulating piece of road.  The coast road has a good deal of dual carriageway 
and a lot of money has been spent on the freeway and the tunnel close to Perth.  A great deal of money will be spent on 
the new railway line to Mandurah, which I question because I believe it is being constructed before its time.  The 
upgrade of Muirs Highway should be done as a matter of urgency.  It has been taken off the road program.  I am talking 
about the South Western Highway, which goes from Bunbury to Boyanup, Donnybrook, Greenbushes, Bridgetown and 
so on.  It is the major route by which a great deal of the produce from the lower south west comes to the city for 
communities in the metropolitan area.  Most of the food in the State of Western Australia currently comes from the 
south west region.  That highway is a death trap.  It is incredible that the State Government has not allocated significant 
funds to improve it.  The budget falls far short of what it should have been.  It appears that the metropolitan area is 
being looked after and country regions are being left out in the cold.  
MS QUIRK (Girrawheen) [7.30 pm]:  During the estimates committee, the member for Churchlands canvassed with 
the Minister for Education her concern for the small number of male teachers in primary schools.  It is a matter about 
which I also have some concerns.  Those concerns were reinforced when I went with the Minister for Education on a 
visit throughout my electorate.  We discovered that the total number of male teachers in primary schools in the 
electorate of Girrawheen comprised only 13 per cent of teachers.  As at 23 August last year, in Western Australia 
generally, 10 021 teachers were employed in government primary schools, of whom only 1 355 were male.  The public 
discourse generally suggests that this gender imbalance is undesirable.  I will shortly address the public call for more 
male teachers.   
I want first to quickly examine some of the factors that have brought about this imbalance.  Among the factors cited are 
the disincentives for males to enter primary school teaching or the disincentives that work against their remaining in 
primary schools, particularly in the early years of primary schooling.  These factors include low salaries, professional 
isolation, promotion of men out of the early years of primary schooling, whether males are suitable for early primary 
school education because of perceptions that females are better nurturers and that males are better disciplinarians and 
are better suited to the latter years of primary schooling, and the concern about child sexual abuse also deters many 
males from entering primary school teaching.   
I was gratified to hear in the estimates committee that the Minister for Education has indicated that the issue is being 
closely examined, and recruitment campaigns are being appropriately targeted.  Research reported by J. Butcher in the 
paper “Teaching - an appealing career choice for school leavers?” discloses that many year 12 male students do not feel 
that teaching, especially in primary schools, is a worthwhile career.  Other studies have found that those who intended 
to choose teaching did so for altruistic reasons rather than for any reason to do with money.  Male respondents said that 
if they were going to go into teaching, it was because they saw themselves as role models.   
The phenomenon of gender disparity in primary school teaching is by no means isolated to Western Australia or for that 
matter to Australia generally, but is common in a number of Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development 
countries.  In 1999, with the exceptions of Denmark and Luxembourg, it was found that 65.1 per cent or more of 
primary teachers in OECD countries were women, with the mean percentage for all OECD countries being 77 per cent.  
Australian Bureau of Statistics figures for Australia indicate that 78 per cent of primary school teachers are female.  It 
looks as though this imbalance will not improve in the short term, as only 26.5 per cent of students currently 
undertaking teaching studies are male.   
Why do we have these concerns about gender imbalance and what are the implications?  Concerns about the short 
supply of male primary school teachers are linked to those relating to the poorer educational outcomes for boys and the 
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so-called feminisation of the teaching work force, and to teacher shortages generally.  There are also major day-to-day 
practical difficulties at schools if not enough male teachers are on hand.  Because of this apprehension, at least two 
recent parliamentary inquiries have been undertaken.  The House of Representatives Standing Committee on 
Employment, Education and Workplace Relations undertook one and the New South Wales Parliament undertook the 
other.  I also understand that the issue was addressed in Western Australia in the 1999 report “Teacher Supply and 
Demand 1999-2005”.   

It is considered that the gender imbalance in the teaching profession translates into an inadequate presence of male role 
models in schools.  In his highly influential book Raising Boys, Steve Biddulph calls for more men of the right kind in 
schools.  This proposition, however, is not universally accepted.  In its submission to the House of Representatives 
inquiry to which I referred earlier, the Australian Education Union rejected this assertion.  It argued that it was more 
important to have good quality teachers with correct pedagogic practices than to necessarily concentrate on gender 
issues.  Limited research suggests that the impact of gender imbalance may be overstated.  A Finnish study, the results 
of which were released earlier this year, suggests that students do not regard gender as relevant.  They were found to 
appreciate good teachers regardless of gender.  Similarly, a United Kingdom study has found that there is no link 
between the number of male teachers in a primary school and student performance.  Similarly, in Australia, Janet Smith 
at the University of Canberra has concluded from her research that the cry that we need more males in primary schools 
is unreflective as it neither critically analyses the needs of children in primary schools nor canvasses the experiences of 
males who have chosen to become teachers.   

What is clear, however, is that the problem is somewhat more complex than it might at first appear and a number of 
aspects need further clarification.  For example, the representation of male teachers in private primary schools is slightly 
higher than in government primary schools.  Is this solely attributable to greater prestige and money or are there other 
reasons?  We often hear the call for teachers to act as male role models for boys because of the prevalence of single-
parent families.  However, does this suggest that girls living in similar environments will not suffer to any significant 
extent?   

Nevertheless, it is clear that there are some very real problems for young males in Australia.  We would be derelict in 
our duty if we did not do everything in our power to conduct an in-depth inquiry into whether these problems are 
connected with educational practice.  These problems include the fact that boys are five times more likely than girls to 
kill themselves; they are more likely to be unemployed; they are much more likely to die in car accidents; they are also 
more inclined to drop out of school before year 12 and, therefore, less likely to go to university; and they are generally 
less literate than their female counterparts.   

Although the greater prevalence of male teachers in primary schools would be useful in reducing the social isolation of 
those teachers who are already there, and would possibly enhance the status of teaching more generally while removing 
the female label of teachers, whether recruitment of more males will achieve the broader educational outcomes which 
we seek is a moot point.  Of paramount importance in achieving optimal educational outcomes is to ensure the 
employment of the highest quality teaching personnel, irrespective of gender.  As Smith notes - 

In an ideal world, our teachers would represent a variety of ways of being and possibilities, and would reflect a 
balance of gender, race, age, class and sexualities. 

Similarly the 1998 Senate inquiry to which I referred concluded - 

. . . the profession should be attempting to attract the best and most suitable people into the profession, 
regardless of gender.  If teachers mirror more accurately the society in which they operate - in terms of gender, 
class and ethnicity - so much the better.  But teaching must remain the primary consideration . . .  

From these matters, I believe we can draw two conclusions: first, that much research still needs to be undertaken to 
more fully understand the implications of the shortage of male teachers in primary schools.  Given its potential 
importance, this should be done as a matter of priority.  Secondly, even if there are no adverse educational outcomes 
from this imbalance, it would seem sensible management practice if we could draw on a wider pool of talent from 
which to recruit teachers.   

The current situation effectively limits available personnel to 50.1 per cent of the community.  Accordingly, some more 
inclusive recruitment practices should be investigated.  For example, as was alluded to in the estimates committee, we 
could explore recruitment of those who are pursuing a second or third career.  This practice is currently proving fruitful 
in parts of the United States.   

Finally, I take this opportunity to acknowledge the exemplary work of principals and their diligent and committed staff 
in the electorate of Girrawheen.  In particular, I refer to Margaret Swain of Alinjarra Primary School, Trish Davis of 
Majella Catholic Primary School, Josh Jashari of Blackmore Primary School, Ken Armstrong of Dryandra Primary 
School, Gary Brown of East Hamersley Primary School, Pedro Cruz of Emmanuel Christian Community School, Doug 
Grasso of Girrawheen Primary School, Suzanne Temple of Glendale Primary School, Julie Woodhouse of Hainsworth 
Primary School, David Price of Koondoola Primary School, Geoff Metcalf of Montrose Primary School, Carlyn Dyer of 
North Balga Primary School, Stan Grabski of Our Lady of Mercy Primary School, Stephen Ker of Waddington Primary 
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School and Ross De Leo of Warriapendi Primary School.  The professionalism and dedication of these principals and 
their staff ensures that the opportunities and life choices available to the young people of Girrawheen, Koondoola, 
Hamersley, Warwick, Balga, Alexander Heights and Mirrabooka are the best possible.  

MR EDWARDS (Greenough) [7.41 pm]:  I take this opportunity to comment on the reports of the estimates 
committees because I was sitting in the Chair at the time they were discussed and had no opportunity to speak.  This is 
only the second time that I have sat through estimates.  I believe there was a far better performance for all this year than 
last year.  I echo the comments of some speakers on my side of the House that ministers seemed to find opportunities to 
speak at length on dorothy dixers asked by government members, which was possibly to the detriment of the 
Opposition.  However, I believe that the whole infrastructure for the estimates committee this year was a lot better than 
it was last year.  I also echo the comments about using the Legislative Council Chamber as well as the Legislative 
Assembly Chamber.  All we can do is improve.  Perhaps the answers just need to be a little sharper.  I believe that we 
have perhaps tied ourselves down too much to a time frame.  Perhaps the estimates committee needs to be spaced over a 
longer time frame, which would give Her Majesty’s Opposition in the Legislative Assembly more time to ask the 
questions that need to be asked of government.  I put those comments forward for thought and consideration for next 
year.   

I turn now to the third reading.  I ask the Government to hold the line on the southern transport corridor to Geraldton 
and on the deepening of the port.  I am aware that some strong, last minute opposition has been voiced by some 
reasonably influential people in the Geraldton region.  However, this project has been on the planning board for six to 
10 years.  It has started to grow some legs in the past three or four years and is now at a stage at which money has been 
put in the budget.  I commend the Government for doing that, but ask it to make sure that the $8 million stays in the 
budget and that the southern transport corridor is not held up because of this opposition.  Equally, I ask that the 
$100 million guaranteed by the Government for the deepening of the port is also not held up.   

The extension of Indian Ocean Drive is another issue that I wish to raise.  It is currently in the news because of the 
request by the Australian Defence Force to use a larger area of a reserve for a firing range.  If Indian Ocean Drive had 
been started in the past 12 months, that request might not have come to fruition.  However, it is now another 
complication that will have some effect or impact on Indian Ocean Drive.  That $33 million would have been well spent 
because it would have brought in some $200 million to $300 million in development to the Jurien Bay area and Moore 
River precinct.  With this added problem, it will probably be much harder for that to now occur.  However, I urge the 
Government not to support the Defence Force proposal to enlarge the firing range but to keep its eye on the ball and 
make sure that Indian Ocean Drive is completed as soon as possible.   

I have already spoken about the downsizing of the Department of Agriculture and the Agriculture Protection Board.  I 
reiterate those comments, because it will have an impact on my electorate and on country electorates in general.  For 
example, a new office complex was built in Geraldton for the Department of Agriculture.  I am sorry to say that I do not 
know how much was spent on that complex, but it would have been a significant amount of money because it is a 
magnificent building.  However, staffing levels do not fill the building.  The Agriculture Protection Board has been 
responsible over the years for skeleton weed and vermin control.  In my area, the staff of the APB has gone from 13 to 
between three and five.  There are now about three full-time and two part-time staff.  That issue needs to be addressed.  
I know that the Minister for Agriculture does not sit in this House.  I urge the Government, through members here, to 
address that issue.  The farming community finds it hard enough to combat the weather and the vagaries of farming 
without basically having the legs cut from beneath it because of the downsizing of departments like the APB, which 
provides help with weed and vermin control.  I am aware that a review is in place and hope that it will view some of 
those issues in a different light.  I would like to think so.   

I am also aware that my region has a growing horticultural industry.  A particularly good officer was brought down 
from Kununurra to further the development of horticulture in my region.  After about two years, that gentleman has 
been moved to Perth and will now study green tea research or something like that.  We have grape growing projects, 
olive farms and any number of horticultural developments.  The Geraldton and Greenough electorates could have done 
with the help of an officer or person with that expertise.   

The other issue of great concern to country people is the cost of fuel.  The current price of fuel in Geraldton is more 
than a dollar a litre and pretty much has been ever since this Government has been in power.  I think it has dropped 
under a dollar a couple of times.  I remind the Minister for Consumer and Employment Protection, who is in the House 
at the moment, that this Government came in promising to lower fuel prices and criticised the previous Government for 
not doing so.  Quite frankly, this Government has fallen on its face.  Country people have not seen any lessening of the 
fuel price.  It is one of the issues that is always raised with me.  I am sure that the minister will have an answer for me 
and I am happy to listen to it later.  I just put that to the minister again, as an issue that needs to be addressed. 

I turn now to the issue of the health boards, which have just been disbanded.  Although I am not totally opposed to some 
streamlining of those boards, I am not sure whether the Minister for Health has done this in the right way.  Wiping them 
out in one fell swoop is being short-sighted.  The members of those boards were volunteers, who had the best interests 
of their local community at heart.  I would have liked to see more consultation with those people, since this is a 
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Government that claims to pride itself on consultation.  I fear that we have seen little consultation in many areas, and 
this is one of them.  I have four health boards in my electorate, and I know some members of those boards feel that they 
have had little input.  The outcome will be, I fear, a situation in which a bureaucrat makes all the decisions.  I am aware 
that regional boards will be formed on development commission boundaries, but the question remains about who will 
be running those health boards.  I urge the Government, and particularly the Minister for Health, to give that some 
consideration.  At the moment, country people are very suspicious of the way in which these new health boards will be 
formed.   

I conclude with reference to the increases in taxes and charges.  I raised this subject in my speech in response to the 
budget.  I have heard some members of the Government applaud these increases tonight, but I do not think anybody 
likes taxes and charges being increased.  This Government came into power saying that there would be no increases.  
Perhaps the naivety of that statement is shown by water rates and sewerage costs going up by 2.9 per cent, third-party 
motor vehicle insurance by three per cent and public transport fares by 2.6 per cent.  This begs the question about the 
way in which the public regards politicians.  Again, this is something I raised earlier.  Politicians make commitments 
like that, and they are not held to, and the public, quite rightly, regards them with some suspicion.  This budget will 
probably come back to bite the Government in a year’s time, and it will struggle to meet some of the commitments it 
has made.  

DR CONSTABLE (Churchlands) [7.53 pm]:  I wish to draw attention to two issues I raised in the estimates 
committees.  The first concerns the Edith Cowan University land at Churchlands.  In December last year, the 
Government announced that it would give the land freehold to the university so that the university could develop that 
land and sell it, and could then fulfil its strategic plan of developing the Joondalup and Mt Lawley campuses.  At the 
moment the land is vested in the university, and I understand, from the supplementary information I received from the 
minister, that the process of the transfer from crown reserve to freehold title is currently taking place through the 
Department of Land Administration.  The only condition the Government placed on this gift to the university was that 
the university had to engage in an acceptable pubic consultation process, whatever that means.  That consultation 
process is now happening.  Three workshops involving members of the community have taken place and the 
community reference group has met once, to explore the options that came out of the workshops.   

A major problem with this community consultation is that the university has already set the outcomes.  It announced to 
me some months ago, during a visit to my office, and also at the community workshops, that some things are not 
negotiable.  The main outcome that is not negotiable is that the university intends to net $40 million from this 
development.  In order to do that, it must gross $72 million.  There seems to be an enormous difference between the 
gross amount and the net amount the university says it needs to develop buildings on the other campuses.  There is 
much doubt in people’s minds about where this development is going.  The interests of the university quite clearly do 
not coincide with the interests of the community.  The university started by saying it wanted to make $40 million net, 
and for that there would be an allowance of 10 per cent open space.  When I told the Pro-Vice-Chancellor, Professor 
Wally Cox, that I did not think that was in the best interests of the local community, he said that was tough, and if we 
wanted more open space, there would have to be higher housing density.  This is not consultation; it is a fait accompli 
presented with no regard for the local Churchlands community.  The university is intent on making as much as it can 
from that land.  It does not care about the densities, public open space, saving the remnant bushland, or the impact on 
Herdsman Lake.  All it cares about is making $40 million, getting out of town and going to Joondalup.  That is not good 
enough, and the Government should be looking very closely at it.  It is one thing to give this very valuable piece of land 
to the university, and quite another to put a community consultation process in place with little regard for the outcomes; 
the university owns the land now, and everything will be all right.  I am putting the Government on notice now that 
everything will not be all right.  I expect the Government to hold the transfer of that land until I am satisfied, and the 
Government is satisfied that the university is doing the right thing with this consultation.  

Many issues are of great concern to the local community, and many are being thought about and addressed, such as 
traffic in the area.  The second issue I raised in the estimates committee with the Minister for Planning and 
Infrastructure was the future of the Stephenson Highway reserve.  I understand that is a long-term issue, but one section 
of that reserve runs along the northern border of the Edith Cowan University Churchlands campus.  This is an ideal 
opportunity to examine that stretch of land, between Pearson and Empire Avenues, to make sure that the development 
takes this road reserve into account.  If there is to be any modification to that road reserve, it should be done at the same 
time as this development is being planned.  There are a number of reasons for that, but a very special reason is that the 
road reserve, as it currently stands, passes just a few metres from the classrooms at the Newman Junior College.  That 
has been of great concern to the school for some time, and I am hoping that the Minister for Planning and Infrastructure 
will act very quickly to look at this.  She has promised me that she will do this, and I have no reason to doubt that 
promise.  I am hoping that some modification can be made, so that traffic issues can be dealt with as a whole, taking 
that road reserve into account, and options for future planning are not cut off.  Another reason that the road reserve must 
be looked at now is that the area in which the road reserve meets Empire Avenue in Wembley Downs is very close to 
the entrance to Newman Junior College.  If that four-lane road is to be built, it would be impossible to get into the 
Newman Junior College through its front entrance.  There will be no entrance to the school if that stretch of road is 
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built.  Therefore, it is important that this matter be reviewed and looked at carefully as part of the development of Edith 
Cowan University.   

The other main issue that has come out of the workshops and discussions that I have had with constituents is a deep 
concern about a number of environmental issues in the area.  Any development of the Edith Cowan University campus 
will impact on those environmental issues.  Of particular concern is remnant bushland on the northern part of the 
campus in particular, and how the development will impact on that.  People are concerned about the loss of native trees 
that are spread throughout a beautiful university campus.  As we know, most developments are carried out by 
bulldozers knocking down just about everything in sight.  It is a cheaper way to put in the utilities that are required for 
developments.  There is great concern about the native flora on the campus in particular.   

Within 200 or 300 metres of the campus is Herdsman Lake.  There is grave concern about the impact on Herdsman 
Lake of the destruction of trees on the campus site.  Environmental studies must be detailed and carried out carefully 
before any development goes ahead.  Not only that, it is a fact that the Edith Cowan University remnant bushland 
provides part of the green belt from Kings Park to Bold Park for native fauna and particularly for bird life.  Once again, 
any development in this area must take that into account.   

The many constituents with whom I have spoken feel that this development is a cynical one.  First, they believe that the 
Government has been cynical in giving the land to Edith Cowan University.  There was no need to do that.  The 
Government could still have developed the land, kept control of this 20-hectare site and given the proceeds to Edith 
Cowan University.  Instead, the Government has chosen to gift the land to the university and wash its hands of whatever 
happens on that site.  That is not good enough.  The cynics among us can see that the Government has learnt the hard 
way, because it has had to go through the pain of the events surrounding the Scarborough Senior High School site.  
Therefore, it probably decided that it would be much easier to give the site to the university and let it take the flak.  
From the university’s point of view, government members have been the good guys for giving the site to the university 
in the first place.  From the community’s point of view, it is a cynical exercise indeed - one that has not gone unnoticed 
and about which I am sure the Government will hear a lot in the next few months.   

The issue of development of sites needs to be examined carefully, as does consultation with the community.  If a local 
community is presented with the outcomes before consultation, most thinking people will believe that they are wasting 
their time by giving up hours to go to workshops and to be on community reference groups, because all those 
workshops can do is to tinker at the edges of what will happen anyway.  It gives the developer - in this case, the 
university - the opportunity to say that it put a consultation process in place, just as it was required to do; it went 
through the motions of doing that, and now it can go ahead and develop the land.   

A much higher density development than anywhere else in the area is being proposed for this land at the moment.  It is 
out of keeping with the rest of the area in which it sits.  This matter needs to be revisited and monitored carefully by the 
Government.  I urge those involved - the Minister for Education, the Premier who announced the gift to the university, 
and the Minister for Planning and Infrastructure - to carefully examine what is happening on that site before it gets out 
of hand.   

These are the two issues that are very important to my electorate.  The central issue of the development of the Edith 
Cowan University site and the related issue of the stretch of Stephenson Highway between Pearson Street and Empire 
Avenue need to be examined together.  I hope that we can get detailed information from the Minister for Planning and 
Infrastructure about the future of that stretch of highway before too long. 

MRS EDWARDES (Kingsley) [8.05 pm]:  I will speak on a couple of areas concerning the budget Bills.  In the area of 
consumer and employment protection, the first thing I will do is to thank the minister for picking up and following 
through on those Occupational Safety and Health Amendment Regulations, which would have had a major cost impact 
on small business.  The greatest effect would have been on the fruit growing industry.  However, it would have been 
much broader than that.  Of course, those regulations would have affected small builders and small contractors within 
the building industry, including painters and so on.  After 10 years, their elevated work platforms would have 
undergone a full stress test, and every five years after that they would have faced a huge cost impost.   

Another issue that came out of that was the cost itself.  There were variations of between $3 000 and $4 000 to $10 000.  
There was no general agreement on what would comprise the bare minimum of the stress test that would be necessary 
and any liability that would fall back onto the company that carried out the test if something occurred not long 
afterwards.  The public liability issue that arose from that also had not been taken into account adequately.   

When I talked with the fruit growers who first raised the issue, it was interesting to hear how it came to their attention.  
These regulations were passed in March this year and were to come into effect on 1 July.  A WorkSafe officer from 
Bunbury rang one of the companies in that area that does this sort of work and asked how he, as an inspector, would 
identify and know what he was looking for.  The chap from the company told him that there was a number and all the 
rest of it.  The company fellow wondered why the WorkSafe officer had asked that question.  All of a sudden he 
realised that the new regulations, with their huge cost impact, would come into effect on 1 July.   
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Although I thank the minister for taking notice of the industry and following through on that matter, it should never 
have happened in the first place.  Any impact of regulations on industry, particularly small business, should be raised at 
the time the regulations are signed off.  Questions should be asked about what the cost impact of those regulations will 
be on small business, what has been the consultation process, and who has carried out that consultation process.  I do 
not know whether the minister has looked at the latest SafetyLine Magazine.  It is a fantastic magazine.  On the inside 
cover is a great story from the minister, with a nice photograph.  At the bottom of the page, it stated that for the new 
Occupational Safety and Health Amendment Regulations, readers should look at the back page.  I thought I had it all 
wrong.  I immediately turned to the back page and found a brief inconsequential notification of the occupational safety 
and health regulations.  However, the impact cannot be determined by looking at the back page, and people still have to 
download the 200-plus pages from the net and wade through them in order to determine the full cost impact.  That was 
one of the issues that slipped through the net, and it is pleasing to know that it was rectified before it was too late.   

I now turn to the Labour Relations Reform Bill 2002, and the theme of consultation.  The minister was quick to conduct 
a narrow impact study of workplace agreements in only a few industries, and to then herald the study in Parliament.  He 
is still not prepared to spend any money on a cost impact analysis, particularly one that focuses on small business and 
employment.  There will be a great impact, and, like most situations, the impact will not be fully recognised until people 
start to lose their jobs and businesses start to fold.  I hope that even at this late stage the Government will rethink some 
of the key components of the legislation.  I note that the minister has already indicated that he will reintroduce 
employer-employee agreements.  The Bill will be recommitted in the Legislative Council.  On behalf of the Opposition 
I committed that we would support the recommittal, because we do not want to leave employers at the total mercy of 
the union movement.  The right of entry provisions allow a union to nominate the person that the commission has to 
authorise, and the commission has no discretion in the matter.  What would happen if the nominated person had a 
criminal record and there were major security issues at the place they wished to enter?  Businesses have put forward all 
types of scenarios to the Opposition.  Indeed, I have no doubt they have also been forwarded to the Government.  There 
are serious concerns about a number of provisions in the Bill, but the right of entry is a crucial one.  Also, the 
Government is taking away the rights of both union and non-union employees to say that they do not want their 
personal records looked at by a union official.  In a day and age when there is huge emphasis on privacy, why do 
employees not have a right to say that they do not want their personal records looked at by a union?   That is a 
fundamental right in 2002, and beyond.  We now acknowledge people’s privacy to a greater extent, but the Government 
is absolutely and totally sweeping aside such a concept.  This is a key issue that will come back hard to bite the 
Government.   

I now turn to the issue of planning.  The planning minister has spent much time on the Perth to Mandurah rail proposal.  
Even people within the planning industry have suggested that the minister has far more interest in transport, particularly 
in rail, than she has in planning issues.  The Perth to Mandurah rail link is a highly debatable issue.  Where is the vision 
for the future growth of Perth and the central business district?  Where is the support for businesses and developments 
on Adelaide Terrace, as against those in West Perth?  The Government is proposing a rail line that will travel along 
William Street and link with the northern suburbs railway.  The potential for a further link - when growth demands it in 
10 to 15 years - from the central station to Adelaide Terrace, along the Esplanade, up to Parliament House and through 
to West Perth and beyond, does not exist.  Most of the world’s major capital have a major central link.  If people are 
travelling to Perth from Armadale, Joondalup or Fremantle, they should be able to link with transport in and around 
Perth.  People who work in Adelaide Terrace should not have to get off the train at the central Perth station and catch a 
central area transit bus or another bus.  They should be able to continue their journey right through.  The Government’s 
plan does not take into account the future growth of the CBD.  The William Street access route is definitely wrong.  If I 
am right - the proposal might meet our needs for only the next 10 years - it will cost a great deal to change it in the 
future.  This will also affect future decision makers; indeed, the minister will not be around so it will not worry her 
whether she has made a right or wrong decision.  However, Perth’s future planners will face major restrictions because 
of the growth of the CBD.  All the pennies have gone into the one bucket without the public first being told of the 
benefits of the William Street proposal.  Indeed, the Western Australian people have not been involved in this matter.  
Professionals have been involved and committees have been established, but the public has not been genuinely 
consulted on this issue.  Again, when the proposal is put in place, the impact will be revealed.   

The Western Australian people were presented with a bad option and a really bad option.  Therefore, when the 
Government announced that it would take the bad option and sink the railway in front of the foreshore, the public was 
supposed to thank goodness that the Government had not chosen the really bad option.  In any event, I will believe the 
sinking and funding of the proposal when I see it.  I have been told that not only will development in Northbridge 
suffer, but also development in front of the conference facility and on the foreshore.  If that is the case, it is an absolute 
disgrace that the public has not been consulted.  Nobody will wear development right on the foreshore and in front of 
the conference facility.   

I now turn to the Green Bill, which the minister has proposed to introduce and have passed in the Legislative Assembly 
before the end of the year.  Therefore, she will entertain certain amendments only if they get through in time to be 
included in the drafting of the Green Bill.  The planning industry has stated that this measure is not good enough and 
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will not fix the problems it currently faces.  It will not deal with the assessment processes between the areas of 
environment and planning.  What on earth is happening?  The minister is too focused on rail and transport and not 
keenly interested in planning matters.  The Opposition put out a Green Bill two years ago when the minister was in 
opposition.  At the time, she stated that it did not meet the needs of the planning industry.  The planning industry is 
saying exactly the same thing about this minister’s proposal.  It says that what is being put forward is short-changing it 
and will not meet its needs whatsoever.   

I refer finally to redundancies.  The Government has made great play about saving money in the future by abolishing 
positions and combining departments.  It says that the system is costing more now because of redundancies and 
amalgamations but that in the future major savings will have been achieved.  We found out a couple of things during the 
estimates committees.  If redundancies are funded by a department or agency, the position is not abolished.  The 
department keeps the position up its sleeve.  That position either is not immediately filled or is filled by someone in an 
acting position or by a permanent replacement.  That is not the idea of redundancies.  The Government’s great play 
about making savings from the redundancies will turn out to be a furphy and will not come to fruition.  My recent 
criticisms about the redeployment list still stand.  There are major issues with the redeployment list.  I refer the Deputy 
Premier to all the public service jobs that were advertised in last Saturday’s newspaper.  I think he will find that a 
number of those could have been filled by people on the redeployment list.  

MS GUISE (Wanneroo) [8.21 pm]:  I speak briefly on the budget and the items that were raised during estimates week, 
as well as related matters that reflect on my electorate.  As the member for Wanneroo and the former President of the 
Western Australian Council of State School Organisations, it is appropriate that I start with education, which is division 
59 of the budget.  A number of questions were asked about the capital works program.  I was particularly pleased when 
I was chairing the estimates committee to hear a question from the member for Darling Range about two schools in my 
electorate.  The Government has committed $5.5 million for new primary schools in Carramar and east Marangaroo.  
The minister’s response was that the planned work would be undertaken for these schools to be open in time for the 
2005 school year, and that the capital works allocation would be reflected in next year’s budget for the work program to 
start in 2003-04.  The funding is in the out years.  I have 19 government schools and eight non-government schools in 
my electorate.  Two important schools in my electorate are under construction.  Kinross middle school is in the second 
stage of construction, and $5.6 million has been provided in this budget.  The new senior campus at Mindarie is also 
under construction, and $8.7 million has been provided in this year’s budget.  I have been advised that 34 per cent of 
approvals for new homes in Perth in the past three months were within the city of Wanneroo.  I cannot understate the 
growth that is happening in the northern corridor.  These new schools are imperative in fulfilling the community 
demand.  Access to education will continue to be a challenge in those northern suburbs in which the growth is so rapid.  
Local area education planning processes are under way for Yanchep District High School, Wanneroo Junior Primary 
School and Wanneroo Primary School.  The outcome of these deliberations will be taken into account to ensure the best 
possible educational outcomes for children attending those schools.   

I also comment on questions asked in division 59 about the reduced class sizes in years 1 to 3.  I am particularly 
delighted that we have been able to deliver on the promise to reduce class sizes and that money has been allocated to 
deliver 387 more teachers in government schools.  There would not be a parent in this State who was not happy with 
that announcement.  WACSSO, the group of which I was a member, fought for many years for the reduction of class 
sizes and a fair go for the public school system.  It is nice to see that some of those concerns are being addressed.  The 
importance of early intervention in years 1 to 3 cannot be overestimated.  It is a crucial time in a child’s development 
and it is essential that children get the quality time they need with their teachers.  That is not often possible in a large 
group.  I think this decision will be major step towards addressing the needs of these children and identifying problems.   

Part of this budget covers the Police Service, and the estimates discussion focused on the relevant division, 47.  I am 
particularly interested in the parts of division 47 that cover capital expenditure.  It would be remiss of me to not mention 
that $100 000 has been included in this year’s budget for the design and planning of a new police station in Wanneroo.  
A total of $3 million will be allocated, and the new station will be completed by late 2004 or early 2005.  Members may 
remember that I have mentioned in this place the deplorable conditions that exist in the current station.  It suffers from a 
lack of facilities, including an appropriate interview room, change rooms and bathrooms for male and female officers, 
and kitchen facilities.  Improved arrangements are required for the storage of the armoury.  From a Wanneroo 
perspective, and on behalf of the police officers and other staff who work in that station, I welcome the news that 
something will finally be done about those deplorable conditions.   

Capital works expenditure in the budget includes $131 million for new schools and school upgrades and $14 million for 
computers in schools.  It is a challenge for any Government to keep up with technology.  It is amazing to see the 
technology that students are using in schools such as the new Quinns Beach Primary School.  I see the students carrying 
their laptops around the schoolyard.  They are able to use wireless technology anywhere on those school grounds.  To 
some extent, we have much to learn from five-year-old kids about how to make best use of this technology.  When I 
was President of WACSSO, I was fortunate to see the innovations that are occurring.  Young children are able to 
compose music using that technology.  What these kids are able to do is amazing.  I hope that in the years to come, we 
will be able to build on that technology for the benefit of our rural and remote communities.  I have seen instances in 
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South Australia - I am sure we are going down that path - in which the interface between the class and teachers occurs 
electronically.  It is incredible.  On one side of the screen the teacher’s work goes up, and on the other side is the work 
of the student in the outback station. 

Mr Johnson:  It is good to see the kids often teaching the parents and the grandparents how to use computers. 

Ms GUISE:  I have always said my son is my helpdesk!  I think many of us can relate to that.  It is always difficult to 
keep up with the new technology.  The children are our future. 

Ms Radisich:  Teach them well and let them lead the way. 

Mr McRae:  It could be a great song title.  

Ms GUISE:  Does the member think so?  We could do that!  

The other important aspect of this budget is the health portfolio.  The Government has allocated $109 million to 
metropolitan region health projects.  Proactive measures are being put in place to ensure that we work towards 
increasing and supporting the number of nurses in our hospitals.  I cannot understate the importance of that.  Anyone 
who has spent any time in a hospital knows the importance of good nurses to people’s health and general wellbeing.  
Nurses deserve full recognition for their contribution to the State, the health system and the people of Western 
Australia.  I will continue to lobby for improved access to medical services in my electorate, particularly general 
practitioner services, which continue to be a challenge north of Burns Beach Road; aged care; and mental health 
services.  

The last item of capital works of mention is $353 million for the Water Corporation for drought response infrastructure, 
sewerage and waste water.  It is probably most pertinent to finish on that item of capital works because the major issues 
affecting my electorate involve agriculture, water, the environment and planning, which in one way or another all 
impact on the electorate of Wanneroo.  One of the questions that is currently being addressed in the electorate is how to 
protect the agricultural industries while at the same time allowing the rural areas to capitalise on what they do - and do 
well - and providing for the potential diversity of the area through tourism.  I look forward to discussing that further in 
this place.  I cannot wait to debate a motion on the Notice Paper on that issue.  We need to provide long-term 
sustainable development for horticulture and other productive uses of the rural area in support of the local economy and 
the community as well as new initiatives for the development of new water resources, water reuse and land 
management.   

The City of Wanneroo is the third most productive local authority in Western Australia in terms of the value of 
products, as it generates over $110 million in revenue per annum.  It is an incredibly important area for not only its 
regional wealth but also what it gives back to the State.  I will ensure that we address those issues on behalf of my 
community.   

The budget is designed to ensure that we build a solid base for future growth and work to create more jobs for Western 
Australians.  That is another subject that is close to my heart, because I do not believe that the northern suburbs, in 
particular, can continue to be developed in such a way that they remain sleepy hollows and somewhere to which 
residents only go home to go to bed at night.  We have to be in a position to create jobs for people living in those 
suburbs.  On that note, I commend the Bill to the House and look forward to discussing these matters further at another 
time. 

MR MASTERS (Vasse) [8.31 pm]:  In beginning my comments, I throw a bouquet in the direction of the Treasurer.  It 
will be only one bouquet.  The Treasurer may recall that during the second reading debate I said something 
complimentary about him.  I said that there was a significant improvement in Western Australia’s total net worth 
towards the latter period of the forward estimates.  However, I believe that I may have misinterpreted the budget papers 
by looking at net worth instead of net assets versus net liabilities.  Even if I look at net liabilities versus net assets, the 
future picture for Western Australia is, according to the forward estimates, quite bright.  In particular, for the 2005-06 
year, there will be an increase in net liabilities of $583 million, while net assets will increase by an estimated 
$1.5 billion, which is a healthy trend, being an increase in assets of almost three times the increase in net liabilities.  
That is as far as I am prepared to go with the bouquets; now for the brickbat.   

It is unfortunate that in the Treasurer’s first year, the 2002 year, net liabilities increased by $1.891 million and net assets 
by only $2.483 million.  The State’s net worth increased by $591 million over that period, which was barely 25 per cent 
of the total increase in net liabilities.  If that trend had continued, in years to come we would have been in pretty rotten 
shape.  Even though our net assets may have gone up by more than our net liabilities, the proportionate increase of net 
liabilities would have blown out very significantly.  We should welcome the trends in the forward estimates - if they 
hold true.  Nonetheless, I urge the Treasurer not to weaken in his resolve over the coming years, especially in two years 
time, when he is preparing a pre-election budget, because, at the end of the day, if our net liabilities, which include our 
debts, increase at a disproportionate rate to the increase in net assets, Standard and Poor’s (Australia) Pty Ltd, Moody’s 
Investors Service Pty Ltd or some other rating agency will come along and will do more than just slap us over the wrist.  
It will say that our credit worth has been downgraded because we have not been able to keep our net liabilities and net 
debt under control.   
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There are some difficulties in understanding budget papers regardless of which Government is in power.  I have been 
both frustrated and disappointed by some of the difficulties encountered in trying to understand what the budget means.  
For example, during the estimates committees I asked the Premier, in his capacity as the Minister for Science, to give 
some clear indication of how the total budget for science and innovation had changed from the current budget period of 
2001-02 to the current budget papers, namely the 2002-03 year.  I have a reply, although I do not intend to read it into 
Hansard.   It is Supplementary Information No A51, and the bottom line is that no direct comparison could be made 
between the $41.756 million 2001-02 budget allocation and this year’s $28.9 million for science and innovation.   

The difficulty is that, even being generous and assuming that in this year’s budget, the $28.9 million allocated to 
science and innovation should have added to it the $6.3 million that is to be expended by the Minister for State 
Development under output 3, innovation and technology, of the Industry and Technology division in the budget papers, 
there is still a shortfall between last year and this year of $5 million or thereabouts.  I note in the information supplied to 
me by the Premier a very short sentence indicating that an additional $5 million has been allocated as “administered 
revenue”.  I do not know whether the Treasurer is able to explain what that means, but the allocation is not to be found 
anywhere in the budget papers.  Unless the Treasurer is able to give me some clear indication of what that means, I fear 
it is a fudge factor.  The bottom line is that, comparing last year’s budget allocation of $41.7 million for science and 
innovation with this year’s combined figures of $28.9 million and $6.3 million, this Government has allocated at least 
$5 million less to science and innovation this year than it did last year.  Considering how much the Premier, in his 
capacity as Minister for Science, has hung his hat on the science portfolio, I am disappointed with what I believe to be a 
real reduction of $5 million from last year to this year in the combined science innovation and technology allocations.   

Mr Ripper:  Judging by our discussions when we formulated the budget I would not think that there is a reduction in 
science funding.  Administered revenue is normally revenue that is paid by the organisation to other organisations.  It is 
money for grants and things like that, whereas controlled revenue is the budget for the agency.  

Mr MASTERS:  I thank the Treasurer for those comments.  In the budget papers, under the two headings of science and 
technology, which falls under the Premier’s portfolio, and innovation and technology, which falls under the Minister for 
State Development, there is no mention of $5 million for administered revenue.  I am having difficulty coming to grips 
with the details of the budget and trying to find out how much money has been spent, where it has been spent and 
comparing this year’s budget with last year’s budget.   

Mr Ripper:  The member should ask a question on notice of the Premier, who is the Minister for Science.   

Mr MASTERS:  Effectively, Supplementary Information No A51 is a question on notice.  I am, therefore, disappointed 
when the Premier’s response is that the Government is unable to make a direct comparison between last year’s and this 
year’s budgets.  I asked the question and I made a specific request for a comparison of the science and innovation 
budget allocations of the previous Government and the current Government.  I am not trying to limit the question; I am 
trying to broaden it to give the Premier as much room to move as possible to explain how money is to be spent this year 
and how it was spent last year.  I continue to get the response that the Government is unable to make a direct 
comparison.  That is a difficulty and I hope future budgets will be clearer. 

I will give another example.  Under the tourism portfolio - the member for Nedlands is aware of this matter - last year 
the Government crowed loudly about $5 million it provided to the tourism industry to help it to recover from the 
problems of 11 September and the Ansett Australia collapse.  A media statement released by the Minister for Tourism 
today is headed “Minister reveals WA Tourism in better shape than anticipated”.  I am pleased to hear that news.  
However, the second paragraph of the media statement reads - 

Mr Brown said WA was well in front of other States in its recovery, due to the State Government’s fast action 
in providing $5million in crisis funding, to counter the impact on tourism. 

The reality is that the State Government did not provide $5 million in crisis funding.  The WA Tourism Commission 
gained approval from the Government to move $5 million out of its accumulated cash reserves for expenditure in the 
various ways that were necessary to overcome the problems last year of 11 September and Ansett.  If the Minister for 
Tourism had said that the Government was giving the WA Tourism Commission approval to reallocate $5 million of its 
cash reserves for spending in that way, I would have said, “Well done, minister, that is a prompt response to a serious 
crisis.”  Instead, the minister and this Government are once again crowing about the fact that it is their money - meaning 
taxpayers money - and their decision to provide that extra $5 million; they are trying to hang their hat on that particular 
funding initiative.  In fact, it is nothing of the sort.  Certainly, $5 million was provided but the $5 million has begun to 
be spent.  The bottom line is that the Government is trying to big-note itself on this issue.  Sadly, it should not be taking 
credit for something that it does not deserve to be taking credit.   

I give another example of how easy it is for Governments of all persuasions - the Gallop Labor Government is now in 
my sight - to fudge the figures and to make life difficult when the Opposition tries to understand what is going on.  At 
pages 627 and 628 of the Budget Statements, under the sustainable forest management output, it is stated that there is a 
reduction of 400 000 hectares in the area of forest to be managed as state forest; that is, a reduction from 1.875 million 
hectares to 1.475 million hectares.  Yet, output 1 on page 625 under nature conservation indicates an increase of 
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300 000 hectares in the area that is being managed for nature conservation purposes, as opposed to state forest, which is 
production forest.  Where is the missing 100 000 hectares?   

Again, I asked during the estimates committee where those 100 000 hectares have gone.  It turns out that the 400 000 
hectares have gone and are not accounted for.  I do not have time to develop the argument, but the bottom line is that 
the response from the Minister for the Environment states - 

The 400,000 hectares . . . is already included in the total area managed under the Nature Conservation Output. 

However, there is no increase in the nature conservation output from last year’s figures that can equate to this 400 000 
hectares.  It is either included there or it is not.  If it is included, there should be an increase of 400 000 hectares 
somewhere in the Budget Statements.  The reality is that there is an increase of only 300 000 hectares, which it is 
anticipated will be new purchases of land in the next 12 months by, presumably, the Department of Conservation and 
Land Management.  I am sorry to say that there continues to be a shortfall of 400 000 hectares.  That shortfall has not 
been explained in anything that the Government has said, and I will have to ask more questions to find out exactly what 
is happening. 

I do not have a great deal of time to talk about how disappointed I was to find that my electorate of Vasse received 
significantly reduced funding in this budget for capital works; I believe the figure in the budget is $12 million.  In past 
years that figure from the previous Government was between $20 million and $40 million.  This year’s budget is 
therefore very disappointing.  It is also disappointing that there has been significantly reduced funding in virtually all 
areas of the environment portfolio. 

In the last few seconds of my speech, I must say that I am particularly disappointed about two other areas.  One is the 
indication at page 802 of the Budget Statements that the amount of funding allocated to the Perth cycle network will be 
reduced by $1 million this year, $1 million next year, $2 million the year after and $6 million in 2005-06; that is, a 
$10 million cut overall.  Another area I mention is the budget of $7.8 million for the trial of hydrogen fuel cell buses.  Is 
that expenditure justified? 

MR WATSON (Albany) [8.47 pm]:  I congratulate the world’s best Treasurer.  I thought he was an excellent man 
when he produced his first budget.  The fact is that he is only half the man he was when he produced his first budget 
and he still gave us a tremendous budget.  Quite a few other members of the House should look at the Treasurer’s diet!   
The main allocation in the budget for Albany is $8.6 million for a water filtration plant.  Most people in the city believe 
there is no water shortage and they probably believe there is no water shortage in country areas.  The previous 
Government did not properly examine water shortages.  There is a real problem in country areas and especially Albany, 
which is renowned for getting a lot of rain.  We say that only to people whom we do not want to return to Albany!  The 
water catchment in Albany is not as good as it should be.  The current catchment of water in Albany will last only five 
years.  If a major industry were to be established in Albany, it would last only three years.  The  $8.6 million allocated 
for a water filtration plant is the first stage of a five-year project costing $30 million to improve Albany’s water supply.  
A water supply is integral to a country town.  The water in Albany is now crystal clear but it will last for only a certain 
amount of time. 
It was great to see an allocation of $12.7 million for a new small boat harbour in Albany.  Some people might say that a 
small boat harbour is just for putting in boats.  However, we must look at the big picture in Albany.  We must consider 
that many tuna boats look for drop-off points along the way from Brazil to New Zealand.  They would stop in Albany 
not only for provisions, but also to use the infrastructure of the freezer and cannery on the wharf.  We need those boats 
to come to Albany.  Because Albany harbour is open to the weather, some boat owners do not leave their boats there 
during the winter when they can get bashed up against the wharf.  Two boat owners at the moment have their boats in 
Fremantle; they get all their provisions and drop off their fish in Fremantle.  The economy in Albany cannot afford to 
lose them.  A smaller version of the Hillarys Boat Harbour is planned, which will have walkways and a Cicerello’s sort 
of eatery in an attempt to get families back to the foreshore.  When I was doorknocking during the election campaign, I 
found it interesting to talk to many older people in the electorate, who remembered the old days when everybody used 
to go to the foreshore.   
The foreshore has been a bit of an eyesore.  During the 1970s the then Labor Government set money aside for its 
redevelopment.  City of Albany councillors do not agree on many things, but one thing they all agreed on was that the 
foreshore could be a tremendous development.  They passed the plans unanimously.  The plans include the development 
of the Anzac park.  The Minister for Planning and Infrastructure, Hon Alannah MacTiernan, gave the land to the City of 
Albany.  For the last Anzac Day, the State Government gave to the Returned Services League some lone pines, which 
will be planted as part of the overall plan.  Albany was the last port that the Anzacs saw before they left Australia.  The 
City of Albany and the RSL are developing great plans for the foreshore for 2014, which will be the hundredth 
anniversary of the departure of the Anzacs.  The distance from one side of the Anzac park to the other is the distance 
between the trenches at Gallipoli.  The plans are that two pathways, one on each side of the park, will designate the two 
trenches.  Flower gardens will be planted, and the schoolchildren from different schools will have various sections to 
look after.  The park will also contain an interpretive centre and a very large memorial in the form of a soldier picking 
up his mate at Gallipoli.   
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The City of Albany has also passed a plan in principle to have represented a battalion of soldiers walking up the 
boardwalk.   

Mr McRae:  Albany is one of the greatest seaside resorts in Australia.   

Mr WATSON:  I thank the member.  I cannot help but agree.  People can go there at any time of the day or night and 
see whales if they are lucky.   

Ms Radisich:  Won’t it be dark at night? 

Mr WATSON:  We put little lights on the whales at night so they can be seen, so they do not get hit by the ships.  We 
are very environmentally sensitive in Albany.   

People talk about Gallipoli, but many people cannot travel to Gallipoli to see where their grandfathers or great 
grandfathers fell.  However, people can travel to Albany to see the last piece of Australia that those brave soldiers saw 
before they went to war.  Anzac park will have a big painting of all the ships that were in the harbour before they left.  I 
looked at a print of the painting.  One of its interesting aspects was a Japanese destroyer, which helped to escort our 
soldiers to Egypt before they travelled on to Gallipoli.  Albany has some tremendous history about the Anzacs.   

The Albany justice complex has an allocation of $1.6 million as part of an $11 million budget for the overall project.  I 
do not know whether anybody has seen Albany Police Station or the Albany courthouse.  The member for Nedlands 
indicates that she has seen them.  People who have attended the courts there will know that they are archaic.  I think the 
courthouse is 120 years old.  I have had the privilege of travelling to Bunbury, Busselton, Fremantle and Geraldton and 
I have looked at the court complexes there.  I would hate to take any of our policemen or court officials to those places 
because we would never get them back.  However, we have looked at all those other places and if there are any faults, 
we will be able to recognise them and make the Albany justice complex tremendous.  The Albany Police Station is very 
small, but the police officers do a remarkable job.   

Ms Sue Walker:  You will have to travel to Nedlands and look at its police station. 

Mr WATSON:  We are looking for more criminals because we do not have enough to keep our prison going.   

The budget also makes provision for passing lanes on the road from Kojonup to Albany.  It will cost $1.4 million as part 
of a $7 million project.  It was tragic to see three people killed just outside Mt Barker the other day.  The Perth to 
Albany road poses a very big problem, especially the stretch from Kojonup to Albany.  I do not know whether people 
get tired before they get to Mt Barker, but that is probably the most lonely and dangerous stretch of road of which I am 
aware.  It has a very high accident rate, as can be seen from the number of crosses on the side of the road.   

Mr Waldron:  It happens after they leave Kojonup. 

Mr WATSON:  Yes, people tend to get tired after the bright lights of Kojonup.  However, it is a huge problem.  The 
member for Wagin would have driven along that road many times.   

Mr Waldron:  Main Roads has told me that it needs to get the specifications for that road to a level where people know 
that they are approaching an overtaking lane and will not take the risk.  This morning I saw someone take a stupid risk 
because of impatience. 

Mr WATSON:  That road is also a major tourist route.  Many tourists from Singapore and Asia arrive in Perth and have 
never driven more than 100 kilometres at one time.  They hire a car and head down the highway.  By crikey, they can 
cause some damage.   

The budget also contains provision for $500 000 for the refurbishment of the Great Southern College of TAFE.  It is 
probably one of the best TAFE colleges in Western Australia, if not Australia.  It is great to see that our Government is 
giving it $500 000 for refurbishment.   

Mr McRae:  The review of vocational educational processes that was set up by the Minister for Consumer and 
Employment Protection made an outstanding and valuable contribution to regional people.   

Mr WATSON:  I will pass that on.   

Work will continue on the Albany Regional Hospital paediatric ward.  Country hospitals tend to get a bit of flak.  The 
member for Avon tends to relate what happens in hospitals in country areas.  I was lucky enough to take country Labor 
members to see the Albany Regional Hospital.  They were very impressed.  
Ms Radisich:  Was that before or after you took them to the abattoir? 
Mr WATSON:  It was after the abattoir.   
They were quite happy with all the services that are provided there.  I would like to congratulate the health service in 
Albany.  It has some remarkable doctors and nurses, who look after the hospital tremendously well.  We are having 
some trouble getting a surgeon and a gynaecologist.  One of the major problems that emerged in the estimates 
committee related to our ability to retain doctors.  It was great to hear the Minister for Health say today that all third-
party insurance will be paid for doctors.  
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One thing that I noticed in the member for Stirling’s speech during the budget debate was a criticism of the fact that 
Kalgoorlie got $3 million for a golf course and that the water for it was to come from Perth.  He also criticised the small 
boat harbour because he said that the Government did not have enough money for it.  I always thought that the National 
Party would be happy for people in country areas to get things like this, especially as the member for Stirling’s 
electorate doughnuts mine.  His electorate goes around to where the small boat harbour will go, so I was intrigued and 
disappointed by his comments.  I know that when this message was passed on in the Albany, Denmark and Mt Barker 
regions, a lot of people were disappointed.  

Mr Bowler:  In the goldfields too.  

Mr WATSON:  The one thing I was happy about was that I could speak for longer than the member for Eyre, who said 
only four words in his budget speech. 

Mr Waldron:  On the golf course -  

Mr WATSON:  I have only two minutes left. 

Mr Waldron:  I was going to talk about the Katanning Golf Course.  

Mr WATSON:  The Katanning Golf Course is very good.  I have played in the bush there plenty of times.   

I congratulate the Government on really looking after country areas.  The Albany region and the hinterland have done 
really well in the first two budgets of this Government.  An amount of $1 million has been budgeted for the Katanning 
Senior High School refurbishment, $1 million for a karri-tingle interpretative centre in Walpole, and the Western Power 
distribution centre to the Denmark-Walpole area will be upgraded.  Things are happening all the time in the country.  
Regional cabinet meetings have been held and there have been regional investment tours.  The Premier came down to 
announce the water strategy.  Everything has been done to really help country areas.  I congratulate the Government on 
this tremendous budget.  

MS RADISICH (Swan Hills) [9.01 pm]:  What can I say?  Another year, another budget, and each one as exciting as 
the last!  I want to touch on a few points in the wrapping up of this debate.  First, I turn to education.  The Swan region 
has obtained many benefits for education from this budget.  Upper Swan Primary School has been privileged to be 
granted $1.5 million over the next couple of years for renovations and extensions.  It is one of the most fantastic schools 
in my electorate and is led by principal Chris Reed.  It has some innovative teaching and learning programs.   

The comments about technology made earlier by the Deputy Speaker certainly apply across the whole metropolitan 
area.  When I visited Upper Swan Primary School last year I was amazed to see young students in years 3 or 4 whipping 
up PowerPoint presentations, which is a skill I have not mastered even though I consider myself to be of the 
technological generation, so I too have something to learn from our young primary school students.  The need for the 
renovations and extensions that will occur at that school were pressed upon the Minister for Education, the Government 
and me by the P&C, particularly through its president Mrs Paula Kosovich.  Paula is unrelenting in her quest to make 
sure that conditions at Upper Swan Primary School are the best that they can be.  I am pleased that the Government has 
been able to grant some funds to ensure that those standards will be improved in the future.   

When I went to the school last year I was saddened to see a toilet block at the back of the school that was quite removed 
from the main centre of activity and near semirural, vacant properties.  I was concerned when I saw two young girls 
holding hands and going off to the bathroom, because no-one knows what unwanted and unwelcome people could be 
lurking around unpopulated areas of the school.  Through these upgrades, the bathroom facilities can be incorporated 
into a more prominent part of the school so that those safety matters can be addressed.  In addition, a new cluster block 
will be built, which will replace the oldest classroom at the school.  I am not quite sure about this, but I think that the 
classroom the students currently use is the same classroom as that in which my 76-year-old grandmother got her 
education.  I could be wrong, but if I am, my mother would certainly have used that classroom when she was at the 
school.  That gives members an idea of how old the facilities are.  I am pleased that they can be updated and 
regenerated.   

Coolamon Primary School is also set to benefit from the recent state budget with a $5 million allocation to build a new 
school in village five at Ellenbrook.  That project will replace the existing school, which exists as a schools in offices 
project.  This has been an extremely innovative and successful project.  I am sure that the new facilities to be built over 
the next year or two will be far better for the students in the north Ellenbrook region.   

There was a disappointing feature of the budget from my point of view because no funding was provided for the 
development of a high school in Ellenbrook.  This is important to me.  Ellenbrook is a growing community.  It has 
8 000 residents at the moment.  The population is set to grow, perhaps to up to 30 000 residents over the next 10 or 15 
years.  At the moment there are two public primary schools, one Christian college and one Catholic primary school at 
Ellenbrook, but no public high school.  That has to be a priority of the Government over the coming years.  That is 
certainly a priority of mine and of many members of the Ellenbrook community, including those residents who have 
children who are about to go to high school and the community generally.  As much as primary schools are focal points 
of local communities, high schools provide the extra facilities that can really bring a community together by providing 
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access to theatre arts, extra sporting halls and the sorts of community facilities that can be used by both the school and 
other groups in the area.  I flag the great need to establish a high school in Ellenbrook as an issue for future budgets.  In 
the meantime, there are perhaps things that can be done to see this project develop as quickly as possible.  That could 
mean developing a middle school or a junior high school as an interim measure, or basing a school on the schools in 
offices or houses models, which could provide core subjects at high school level and other facilities in the nearby area 
could be used to offer manual arts and other vocational aspects of high school education.  A lot of options are available.  
I urge the Department of Education to fully explore all the options.  I will continue to pressure this Government to make 
sure that we get an Ellenbrook high school as soon as possible.  Residents have been promised a high school since about 
1994 or 1995.  That did not come to fruition under the previous Government.  At this stage, this Government has not 
been able to fund it either.  I am confident that that will happen in the not too distant future.   

The second major item I will reflect upon is in the area of small business.  Minister Brown revealed during the estimates 
committee that two main initiatives have been undertaken and funded by the Government. 

Mr Bradshaw:  Do you know that you are not allowed to call members by their names?  We were pulled up today for 
doing that.  It was rubbish. 

Ms RADISICH:  I think I said Minister Brown. 

Mr Bradshaw:  We used the term Attorney General McGinty and got pulled up for it.  

Ms RADISICH:  If that is the case, I will refer to the Minister for Small Business.  

Two major initiatives in the area of small business are relevant to my electors, and to people in the Swan Hills area.  
The first of these is a strategy to promote mature-age entry into small business.  In the changing economic climate of 
the past five to 15 years, many 40 and 50-year-olds have been made redundant as a result of downsizing and other 
corporate restructuring to increase efficiencies and promote productivity in work places.  That has resulted in a number 
of my constituents turning to other measures to generate incomes to support themselves and their families.  One obvious 
way to do that is to establish their own small businesses.  For people who have worked for others, either in the corporate 
or the government sector, for their entire working lives, it is difficult to understand all the intricacies of successfully 
establishing and running a small business.  I am pleased that the minister has made a commitment to assist mature-aged 
entrants into the small business sector, so that they have the greatest opportunities to succeed in the enterprises they 
establish.  

The second initiative with which I was extremely impressed was the small business advocacy service.  I understand this 
service has been running for about two months, but has not been officially launched by the Government.  The service is 
intended to help small businesses deal with government departments - to cut through the red tape and provide a liaison 
service.  In some respects, it fulfils a function that some members of Parliament carry out on a daily basis.  We are 
approached by constituents from all sectors of the community, whether it be small businesses, families or others who 
want their member of Parliament to advocate on their behalf.  That is great, but this service is so much better, because it 
has professionals at the other end of the line with experience in small business, who can go straight to the relevant 
person in the department to ensure that small business issues are addressed responsibly and properly.  The advocacy 
service is unrestricted in the depth to which it can deal with government departments, and it can deal with local, state 
and federal matters.  If a small business has an issue relating to signage, licensing or employment matters, it can call the 
advocacy service and hopefully get some results.  The best thing about the service is that it is free, so it imposes no new 
financial burdens on already stressed small business operators.  In addition, the time efficiencies will mean much to 
small business operators. Many members of the Eastern Hills Business Association to whom I have spoken want to be 
involved in the community much more than they already are, but even attending the meetings of their own association 
means time away from doing their books, checking their stock and getting their own affairs in order.  By providing an 
opportunity to streamline the search for answers to their problems, the advocacy service will improve their lives.  The 
minister will be launching the service in a couple of months, and I look forward to the brochures being distributed 
widely.  Hopefully, this will be a whole lot better than any models that have been applied in the past and will survive 
into the long term to help as many small business operators as possible.  
MR SWEETMAN (Ningaloo) [9.14 pm]:  I will take the opportunity of the third reading debate to make some 
observations about the Estimates Committee.  I did not get an opportunity to make a contribution during the 
deliberations on the estimates reports made to Parliament earlier today.  The concept of holding the estimates committee 
hearings in each of the Chambers was an extremely good idea.  It was great to go to the “House of Lords”, and to sit 
there in that very cosy and roomy environment.  I am sure it was great for the ministerial staffers as well.  It was also 
interesting for a member from this Chamber to have a look at where we go when we die! 
I participated in the examinations of fisheries, agriculture and the Gascoyne, and for a part of the examination of 
transport.  I concur with some of the points that were made by you, Madam Deputy Speaker, and one other member 
about the Minister for Planning and Infrastructure.  The amount of time she spent in the House over the course of one 
day, handling both her own ministerial responsibility and those of the Minister for Local Government and Regional 
Development, was a real task.  I was not surprised when I came down from the upper House at about 9.30 pm, thinking 
I would have time to make some comment in this Chamber about the Gascoyne Development Commission, to find that 
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it had concluded and everyone had gone.  Obviously the members participating in that committee had some small mercy 
and pity on the minister, and allowed her to go home. 
One thing that must be borne in mind, especially in relation to the primary industry portfolio, is that with the larger 
portfolios - there are now 14 ministers instead of 17 - the Minister for Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries is also 
responsible for three development commissions, but still has only three hours allocated to him.  Traditionally, primary 
industry has prompted many questions during the estimate committee hearings.  Last year, when hearings took place in 
the small committee room across the hall, agriculture got the first guernsey, while the fisheries staff - Peter Rogers and 
others - sat in the hall outside, waiting for an opportunity to go in.  I came out of the committee to go up to my room 
and saw Mr Rogers.  He asked how long it would be, and said it looked like being a really late night.  It was about 9.50 
pm at the time.  I said it would not be a late night, because the vote is put at 10.00 pm.  He looked at me with a mixture 
of relief that he would not be kept late, and disappointment that his staff had hung around for the entire period of the 
committee and only really got in at the last gasp to field a few questions.   
This year I am the shadow minister for agriculture, rather than fisheries, and it was quite interesting to go to the upper 
House, ready to ask questions about agriculture, and have the parliamentary secretary, the member for Cockburn, say to 
me that, because of the disappointment suffered by fisheries at the last budget estimates hearings, it had been decided to 
put fisheries on first, just in case it got squeezed out again.  There would be many questions about agriculture, so the 
suggestion was that fisheries would go on first.  I had to agree with that, even though I was not happy about it.  It 
certainly made good sense, because there were expectations in the agency that fisheries would get some reasonable 
amount of questioning.  Fisheries went on first, and that session lasted about one and a quarter hours, and then the 
committee members thought that agriculture would run for the rest of the time available.  It did not, because there were 
still three development commissions to come.  Everyone felt a bit cheated.  Members felt cheated that they did not ask 
enough questions and the staff that came in expected far more questions in that short period.  One of the development 
commissions did not even get up at all, while the other two probably got one or two questions each.   
Until the Deputy Speaker delivered her report, the Opposition felt it had been really hard done by, and it has still not 
completely dispensed with that argument.  The Opposition thought it never did better than 50-50 in the questions, which 
alternated between the Government and the Opposition.  When I was chairman of committees - I did four budgets as a 
part of the previous Government - we were instructed by the ministers that this was a time when the Opposition needed 
to ask the most questions, so we were not to go blow-for-blow between the Government and the Opposition.  The 
opposition members had to be given some reasonable chance.  
I reckon the Opposition probably got 70 or 75 per cent of the questions.  Quite often we had tussles in estimates 
committee hearings because the opposition spokespersons thought that they were not getting a reasonable rub of the 
green.  However, I compared the way in which the former Government handled the estimates committee process with 
the way in which the past two estimates committee hearings have functioned.  If the number of questions that were 
asked in each division were averaged, the Opposition probably asked more than 60 or 65 per cent of the questions.  
Therefore, the end result is interesting. 
Mr Board:  Questions, not the time, though. 
Mr SWEETMAN:  Perhaps not the time.  I certainly believe that these estimates committee hearings were better than 
the previous ones in that we were able to develop themes.  We were not cut off if we were developing a theme and did 
not have to revisit a question.  That is how the estimates committee hearings were conducted when I was a member of 
the Government.  Members were able to develop a theme, which meant they could ask five or six questions in rapid fire 
to close off their questioning on a particular division of the budget. 
Mr Board:  That is the way it should be. 
Mr SWEETMAN:  Yes.  To some extent that is how the latest estimates committee hearings were conducted.  Members 
were able to ask three or four questions in rapid fire.  The call might then go to another opposition member to run out 
the questions that he or she had on a particular division.  Therefore, it was well done in that respect. 
One thing that needs to be tidied up in the estimates committee hearings is the comfort breaks, which I think they will 
now be called but which were previously referred to as smoko or tea breaks.  The officers from the agencies were in this 
Parliament for the estimates committee hearings, but it seemed strange to me that when we suspended for morning or 
afternoon tea, we all headed off in different directions.  I do not know whether the minister chose to take away his or 
her staff so that they could enjoy morning or afternoon tea together while members of Parliament went to the cabinet 
dining room to enjoy a cup of tea.  I would like to think that there could be an opportunity for members on both sides of 
Parliament to mingle and have a free interchange or discussion with those agency people.  Next year, I hope that the 
formal comfort breaks in the two committees can be scheduled to take place at different times so that the staff and 
members of Parliament can enjoy a cup of tea and a scone together in one area. 
Mr Bradshaw:  The Department of Health hearing went from 9.00 am to 2.00 pm without a scheduled break. 
Mr SWEETMAN:  That is crazy.  However, a lot of people in that hearing probably would have been reluctant to take a 
break.  We must have some sympathy for the minister and the ministerial staff, because they must remain in the 
Chamber during the hearing.  They cannot duck out in case a member asks a question on the division - 
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Mr Board:  Why do you need a break in five hours? 

Mr SWEETMAN:  Members of Parliament who were asking questions could take a break, but many people were 
required to stay in the Chamber.  It was discourteous to expect and probably uncomfortable for them to sit in the 
Chamber for that period.  I support any move to give those people a break. 

Mr Bradshaw:  There should be a scheduled break between 9.00 am and 2.00 pm, because at one stage nobody knew 
what to do. 

Mr SWEETMAN:  Yes.  I was able to ask a number of questions on the night my shadow portfolio responsibilities were 
dealt with, and I received some reasonable responses from the parliamentary secretary, and particularly from people to 
whom he deferred; namely, Mr Mike Marsh and Dr Graeme Robertson, who is the Director General of the Department 
of Agriculture.  Following the estimates committee hearing, they have been kind enough to follow up with additional 
information on those areas in which they were not able to provide all the answers to the questions I asked. 

The agriculture portfolio is interesting.  Other members have already made some points about it.  The reduction in 
agriculture’s budget is of concern.  In real terms, it looks like the budget has decreased by at least a couple of million 
dollars when the cost shifting from one section of the agency to another is taken into account.  There has also been a 
reduction in the allocation to full-time equivalents.  My understanding is that 55 FTEs will not be laid off but, through 
natural attrition, the work force will be reduced by 55.  That will have dire consequences, particularly for some of the 
regional agricultural offices.  The farming, horticultural and pastoral industries have become dependent on the 
information and intelligence that many of the regional offices can supply to them.  I am concerned also about the 
Agriculture Protection Board and the detection of diseases and things like that.  The position now being taken seems to 
be that the agency will be reactive rather than proactive.  Staff are being withdrawn from many of the offices, in not 
only the country areas but also the city.  Monitoring and surveillance within the agricultural areas are seen to have less 
significance in making sure that people are in tune and that any outbreak of a highly infectious disease is picked up as 
early as possible. 

I believe that some interesting times are ahead for the agricultural industry in general, particularly with the 
strengthening dollar.  Although it is around 56c against the United States dollar at the moment, it has been above 57c in 
the past few days.  That is a clear indication that the dollar will probably stabilise at a higher value than it has done for a 
couple of years.  On top of that, tariffs and other blocks have been put in place in various markets around the world.  
We have not taken those markets for granted, but we have been able to access and make reasonable money at the 
margins in those markets.  It is clear to me that the agricultural industry will face some pretty tough times if the 
Australian dollar continues to strengthen. 

Being the shadow spokesperson for agriculture has its pitfalls.  I tend to take a businesslike approach to the task.  When 
one looks at any business proposal, one of the first things one does is to try to weigh up the abilities and strengths of the 
opposition.  Our opposition is all our competing trading nations.  We try to place products into the various markets and 
hope that we can do so at a price that is cheaper than our opposition, so that we can retain those markets.  We will have 
to fight very hard.  In the past five, 10 or 15 years, Governments have been too kind to many of our agricultural 
industries, whether it be through grants, subsidies or things of that nature.  Many areas in the farming, pastoral and 
horticultural industries have not developed because they have been quite comfortable to sit back and collect a subsidy.  
They have not sharpened their business skills or made the right decisions at key times to further develop their business.  
In the next two to five years it will be interesting to see what happens in the pastoral and farming areas and whether the 
move to large operations and corporate-style farming will be fast-tracked.  Those operations already exist, but it is 
likely to happen to a greater extent, with amalgamations of perhaps two or three farms.  If the Pastoral Lands Board and 
the minister agree, there will probably be amalgamations of two or three pastoral leases as well, so that those operations 
will become more viable.  At the end of the day, they will be able to place their products in international markets only if 
they are competitive. 

Although Australia screams about the subsidies that will be provided to United States farmers under the US farm Bill 
during the next 10 years, Australia has had an advantage.  The United States has had the misfortune to have a strong, 
stable economy, and probably the strongest currency in the world.  Therefore, Australia has had an advantage while its 
currency has been nearly half the value of the US currency.  When everything is taken into account, it might be found 
that Australian farmers are disadvantaged because they must import chemicals, farm machinery and things like that.  
However, at the end of the day, they are selling into a country in which the US farmers think that the Australian farmers 
are not necessarily subsidised - although they are to a small extent - but have an advantage because the Australian 
currency is basically the value of a currency in a developing nation - a third-world nation almost.  However, over time, 
that will stop.  The Australian dollar will continue to appreciate, and our farmers will need some help from government, 
not so much in the form of subsidies or handouts, but in knowledge, advice and nurturing the industry to get it through 
these times and to take it to a better stage in its business and product development so that it is internationally 
competitive, regardless of the value of our currency and to some extent regardless of the tariffs and barriers it is 
confronted with in some of the international markets.  With those few remarks, I am pleased to complete my 
contribution to the third reading on the budget debate.   
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MR DEAN (Bunbury) [9.31 pm]:  I preface my contribution to the third reading debate on the budget by saying that as 
a new observer to Parliament I find it fascinating that opposition members do not talk about their electorates in any 
great detail.  I assume that members opposite are as proud as government members are of their electorates.  I do not 
understand why they do not talk about them.   

Several opposition members interjected.   

The DEPUTY SPEAKER:  Order, members!   

Mr DEAN:  It is good to see that the same courtesy is extended to both sides of the House.  The electorate of Bunbury 
did not fare -  

Ms Sue Walker interjected.   

Mr DEAN:  The member for Nedlands’ tone is quite obnoxious at times.   

Several members interjected.   

The DEPUTY SPEAKER:  Order, members!   

Mr DEAN:  The Bunbury electorate did not fare as well as it did in the last budget.  Many of the projects on the 
Bunbury 2020 agenda were met.  The recent budget put the icing on the cake for a few of the agenda items.  After we 
build a revised version of Bunbury 2020, I will look forward to next year’s budget, which will be taken to the electorate 
the following year.  I will go through a few of the minor allocations in the budget that Bunbury is proud to receive, and 
not the macro details concentrated on by members opposite.   

I refer to the Leschenault Peninsula which, strictly speaking, is not in the electorate of Bunbury.  However, it may 
become a part of the electorate after the redistribution of boundaries.  The Leschenault Peninsula is a tongue of land 
between the Leschenault Inlet and the Indian Ocean.  An analogy is Halls Head, which is in the Mandurah area.  To all 
intents and purposes, it is not a pristine site; rather, it is fairly rugged.  It has remained unchanged since it was first 
settled in the 1830s and 1840s, when it was a station that raised water buffalo and horses for India.  Indeed, the main 
entrance to Leschenault Peninsula is Buffalo Road, a name derived from its previous use as a water buffalo station.  The 
Government has allocated $250 000 for the upgrade of the peninsula.  The $150 000 received in last year’s budget was 
wisely spent on an interpretive centre for John Boyle O’Reilly.  Boardwalks have also been constructed in delicate 
wetland environments.  All in all, the money was spent fairly wisely.  The next $250 000 will take the O’Reilly 
walkways closer to the beach where O’Reilly escaped in 1868.   

In its eight years in office, the coalition Government never tackled the issue of a new secondary school in the greater 
Bunbury region.  It took the previous and present Labor Government to build both new high schools within the greater 
Bunbury region.  Eaton High School - a high school that was much needed - has been allocated $8.6 million in the 
budget.  The school will probably be dated by the time it receives its first student intake.  There will probably be a need 
for a North Australind senior high school, to cover the Kingston area and the area north of the current senior high 
school.  The Bunbury 2020 agenda will also look at a new senior high school site south of Bunbury.  Newton Moore 
Senior High School probably has between 1 200 and 1 300 students, and the figure was only 900 a few years ago.  
Given the expected growth in Dalyellup Beach, students will either attend the Catholic college, Newton Moore Senior 
High School or Cathedral Grammar School.  There is already pressure on Newton Moore Senior High School.  There is 
a need in the south of Bunbury, the member for Vasse’s area, for a new senior high school.  Such a measure was 
pencilled into the Bunbury 2020 agenda, and it is a proposition that will be resurrected in next year’s budget.   

One of the primary problems in Bunbury that the Government was able to solve - which the previous Government ran 
away from and over which the member for Mitchell threatened to resign - was the issue of the Djidi Djidi Aboriginal 
School.  The member for Mitchell often performed such stunts.  He threatened to resign if the Djidi Djidi school was 
placed on the old Picton Primary School site, which is the current location of the Bunbury Community School.  He felt 
that the community school should be the user of the site.  That is rather ironic given that the property belongs to the 
Western Australian people.  For the information of members, the Djidi Djidi Primary School, which has received an 
expenditure of $1.5 million out of a total between $5 million and $6 million for the primary school, will move about 
100 metres from the Bunbury Community School, the same site over which the member Mitchell threatened to resign.  
The Government was able to make the difficult decision about where the Djidi Djidi school should be located, and the 
planning has already started.  I had a bit of a knock-back in this matter because the education minister refused time off 
for the principal so that she could carry out the proper planning process and ensure that the school received all that it 
needed.  He did not approve the request I made in writing; however, I am still pursuing the matter through the system.  
Dalyellup Primary School is a wonderful school, and one built on the public-private partnership principle, because it is 
a school near the Dalyellup shops.  It is also one of the schools putting pressure on Newton Moore Senior High School.  
That is one of the reasons we need another senior high school in the south of Bunbury area.   

Another project for Bunbury is the harbour development, of which there are several aspects.  The port development and 
containerisation of the Bunbury port facility must be considered.  The Government has allocated $2.3 million in the 
budget for the containerisation of the Bunbury port.  The business case has yet to be proved in total.  It must be proved 
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that container movement through the south west and out through the Bunbury port is a needed asset.  One million 
dollars was spent on pilot boats for the harbour.  It was disappointing that money for the port access was not provided in 
the budget, especially given the expansion of blue gums in the Donnybrook region, in the south east of Bunbury and in 
the Collie region.  The Collie region is a different catchment area, and 200 000 tonnes of blue gums will soon come 
from that area.  I imagine that Donnybrook will also have similar amounts -  

Mr Bradshaw:  And live sheep.   

Mr DEAN:  Yes, live sheep and cattle are exported from Bunbury.  Port access will be a major requirement for the port 
of Bunbury between the next five and 10 years.  There is also the prospect of an iron and steel mill in Collie, which will 
generate a lot of port use.  That port use should come via the railways rather than the roads.  I was briefed by the port 
authority chairman and chief executive officer last week, and the amount of road traffic that will come to the port of 
Bunbury once the Collie and Donnybrook blue gum industries get going is staggering.   

The budget contains $2.9 million for the Kemerton expansion.  I imagine that it is mainly for water and electricity 
provision.  It is interesting to note that the Department of Environmental Protection or Western Power - I cannot 
remember which - placed advertisements in last week’s South Western Times calling for submissions on new power 
stations at the port of Bunbury and Kemerton and a coal-fired station at Collie.  We wish everyone the best with the 
power procurement process.   

All in all, Bunbury did remarkably well out of the state budget, although not as well as it could have done and not as 
well as it did last year.  We will revamp the Bunbury 2020 agenda and I assume the Opposition will do much the same 
and produce some sort of agenda to take to the people.  I look forward to the challenge of matching that.  Next year, 
regardless of the redistribution, Bunbury will rightfully achieve what it deserves as the capital of the south west.   

MR BOARD (Murdoch) [9.41 pm]:  In the short time I have to contribute to the third reading debate on the 
appropriation Bills I will concentrate on my shadow portfolio of health rather than on my electorate, which I would 
prefer to do in some aspects.  I want to put on the record a number of issues that came out of the estimates committee 
hearings, particularly one that the Opposition believes it explored prior to the hearings.  We made a number of 
comments in the second reading debate, some of which were of interest to the media and the Parliament.  We need to 
again put them on the record and discuss what came out of the hearings and what we learnt through the scrutiny of the 
real records, rather than what is contained in the rhetoric and press releases that came out with the budget.  The first and 
most important point relates to the overall health budget.  The minister put out press releases indicating that the health 
budget had increased by 4.3 per cent.  He said that there was a 2.2 per cent inflation rate, even though in the budget 
papers the Treasurer predicted a three per cent inflation rate.  According to the minister, the overall health budget had 
increased by 1.3 per cent in real terms.  When the minister was put under scrutiny and we were able to deal with his 
advisers, we learnt that the only increase in the budget was an increase in the outputs and that the overall health budget - 
the amount of money it costs to fund the health budget in Western Australia - had gone up by only two per cent, which 
in real terms is a minus one per cent increase.  The media have not picked that up, even though we had made it very 
clear to them that the overall funding in the health budget was minus one per cent on last year.  I put that on the record.   
A number of other things came out of the estimates committee process.  Another issue is the progress of the Health 
Administrative Review Committee report.  Although there have been many ministerial statements and press releases 
about the HARC report, progress has been extremely slow because of difficulties in the appointment process.  That has 
had a domino effect.  The Labor Government has delivered its second budget, but many of the promises that were made 
to the Western Australian community prior to the state election have not been met.  The Government is almost a third of 
the way through its term, and is moving towards the 50 per cent mark.  Virtually none of those promises of major 
reforms in health has been met.  The minister indicated to the Western Australian community via press release that the 
recent pay rise for doctors in Western Australia was in tune with the general wages policy of rises between three and 
four per cent.  We found when we put the minister and his advisers, including the head of corporate services, under 
scrutiny that the pay rise for doctors ran between six per cent and 25 per cent.  Those figures have nothing to do with 
the press release.  We also found that the pay rise will cost the Western Australian community an additional $80 million 
over the term of the two-year agreement.  That flies in the face of what the Government told the media, and what the 
media published; that is, that the increase is in line with the general wages policy.  Put under scrutiny, the minister 
agreed to that.  We feel that the Western Australian community has been misled, and we have been trying to make that 
point.   
Health accounts for almost 24 per cent of the state budget.  A massive amount of money is required to run the growing 
and demanding health area.  We also found during the scrutiny of the minister during the estimates committee hearings 
that the capital works budget for new works is at a record low.  In fact, only $8.5 million has been allocated to new 
works in health, and only $5.5 million of that is for this year.  In other words, the majority of capital works projects 
have been ongoing for two to four years and are reaching conclusion.  They are in their last years of construction.  I 
asked the minister what he will do when he has finished opening all the projects the coalition Government put in place.  
Where are his new capital works projects and initiatives in the health area?  They are nonexistent.  That will become 
very evident over the next year or two when there is a big vacuum of new health projects, hospital upgrades and so 
forth.   
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The three major indicators in the health area - that is, the measure of where we are - have always been elective surgery, 
the cost of separations and the number of ambulance bypasses.  All are increasing and are at record levels.  Ambulance 
bypass is now a daily occurrence.  The incidence of bypass is 1 000 per cent higher than it was when we left 
government.  The Treasury documents show that waiting times for elective surgery are on the increase.  In other words, 
people are waiting longer for elective surgery than they were when we left government.  The cost of separations in 
Western Australia - that is, the cost of a number of procedures and for people to be treated within the public hospital 
system - is often considered the highest in the country.  It is above the average.  I believe it is a 12 per cent increase.  
Contrary to all the promises that the Minister for Health has made about reducing the high costs of tertiary separations 
and bringing them in line with those in the private sector, they are going up and in real terms are much higher than 
anywhere else in Australia.  
The Government made a commitment to rural health.  Although it made many promises, its actual expenditure was at 
very poor levels.  In its scrutiny of the budget the Opposition indicated that although there had been a number of press 
releases about increasing the resources to rural, remote and regional hospitals the reality was that, with the costs that 
Treasury had built in and passed on to those hospitals, they had less money to deliver services, and in that sense there 
had been real cuts.  Recently, regional areas voiced their concerns about the sacking of regional and rural hospital 
boards.  In fact, no hospital boards will operate in Western Australia.  As a result of that, communities will be denied 
direct administrative control of their local hospitals.  The Minister for Health indicated that was in the general interests 
of the rural and Western Australian communities.  What it meant was that the minister had removed from local 
communities the huge input they have had in fundraising and in supporting local health services.  
Mr Watson:  They do not have to worry about insurance or being sued.  
Mr BOARD:  I indicate to the member for Albany that I attended a meeting at The Vines on the weekend with 180 shire 
presidents, local councillors and people involved in administering local government throughout Western Australia who 
were devastated about the Government’s decision.  They were extremely concerned about the delivery of health 
services in their areas.  They voiced their concerns to the Minister for Health and to Mike Daube, the Director General 
of Health in Western Australia.  
Mr Watson:  How many out of 180?  
Mr BOARD:  I did not play politics, but I can assure the member that when they came together they were all concerned 
about this.  Country areas are experiencing a shortage of general practitioners, nurses and other health professionals.  
The minister is well aware of that and we were aware of that when we were in government.  Many of these local 
authorities, local community organisations, Rotary groups and hospital boards had got together to provide incentives to 
attract people to those areas.  That is how South African doctors have been attracted to country areas.  The local 
communities have built houses for the doctors and nurses, and clinics for the doctors.  Those facilities were not funded 
by the State Government but out of money raised by the community, Rotary and various people getting together.   
Mr Watson:  Those people will still do that.  They will not just stop.  
Mr BOARD:  The member for Albany does not understand.  They had ownership of their hospitals.  
Mr Watson:  They still have.  

Mr BOARD:  No, they do not; the Government has taken it away from them.  Only one person, if that, will have a place 
on a regional board.  The Government has disfranchised those people, and I am very concerned about that.  
Mr Watson:  You are putting down country people by saying they will not look after their hospitals.  That is rubbish.   
Mr BOARD:  No, I am not.  The Government has short-changed them.   
Mr Watson:  You do not know country people if you think they are going to do that.   
Mr BOARD:  The member should ask the Minister for Health why he sacked those hospital boards. 
Mr Watson:  How can you stand there and say that country people will do that?  Country people do not let their friends 
or their hospitals down.  That is a disgrace.  
Mr BOARD:  The member should ask himself why the minister sacked the hospital boards. 
Mr Watson:  It is a disgrace saying that. 
Mr BOARD:  Why? 
Mr Watson:  The member should go into the country and say country people will not look after their hospitals because 
there are no boards.  That is absolute rubbish.   
Mr BOARD:  Why did the minister sack the boards? 
Mr Watson:  There were 71 different boards and now there will be six. 
Mr BOARD:  They were all concerned about their hospitals.  They were trying to do the right thing and raise money.  
The boards were a threat to the minister’s making cuts to rural hospital expenditure.  They know it and the member 
knows it. 
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Mr Watson:  Rubbish!   

Mr BOARD:  That is the reality.  It does not matter how much the member tries to gloss over it; it is about cost cutting 
and trying to centralise decision making with the bureaucrats rather than letting the community have a real say.  

We saw some extraordinary things in the budget.  Health Direct is a phone service that provides advice to people 
seeking health services.  That is running in Western Australia at the cost of $34 a phone call, which is a 12 per cent 
increase on the cost last year.  I asked the minister how he could justify the cost of a call to the Department of Health 
running at $34 when people could see a GP for that.  The answer was that he did not know and he would look at it.  I 
suggest that the minister needs to have a very good look at it because it is costing the Western Australian community 
millions of dollars.  Health Direct is an important service, but surely it ought to be more cost effective than that.   
The Government has shown a lack of commitment to the major decisions that are needed.  The budget contained 
nothing about promoting and supporting more GPs in the country.  It did not provide incentives for nurses to go into the 
country; hence some of those major issues.  The budget contained no major funding to sort out some of the problems 
with hospital waiting lists.  The minister says he has a commitment to emergency areas and he has undertaken a review 
of that area.  However, no funding was committed to that area in the budget.  We found no major commitment to sort 
out the growing waiting lists for elective surgery.  All we saw were some great press releases prior to the budget.  The 
budget came down and there were some misleading statements about its size and direction, but it did not stand up to 
scrutiny.  In reality health costs are growing at between seven and nine per cent in Western Australia, whereas the 
health budget increased by two per cent, or minus one per cent in real terms.  Where does this leave us?  Health services 
in Western Australia are under increasing pressure.  The budget did not go anywhere towards meeting the election 
promises or rhetoric of the Government.  
MR McRAE (Riverton) [9.55 pm]:  I do not want to keep the House longer than necessary.  However, I want to take 
the opportunity to record a couple of things important to the community that I represent in the electorate of Riverton in 
the suburbs of Parkwood, Riverton and Shelley and in those small parts of Leeming, Rossmoyne and Lynwood that are 
also part of my community.  I want to put on the record the priority that the communities I represent place on education.  
I do that with some pride because it is only 16 months ago that the people of Western Australia elected a Labor 
Government to this side of the Chamber.  They did that because they wanted a Parliament and representatives who had 
a vision for our community.  I am proud to be a member of the Gallop Labor Government that sees education, health 
and community safety not as platitudes and rhetoric, but as demonstrated priorities that it will put in place in not only 
budgetary terms but also the daily work that we do to make those services the best that they can be.   
This is a great Labor budget because it gives those key areas and priorities in my community and across the State the 
resources that they need and deserve.  This budget has allocated a record $2.4 billion to health.  It provides for an 
increase of 300-plus new teachers starting in our state school system at the beginning of the 2003 school year.  We see 
in this budget the increased intake of police that we guaranteed going into last year’s election.  This budget is delivering 
on those core promises on the key priorities of the Western Australian community and certainly my community.   
It is also a great Labor budget because in very difficult economic straits the Treasurer has produced a budget that is in 
surplus.  We are not in the middle of the boom times of the nineties.  This is not a Government that is selling off the 
people’s assets to try to balance the books.   
In the middle of that, we can deliver the increased outputs to our budget priorities and fashion a modest - indeed, slim - 
budget surplus.  That is a great achievement in modern budgetary terms and it is a great achievement for a Labor 
Government in its first full year.  It puts a lie to the charade of the campaign run by the conservatives last year when 
they plastered across television screens “Don’t trust Labor”.  In my electorate, the people who might not have voted 
Labor previously, because Riverton had been a Liberal-held seat, are pleasantly surprised that they can trust Labor not 
to privatise people’s assets, to put money into the priorities that it said it would and to engage in consultation with the 
community on its key priorities.  The Minister for Planning and Infrastructure demonstrated that engagement today, 
both in a ministerial statement and during question time, when she talked about the freight review that has been ongoing 
since last October.  That review has been remarked on by industry people, community people and environmentalists as 
one of the most innovative and inclusive processes that they have seen operate in any sector of government for many 
years.  I am proud to be part of a Government that has delivered to the community that sort of engagement and 
empowerment in decision making. 
The State’s record $2.4 billion health budget includes $6.1 million for upgrades to hospitals and health services across 
the south metropolitan health service region, which services most of the people in my electorate.  That money is set 
aside for upgrades to Fremantle Hospital, our major regional hospital.  The people in my electorate are also applauding 
the extra $31.5 million allocated in the next four years to the King Edward Memorial Hospital for Women and the 
Princess Margaret Hospital for Children, which will deliver upgraded and better wards.  People are well aware of the 
deterioration in the physical infrastructure of hospitals.  They know that this sort of expenditure will put back resources 
in a way that will begin a repair process to our hospitals, which must be done.   
It is also recognised in my community that the Government’s effort to bring nurses back into the system is a credible 
ingredient to improving health care services.  Putting aside for the moment buildings and doctors, at bedsides nurses are 
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the key to the hour-by-hour care and monitoring of the health and wellbeing of patients.  Our Government will give that 
priority to increasing the numbers of nurses in the system.  That is a great achievement on our part and I look forward in 
coming years to working with the very dedicated, intelligent and well respected Minister for Health towards bringing 
nurses back into the system. 

It is also evidenced in my electorate that the education budget has Labor and the community’s priorities stamped all 
over it.  The member for Murdoch and I share the catchment group for Rossmoyne Senior High School.  Although that 
school is just over the boundary between us, it is, in fact, in his electorate and students attending Rossmoyne Senior 
High School come from both the Murdoch and Riverton electorates.  This year the long-awaited $2 million bonus from 
the sale of AlintaGas will be delivered to Rossmoyne Senior High School for the construction of -  

Mr Board:  Thanks to the coalition Government.   

Mr McRAE:  I will come to that in a moment.  Well might the member for Murdoch thank the coalition Government.  If 
he said that to the teachers at Rossmoyne Senior High School today, I am not sure whether they would be that fulsome 
in their praise.  They would say that it is too little, it is way too late and it will not deliver what they need in their 
community.  They would say that because in the past eight years not one cent was spent on major maintenance or 
upgrades at Rossmoyne Senior High School.  

Mr Board:  That is not true. 

Mr McRAE:  If the member for Murdoch does not believe that to be true, he should ask the teachers at Rossmoyne 
Senior High School and the Minister for Education and he should check with the Fremantle education district records, 
as I have done.  He will find that not one cent was put into major maintenance or upgrades at Rossmoyne Senior High 
School for more than eight years.  Frankly, that is a damnation of the previous Government’s priorities.  Two senior 
ministers in the previous Government represented that school, which is rated No 1 by the Australian newspapers survey 
of schools in Australia.  It is clearly the most outstanding academically achieving school in this State, yet not one cent 
was spent on major maintenance or upgrades of a major kind in eight years; that is an absolute disgrace.  The parents of 
children attending Rossmoyne Senior High School are well aware of the problems they face in trying to catch up. 

The $2 million allocated to the school is terrific.  It is terrific that, having sold AlintaGas, we are delivering the 
$2 million and that the school will get a performance and multimedia centre for learning and teaching.  However, it is 
an absolute disgrace that on the back of that, last year a whole section of covered walkway in a major thoroughfare of 
the school, where children normally sit to have morning tea or lunch, collapsed to the ground five minutes before they 
got out of class for recess.  We are blessed that nobody was injured, or indeed killed.  If that had happened during a 
recess or lunchtime, I believe we would be talking about a death or certainly a major injury.  I have to ask why part of a 
school can collapse like that.  It collapsed because not one cent was spent on that school for major maintenance or 
upgrades in the eight years that the coalition conservative Government was in power.  That is a disgrace. 

I have had discussions with the member for Murdoch and, in all fairness, we are taking a bipartisan approach to see 
what he and I can do to assist that school get the resources it needs for an upgrade and to take the performance centre to 
the standard that will make it a stand-out facility and teaching and learning centre.  I give credit to the member for 
Murdoch.  I approached him and he and I have had discussions about it.  We will work on it and do whatever we can to 
make that a great performance and multimedia centre. 

That is one school.  There are three major high schools in my electorate.  The other two major high schools are 
Willetton Senior High School and Lynwood Senior High School, which are also outstanding schools in their 
communities.  Willetton Senior High School has a great mix of vocational education and academic learning.  It also has 
a very keen sports program.  In the past 10 years it has been possibly the leading basketball school in Western Australia; 
indeed, it has won a couple of national championships.  The combination of vocational education, academic learning 
and sports programs in Willetton is exceptional.  At Lynwood Senior High School - 

Ms McHale:  It is a great school. 

Mr McRAE:  Yes, it is a great school.  It is another school that I share with another member, the member for Thornlie 
and Minister for Community Development, Women’s Interests, Seniors and Youth.  People who attend Lynwood 
Senior High School come from both my electorate and the electorate of the member for Thornlie.  In our work together, 
there is a focus on delivering services to the needs of the community.  Last year Lynwood Senior High School 
continued to develop its vocational educational program, as a result of which it was a great achievement for that school 
to be placed on the top rungs of vocational education and training achievers in this State.  Each of those high schools in 
the Riverton electorate is achieving extraordinary things for their school communities and each is delivering the 
services that those communities are after.  They do that for a couple of reasons.  I never cease to give praise when it is 
due and in this case it is due to the parents and teachers in each of those schools who work way beyond the call of duty.  
There is absolutely no question that the people who participate in the parents and citizens groups in each of those 
schools provide the framework and basic learning culture that give those high schools the sorts of achievements we see 
today.  



11550 [ASSEMBLY - Tuesday, 18 June 2002] 

 

It is also true to say that is evident for each of the primary schools.  Parkwood, Riverton, Rostrata, Burrendah, Banksia 
Park and Shelley Primary Schools are all outstanding in their own ways.  They all have nurturing and learning 
communities that are looking for innovation in the support of their children’s development. 

At Castlereagh School a respite centre is being constructed for the parents of children with special needs.  I must place 
on the record my thanks to some old friends and colleagues: Jim Murie from the Communications, Electrical and 
Plumbing Union, his son James Junior, and Ian Hamilton.  Three of us some 20 years ago were electricians in the iron 
ore industry in the Pilbara and members of the electrical trades union.  We came together and volunteered our time to 
put in the airconditioning system for the respite centre at Castlereagh School.  I am very proud to have been able to 
assist with that.  I know that the CEPU and Ian Hamilton are also very proud and pleased to have been part of that.  I 
also congratulate Orana and Queen of Apostles Catholic Primary Schools for their efforts. 

There is much work to be done on transport issues in my community.  Those questions surrounding Roe Highway and 
the impact on South Street and Leach Highway are still to be worked through.  I will be talking to the Minister for 
Planning and Infrastructure about that.  Much work is still to be done on environmental protection.  The Canning 
Regional Park Advisory Committee, of which I am chairperson, is continuing to do its good work.  Community groups, 
such as the 1st Canning Sea Scouts, are outstanding community service groups.  I look forward to being part of a 
Government that not only sets the right priorities in government, but also will continue to work with the community in 
the years to come to make my electorate and the surrounding district the best it can be. 

Debate adjourned, on motion by Mr Kobelke.  

House adjourned at 10.12 pm 

__________ 
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QUESTIONS ON NOTICE 

Questions and answers are as supplied to Hansard. 

INQUIRIES, TASK FORCES, COMMITTEES, SUMMITS AND REVIEWS 

1572. Hon. C.J. Barnett to the Premier 

(1) How many inquiries, taskforces, committees, summits and reviews have the Gallop Labor Government 
initiated since taking government in February 2001? 

(2) Will the Premier please provide a comprehensive list of the above inquiries, taskforces, committees, summits 
and reviews and a brief outline of what each of them was established to achieve? 

(3) Will the Premier please advise how much money has been spent on each of the above inquiries, taskforces, 
committees, summits and reviews? 

Dr GALLOP replied: 

I am advised that: 

Premier; Minister for Public Sector Management; Federal Affairs; Science; Citizenship and Multicultural Interest: 

Department of the Premier and Cabinet 

(1)  Twelve. 

(2) (a) Machinery of Government Taskforce – established to review and make recommendations for 
improving the structure of the WA public sector. 

 (b) (1) Review of Native Title Negotiating Principles – to speed up the settlement of the State’s 
Native Title applications. 

(2) Technical Taskforce on Land Title Applications – to examine ways to speed up the 
processing of mining, exploration and land title applications in areas where Native Title 
might survive, and to consider options to reduce the volume of outstanding tenement 
applications. 

(c)  Family Violence and Child Abuse in Aboriginal Communities (the Gordon Inquiry) - appointed to 
examine issues raised by the Coroner’s inquiry into the death of Susan Taylor and the way that State 
Government agencies respond to evidence of family violence and child abuse in Aboriginal 
communities generally. 

(d) Indian Ocean Territories – reviews of eight Service Delivery Arrangements (in conjunction with the 
Commonwealth Department of Transport and Regional Services) for the following State agencies 
who provide services on behalf of the Commonwealth in the Indian Ocean Territories: 

- Department of Community Development 
- Small Business Development Corporation 
- Valuer General 
- Main Roads 
- Department of Mineral and Petroleum Resources 
- Equal Opportunity Commission 
- Department of Environmental Protection 
- Department of Industry and Technology 

(e)  Office of Crime Prevention: 

(1)  Review of crime prevention strategies in Western Australia to determine the most efficient 
and effective model for the achievement of the Government’s crime prevention objectives.  

(2)  Review of Crime Prevention Funding Programs to evaluate the impact of the Community 
Policing Fund, State Crime Prevention Strategy, SAFER WA Fund and SAFER WA 
Community Security Program in preventing and reducing crime in Western Australia. 

(f)  Review of Appointments to Government Boards and Committees – to ensure greater representation of 
women, youth, Indigenous Australians and people from culturally and linguistically diverse 
backgrounds. 

(g) Review of the Members of Parliament Financial Interests Register – to examine ways to improve the 
reporting of financial interests by Members of Parliament. 



11552 [ASSEMBLY - Tuesday, 18 June 2002] 

 

(h) Review of Members’ Travel Entitlements - to determine the most appropriate operating guidelines for 
travel by Members of Parliament. 

(i) Interdepartmental Committee on Native Vegetation to advise Government on improved regulatory 
and other mechanisms to protect and manage vegetation. 

(j) Review into Missing Department of Consumer and Employment Protection files - to consider the 
adequacy of the records management in relation to the two volumes of the Blackburne and Dixon files 
that have been lost; and to identify and advise on why the files were created, how the Department 
identified that they were lost, what action the Department took to try to find them and whether any 
further action should be taken to prevent similar losses in the future. 

(k)  Review of National Trust of Australia (WA) – to advise whether the Trust’s policies and procedures 
are adequate and appropriate for its functions and to meet its accountability requirements; to advise 
whether the Trust should be retained as a Statutory Authority; and to advise whether the Trust’s Act 
requires amendment to clarify its relationship with Government and enable the Trust to operate 
effectively. 

(l)  Anti Racism Steering Committee – to lead the development of the anti-racism strategy for Western 
Australia, consider and implement the most suitable process through which the anti racism strategy 
can be developed, and direct the development of discussion papers for public consultation. 

In addition, the Department, as a matter of good management practice, regularly reviews its organisational 
resources and structures to ensure efficiency and effectiveness of operations. 

(3) (a) $188,568 (this includes the public service salaries of a number of officers seconded to the Taskforce) 

(b) (1) $131,515. 
(2) $26,441. 

(c) $1.25 million has been approved by Cabinet for the Inquiry. 

(d) Nil – the Commonwealth pays the State for any work undertaken in respect of the Territories 

 (e) (1) The review is being conducted by the Office of Crime Prevention as part of its function.  The 
only expenditure has been on normal public service salaries. 

(2)  Two officers from the Department of Justice have been made available to undertake the 
evaluation.  The Office of Crime Prevention will reimburse the Department of Justice for this 
work.  No expenditure has been incurred to date.  

(f)-(k)  Apart from the normal public service salaries of the officers involved in these reviews and 
committees, there was only minor additional cost to the Department. 

(l) The anti racism strategy has been allocated $891,000 over four years.  This allocation is administered 
by the Office of Multicultural Interests, which provides administrative support to the Committee. 

Anti-Corruption Commission 

The Anti-Corruption Commission has provided the following information: 

(1) None. 

(2) Not applicable. 

(3) Not applicable. 

Governor’s Establishment 

(1)-(3) Not applicable to Governor’s Establishment. 

Office of the Public Sector Standards Commissioner 

The Commissioner for Public Sector Standards advises as follows: 

(1) No inquiries, taskforces, committees, summits or reviews involving this office have been instigated by the 
Government since February 2001. 

(2) Not applicable. 

(3) Not applicable. 

Deputy Premier; Treasurer; Minister for Energy: 

Western Power Corporation 

(1)-(3) Not applicable 
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Office of the Auditor General 

(1)-(3) Not applicable 

Western Australian Treasury Corporation 

(1)-(3) Not applicable 

International Centre for the Application of Solar Energy 

CASE has not instigated any of the above mentioned activities.  A review and taskforce relating to CASE has been 
established by the Minister of Energy. 

Office of Gas Access Regulation 

(1)-(3) Not applicable 

Office of Energy 

(1) Within the Minister’s energy portfolio six inquiries, taskforces, committees, summits or reviews have been 
initiated since 10 February 2001. 

(2) (a) Aboriginal and Remote Communities Power Supply Project Reference Group – established to oversee 
and coordinate a pilot project to deliver new power supply arrangements, including generation, 
distribution and retail, in three Aboriginal communities; Bidyadanga, Wangkatjungka and Warnum. 

(b) Gas Retail Deregulation Project Steering Group – established to oversee and coordinate 
implementation of full retail contestability in the gas market in WA. 

(c) Park Home Electricity Supply Reference Group – established to consider options to resolve the cost 
of electricity on-sold to permanent residents of caravan parks and park homes and the eligibility of 
this group to receive government-funded energy rebates. 

 (d) Review of “live” work by electricians – established to review, with appropriate consultation, ways of 
reducing the frequency and severity of accidents with electricians working with or in close proximity 
to “live” parts. 

(e) Electricity Reform Task Force – established, consistent with the Government’s goal of lower 
electricity prices in WA, to develop detailed recommendations regarding; the design of the electricity 
market to be established in WA, the extent and phasing of the disaggregation of Western Power, a 
WA electricity code, and other regulatory issues and arrangements for full retail contestability in 
supply of electricity. 

(f) Centre for the Application of Solar Energy – Incompatible Activities Task Force is an interagency 
task force established to facilitate the disposal of activities of the Centre for the Application of Solar 
Energy incompatible with its absorption into the newly established Sustainable Energy Development 
Office.   

(3) (a) Members’ organisations, including ATSIC, absorb their costs and therefore no additional expenditure 
has been incurred in relation to the reference group only. 

(b) Members’ organisations, including private sector participants, absorb their costs and therefore no 
additional expenditure has been incurred in relation to the steering group only. 

 (c) Members’ organisations absorb their costs and therefore no additional expenditure has been incurred 
in relation to the reference group only. 

 (d) Review conducted internally with no additional costs. 

 (e) External Members fees and other direct costs total $371,258 to date.  Agencies and other 
organisations, including Western Power and private sector participants, absorb their costs. 

 (f) Agencies absorb their costs and therefore no additional expenditure has been incurred in relation to 
the task force. 

Department of Treasury and Finance 

(1) Four 

(2)&(3) (a) Review of Commonwealth-State Funding. 
The Review of Commonwealth-State Funding (which is being conducted by economists Ross Garnaut 
and Vince FitzGerald) was commissioned in 2001 by the governments of New South Wales, Victoria 
and Western Australia to review the methods used to allocate Commonwealth grants between the 
States.  It is expected to report around June 2002.  Western Australia has so far paid $55,965.50 
towards the cost of the review, out of an expected total contribution of $200,000. 
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 (b) Review of State Business Taxes 
The Review of State Business Taxes was established to make (revenue neutral) recommendations on 
how to improve the efficiency, equity and simplicity of the State’s tax system, with a particular focus 
on minimising compliance costs.  This review was internally funded. 

 (c) Consultative Group on Payroll Tax and Contractors 
The Consultative Group on Payroll Tax and Contractors was established in order to consult with tax 
professionals and relevant industry groups on the development of a set of tests designed to ensure that 
payments to “employee-like” contractors are subject to payroll tax while payments to independent 
businesses would not be subject to payroll tax.  This review was internally funded. 

 (d) Economic Regulator Implementation Committee 
The Economic Regulator Implementation Committee has the objective of establishing an independent 
economic regulator, in accordance with the recommendations of the Machinery of Government Task 
Force report, that inspires public confidence through a transparent framework with clearly specified 
functions, responsibilities and powers.  It has been proposed that the Economic Regulator will have 
responsibilities across the electricity, gas, rail and water industries for determining access 
arrangements for significant economic infrastructure, issuing and enforcing industrial licenses, and 
making recommendations to government about tariffs and charges for regulated industries.  Funding 
for this committee is being met through existing portfolio resource allocations. 

Minister for Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries; the Midwest, Wheatbelt and Great Southern: 
Ministerial Office 

(1) Two 

(2)-(3) Potato Marketing Corporation – investigation into PMC’s disposition of complaint alleging improper conduct 
by grower - Cost - $56,770.28 

Review of the Perth Market Authority – Cost $762.50 
Department of Agriculture 

(1) Three 

(2)&(3) Multi-Peril  Crop Insurance Task Force –assess the commercial feasibility of MPCI scheme for WA farmers – 
Cost $150,000 to develop feasibility report 
Total of $2.5 million has been allocated for project 

Salinity Review Taskforce – in a strategic context, advise on adequacy of State’s salinity program – Cost 
$110,000 CF from Dept of Agric, CALM & DEWCP with $30,000 from Agriculture 

Kimberley Chemical Use (1975-1985) Review – review concerns of former APB employees involved in 
chemical spraying in Kimberley region – Cost $178,000 Plus estimated $100,000 for investigation and 
remediation of sites if necessary 

Department of Fisheries 

(1) One 

(2)&(3) The Mackerel Independent Advisory Panel – advice to Executive Director on commercial sector of the 
mackerel fishery – Cost $30,000 approx 

Mid West Development Commission 

(1) None 
(2)&(3) Not applicable 
Wheatbelt Development Commission  

(1) None 
(2)&(3) Not applicable 
Great Southern Development Commission 

(1) None 
(2)&(3) Not applicable 
Minister for Housing and Works; Local Government and Regional Development; the Kimberley, Pilbara and Gascoyne: 
Department of Local Government and Regional Development 

(1) Six. This response does not include inquiries into Local Government authorities that are undertaken by the 
Department in its monitoring work. 
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(2) (i) Working Group on State and Local Government Relations (WGSLGR) 

The Working Group on State and Local Government Relations was established to facilitate the 
development of partnership agreements between State and local governments. It comprises 
representatives from both State and local government. The Group’s work will be ongoing. 

 (ii) Review of the Regional Development Commissions (Statutory Authority Status) 

To consider the status of the Regional Development Commissions in Western Australia and make 
recommendations on their future status. 

 (iii) Review of the Operation of the Local Government Grants Act 1978 

A review of this Act is required every five years.  The review meets the Statutory Requirement and 
will determine whether the Act is operating effectively or whether it needs amendment. 

 (iv) Review of Cemetery Boards (Statutory Authority Status) 

To review the Statutory Authority status of the Cemetery Boards and make recommendation on their 
future status. 

 (v) Review of the Dog Act 

The Dog Act has operated since 1976.  It is considered appropriate to review the Legislative 
Provisions and determine whether amendments should be made to achieve a more contemporary Act. 

 (vi) Review of the Regional Headworks Development Scheme 

This review meets a Government election commitment to review this scheme including the adequacy 
of its funding, the application of the guidelines and the amount of Headwork charges levied by the 
Water Corporation and Western Power. 

(3) Response to Question 3 inclusive (i. ii. iii. iv. v. & vi.) 

 All of the above are being undertaken by Departmental staff and only minor other administrative or financial 
expenditure in support of these has occurred.   This is anticipated to be under $10,000 in total. 

Department of Housing and Works 

(1) Eight. 

(2) (i) Independent Review Committee to review the circumstances of ineligible tenants. 

 (ii) The Perth Convention and Exhibition Centre Technical Committee was established to monitor the 
development of the Convention Centre, to ensure all established deadlines are met, and to work 
through statutory issues and departmental requirements. 

(iii) The State Homelessness Taskforce was established to develop a plan of action, for practical, across-
government and community strategies to:  prevent homelessness; provide effective support for those 
who are homeless; and provide support to people to maintain their accommodation after a period of 
homelessness. 

(iv) Review of ‘The Agreement for the Provision of Housing and Related Infrastructure for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander People in Western Australia.’  The Review was conducted to evaluate the 
process and progress of the Agreement’s objectives and outcomes. 

(v) Review of ‘Parnpajinya Housing Development Project – Community Development Strategy’ Remote 
Area Development Group.  RADG was employed to undertake a study to identify and address 
management and social issues which were restricting the progress and development of the 
Parnpajinya community.   

(vi) Halls Creek Housing Taskforce was set up in response to the Aboriginal community's concerns about 
housing stock generally within Halls Creek and the town camps.  The Aboriginal community was 
concerned that little was being done in the way of a community based strategy to tackle the housing 
problems in Halls Creek.  The Aboriginal community invited Larry Graham MLA and myself to 
examine their concerns and set up a framework for key agencies to work cooperatively with the 
Aboriginal community. 

(vii) Old Treasury Buildings Working Party was established to consider future uses for these significant 
heritage buildings. 

 (viii) The Pyrton Working Party was set up to consider future uses for the Pyrton site in Eden Hill. 

(3) All taskforces, working parties and reviews have been funded out of the Department of Housing and Works’ 
general budget.  To isolate the individual expenses of each taskforce, working party or review would require 
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substantial resources and I am not prepared to allocate the resources required at this time.  Should the Member 
have a specific concern about an individual taskforce, working party or review, I am prepared to provide 
further information.    

Kimberley Development Commission 

(1) 2 

(2) (i) North West Air Services Taskforce 
Terms of reference previously sent 

 (ii) Kimberley Aviation Tourism Development Committee 
  Terms of reference 
  To synchronise,  in the Kimberley:- 

(a) regional tourism marketing; with 
 (b) aviation route consolidation and development 

(3) (i) North West Airservices Taskforce - $5,577 
 (ii) Kimberley Aviation Tourism Development Committee - $3,121 

Pilbara Development Commission 

(1) Three. 

(2) (i) The Nickol Bay Accommodation and Associated Issues Taskforce. 

The Nickol Bay Accommodation Taskforce was established in August 2001 to oversee 
accommodation and related issues associated with the expected influx of construction and permanent 
workforces into the Nickol Bay area.  The Terms of Reference include the assessment, supply and 
demand of various forms of accommodation likely to be required in the Karratha area in the 
immediate and foreseeable future based on the expansion of existing projects and potential 
developments. 

 (ii) Onslow Strategic Development Taskforce. 

During a visit to Onslow in April 2001, the Minister for Pilbara, Hon Tom Stephens made an offer to 
establish a strategic partnership between the local Onslow community, the Shire of Ashburton and the 
State Government to develop an action plan for the local community. 

The Pilbara Development Commission established a taskforce to develop a strategic approach to 
delivering agreed outcomes and tangible results expected to occur over the next four years.  Taskforce 
members are representative of state and commonwealth government agencies and the Shire of 
Ashburton. 

 (iii) Roebourne Enhancement Government Agency Interim Committee. 

The Committee first met on 6 November 2001, has a four year life span and is scheduled for 
completion on 31 December 2005. 

The Roebourne Enhancement Government Agency Interim Committee was established to bring a 
range of social and economic development outcomes as well as improve the co-ordination of the 
delivery of infrastructure and services to the Roebourne Community. 

The broad intent of the Scheme is to: 

- provide planning and implementation to improve the physical amenity of the town and in 
particular the village precinct; and, 

- the potential creation of youth and education precincts with possible consideration to be 
given to health and justice precincts. 

(3) (i) $1,686 
 (ii) $27.00 
 (iii) $815 

 These are funds spent on projects.  Staff costs are not included in these figures. 

Gascoyne Development Commission 

(1) N/A 

(2) The Coral Bay Infrastructure Implementation Working Group was formed to oversee the development of 
infrastructure by government agencies in Coral Bay. 

(3) $852 
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State Supply Commission 

(1) Three 

(2) (i) Review of the Buy Local Policy 

 The intent of this review is to strengthen the Buy Local Policy so that opportunities for local and small 
businesses in Western Australia are maximised through government buying.   

 (ii) Review of Statutory Authorities (State Supply Commission) 

 This review of the State Supply Commission is being undertaken as a part of the review of all 
statutory authorities that the Machinery of Government Taskforce recommended.  The review of each 
statutory authority must proceed from the basis that a statutory authority should only exist if its 
functions cannot be performed by a department or it would be inappropriate for them to be performed 
by a department.   

 (iii) Indemnity and Insurance Clauses Discussion Group  

  The Discussion Group was established to co-ordinate discussions between the Master Cleaner’s 
Guild, RiskCover and the Crown Solicitor’s Office with a view to examining the usual indemnity and 
insurance clauses used by government agencies and assessing whether mutually agreeable clauses can 
be drafted.   

(3) (i) Review of the Buy Local Policy 

  To date approximately $43,680 has been spent on this review, apart from staff salaries and 
administrative costs.   

 (ii) Review of Statutory Authorities (State Supply Commission) 

  This review was undertaken with in-house resources.  No money has been spent on this review apart 
from staff salaries and minimal administrative costs.     

 (iii) Indemnity and Insurance Clauses Discussion Group 

  No money has been spent on this review apart from staff salaries and minimal administrative costs. 

Minister for Consumer and Employment Protection; Training: 

Department of Consumer and Employment Protection 

(1) Thirteen 

(2)-(3) Review/Committee/  Brief outline of what it    How much money has 
 Taskforce/Enquiry  was established to achieve   been spent on this to date 

 Taskforce to Review Code of To review the Code of Practice with the $2,545.00 
 Practice for the WA   aim of improving performance within the 
 Building and Construction  building and construction industry by 
 Industry    encouraging the parties to embrace a co- 
     operative approach to efficiency and 
     productivity and discourage unsatisfactory 
     practices. 

     The Code addresses the key areas of 
     occupational health and safety, contract 
     administration, training, tendering and 
     industrial relations. 

 Review of Consumer Protection In accordance with the recommendations $5,515 
 Boards and Committees  of the Machinery of Government  
     Taskforce, the functions of Consumer 
     Protection boards and committees are 
     being reviewed to assess the 
     appropriateness and feasibility of 
     incorporating those functions into 
     departments of State. 

 Review of Construction  To review the Construction Industry $3,500 
 Industry Long Service  Long Service Leave Payments Board in line 
 Leave Payments Board  with the Machinery of Government 
     Taskforce recommendations. 
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 Review of the Occupational To carry out a statutory review of the $35,317.10 
 Safety and Health Act 1984 Act pursuant to Section 61 of the Act. 
 Petroleum Products Advisory Provides advice to the Minister for  $3,825 
 Committee   Consumer  and Employment Protection 
     and/or the Prices Commissioner on  issues 
     affecting the petroleum market in Western 
     Australia as identified by the Minister 
     or Prices Commissioner. 
 Review of Auction Sales   To examine additional issues, which were $1,147.30 
 Act 1973   not related to national competition policy, 
     that arose during the course of the National 
     Competition Policy Review of the Auction 
     Sales Act 1973. 
 Review of Fair Trading Act 1987 To determine whether existing consumer Nil 
 and Consumer Affairs Act 1971 protection provisions under each Act 
     remain relevant and effective in today’s 
     marketplace. 
 Committee established to review Examine issues from community responses Nil 
 Fair Trading Amendment Bill – to a Green Bill and make recommendations 
 Unconscionable Conduct  to the Minister on the implementation of the 
     Government’s election commitment to  
     introduce legislation in its first term 
 Committee established to review The development of a mandatory code of Nil 
 Fitness Industry Codes of Conduct practice for fitness industry members to 
     improve consumer protection in the  
     fitness industry. 
 Committee established to review The Motor Vehicle Sales Industry Reference Nil 
 Motor Vehicles Amendment Group has been formed to facilitate further 
 Bill 2001 & Regulations  consultation in relation to the Regulations 
     that will need to be drafted once the 
     Motor Vehicle Dealers Amendment Bill 2001 
     completes its passage through Parliament. 
 Review of Residential Tenancies To conduct a statutory review of the Act $26,558.80 
 Act 1987   and Regulations pursuant to Section 90 
     of the Act. 
 Committee/Review established To obtain the views of all key stakeholders $4,262.40 
 following collapse of HIH  on the short-term and long-term options for 
 Insurance and developments the future of home indemnity insurace 
 in the Home Indemnity Insurance in Western Australia 
 Market . 
 Review of Consumer Protection To review community expectations and $37,125 
 Services through Zero Based requirements of consumer protection 
 Assessment   activities in Western Australia through 
     consultation with consumers, business, 
     Government agencies, stakeholders and 
     the Minister. 

Note:  DOCEP’s financial systems do not provide for the costing of specific projects, or the allocation of 
salaries and overheads.  As a result, specific figures relate to direct costs such as printing and professional 
services incurred in respect to the project.  The amounts identified are actual costs paid by DOCEP as at 
13 May 2002.  They are not the total budget for each project. 

WorkCover WA 

(1) Two 

(2) Report on the Implementation of the Labor Party Direction Statement in Relation to Workers’ Compensation 
(the Guthrie Review).  

Advice to the Government on implementing the Labor Party’s pre-election direction statement in relation to 
workers’ compensation and previous reviews into insurance arrangements and medical and associated costs. 
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The purpose of this review is to identify and analyse options to improve the efficiency and fairness of the 
workers’ compensation system.   

Machinery of Government - Review of Statutory Authorities: Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation 
Commission.  

 Undertaken as a part of the Machinery of Government Review of Statutory Authorities and will provide advice 
to the Government on the most appropriate structure to achieve effective administration of the Western 
Australian workers' compensation system.  

(3) The total amount of money spent on the Guthrie Review is $38,335.65 (to 30 April 2002).  

As yet, no money has been spent on the Machinery of Government - Review of Statutory Authorities: Workers’ 
Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission although the expected cost is approximately $15,000.  

Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission 

(1) Nil 

(2)–(3) Not applicable 

Construction Industry Long Service Leave Payments Board 

(1) Nil 

(2)-(3) Not applicable 

Department Of Training 

(1) Two  

(2) (i) Review of the Training Sector- undertaken to make recommendations on: an optimum structure for 
the TAFE college network; the role and responsibilities of the Department of Training in providing 
services to the colleges; and system wide issues which impact on the public training delivery 
structure. 

(ii) Building and Construction Industry Training Board Review- undertaken to meet the requirement in 
the Building and Construction Industry Training and Levy Collection Act 1990 for the Act to be 
investigated and reviewed and to meet the State Government requirement to review statutory 
authorities.  

(3) (i) Estimated to be $96,000 as at 10 May 2002. 
 (ii) Estimated to be $25,000 as at 10 May 2002. 

Attorney General; Minister for Justice and Legal Affairs; Electoral Affairs; Peel and the South West: 

Department Of Justice 

(1) Four. 

(2) (a) Lower Courts Committee:  The Committee was established to provide advice on the implementation 
of recommendations relating to lower courts, as contained in the Law Reform Commission’s Report 
No 92: Review of the Criminal and Civil Justice System in Western Australia.  The aim of the 
implementation of recommendations is to improve access to justice for lower courts users through the 
deployment of legislation, rules and procedures within a single summary jurisdiction court, dealing 
with both civil and criminal matters. 

(b) Western Australian Civil and Administrative Review Taskforce:  The Taskforce was established to 
develop a model of a Civil and Administrative Review Tribunal for consideration by Government. 

(c) Review of Family Court of Western Australia Resources:  The Review is aimed at establishing the 
resource levels of the FCWA in comparison to the resources available within the Federal system 
through the Family Court of Australia and the Federal Magistrates Service. 

(d) Law Reform Commission –Judicial Review of Administrative Decisions:  Inquiry into the 
inadequacies and deficiencies of the current law and procedures pertaining to the judicial review of 
administrative decisions. 

(3) (a) Within existing resources. 
 (b) $19,000. 
 (c) Within existing resources. 
 (d) Within existing resources. 

Director of Public Prosecutions 

(1) Nil. 
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(2) Not Applicable. 

(3) Not Applicable. 

Electoral Commission 

(1) Nil. 

(2) Not Applicable. 

(3) Not Applicable. 

Equal Opportunity Commission 

(1) One. 

(2) The Ministerial Committee on Gay and Lesbian Law Reform assisted identify laws that discriminated against 
gay men and lesbians. 

(3) $10,191.50. 

Legal Aid WA 

(1) Nil. 

(2) Not Applicable. 

(3) Not Applicable. 

Office of the Information Commissioner 

(1) Nil. 

(2) Not Applicable. 

(3) Not Applicable. 

Office of the Inspector of Custodial Services 

(1) Nil. 

(2) Not Applicable. 

(3) Not Applicable. 

Peel Development Commission 

(1) Two. 

(2) (a) Mandurah CBD Taskforce - consult with residents and develop a master plan for Mandurah’s central 
business district. 

 (b) Rail Heritage Foundation of Western Australia  - Establish the Pinjarra Rail Heritage Centre in the 
Peel Region based at the Pinjarra Railway Yards, and the Pinjarra to Boddington Railway. 

(3) (a) Within existing resources. 
 (b) Within existing resources. 

South West Development Commission 

(1) Nil. 

(2) Not Applicable. 

(3) Not Applicable. 

Minister for the Environment and Heritage: 

Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority: 

(1) One. 

(2) Review of BGPA as a Statutory Authority under the Machinery of Government initiative. 

(3) $10,350. 

The Department of Conservation and Land Management: 

The Department routinely creates taskforces or committees to facilitate delivery of the outputs for which it has 
responsibility and may create ad hoc or ongoing consultative bodies to provide for stakeholder and public input into 
Departmental processes.  The Department also has membership of a range of across Government bodies responsible for 
providing coordinated policy advice and policy implementation actions. 
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(1) Six. 
(2) Internal Review of Fire Management Practices and Fire Symposium 

To review the Department’s fire management practices.  The fire symposium was held in April 2002 to 
provide a forum for the presentation and discussion of scientific and policy issues relating to fire management. 

(3) Approximately $35,000 
(2) Chief Executive Officers’ Coordination Committee on Implementation of the Protecting our old-growth 

forests policy 

 To coordinate implementation of the policy across agencies and support the Cabinet Sub Committee directing 
implementation of the policy. 

(3) The project office responsible for coordinating policy implementation has a budget of $250,000 in 2001/02 and 
$275,000 in 2002/03. 

(2) National Competition Policy Legislation Review of the Wildlife Conservation Act and its Subsidiary 
Legislation 

 To review the legislation in accordance with State/Commonwealth National Competition Policy arrangements. 
(3) Approximately $23,000 
(2) Processes under the Protecting our old-growth forests policy and preparation of the Forest Management Plan 

 (i) Review of stream and river logging buffers to ensure their adequacy in protecting our waterways from 
salinity, degradation and turbidity. 

 (ii) Assessment of the scientific, economic and community values and the impact of logging on salinity of 
areas subject to a moratorium on logging. 

 (iii) Review of high conservation value areas in the south-west forest to determine whether further areas 
should be reserved. 

 (iv) Report on the environmental impacts of silvicultural treatments applied to jarrah forests (Ministerial 
Condition 11) Part 1. 

 (v) Update of silvicultural guidelines and review submissions on the draft guidelines – collate, update and 
consolidate the silvicultural guidelines currently used by the Department of Conservation and Land 
Management for the management of native forests available for timber production in the south-west. 

 (vi) Review of structural goals for jarrah and karri forest and advise on their applicability to the new forest 
management plan. 

 (vii) Expert Working Group to design a trial of the “Protocol for the identification and prioritisation for 
management of Phytophthora cinnamomi ‘protectable areas’. 

(3) (i) No costs were recorded by the Department 
 (ii) $59,250 
 (iii) $52,618 
 (iv) $10,108 
 (v) $35,970 
 (vi) $4,950 
 (vii) Nil 
(2) Tuart Response Group 
 To coordinate agency action on the decline in tuart health and to devise a Tuart Conservation Strategy and 

Implementation Plan. 
(3) Approximately $70,000 including salaries. 
(2) Community Consultation Processes  

To facilitate the creation of the Walpole Wilderness Area and new national parks under the Protecting our old-
growth forests policy. 

(3) Approximately $10,000 
The Conservation Commission of WA: 

(1) Two. 

(2) (a) Round Table: Ministerial key stakeholder group to provide opportunity for key stakeholder groups to 
be kept informed of the progress of the Forest Management Plan as well as provide input into the 
development. 
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 (b) Forest Management Plan Steering Committee: to ensure the Forest  Management Plan is undertaken 
in a transparent and consultative manner, addressing all relevant issues that relate to sustainable 
management of forests. 

(3) (a) $5,900.03 
 (b) $9505.45 

Heritage Council of Western Australia: 

(1) The Heritage Council has been involved in 2 reviews since February 2001, at the direction of the Minister. 

(2) (a) A review of the Heritage Council’s assessment and registration procedures, completed in April 2001. 

(b) A review of the Heritage Council’s operations, as required of all agencies as a result of the 2001 
Machinery of Government report.  The results of the review were submitted to the Minister for 
consideration in February 2002. 

(3) Both reviews were conducted internally and did not incur any costs. 

The Office of Water Regulation: 

(1) Nil 

(2) Nil 

(3) Nil 

The Department of Environmental Protection and the Water and Rivers Commission: 

(1) Six. 

(2) (a) Carbon Right Taskforce: was to draft legislation to establish carbon rights, providing certainty and 
thereby promoting the environmental and economic benefits from plantations and land use changes 
for carbon sequestration. 

 (b) Independent Committee on Watsons Foods Odour Issue: to facilitate the resolution of odour and noise 
problems being experienced by residents in the vicinity of Watsons Foods in Spearwood without the 
closure or relocation of the operation. 

 (c) The Waste Management Board: was established following the recommendations of the WAste 2020 
Taskforce.  These recommendations included the amalgamation of existing bodies into one group and 
the adoption of a more strategic approach to waste management. 

 (d) Swan River Trust Review: was established to achieve:  
The effectiveness of the operations of the Trust. 
The need for the continuation of the functions of the Trust. 
The operation and the effectiveness of the Swan River Trust Act generally. 
The effectiveness of Part 5 of the Act relating to development control and Section 30A of the 
Metropolitan Region Scheme Act which establishes a formal link between the Trust Act and the 
statutory planning process. 

 (e) A review of the Waste Management and Recycling Fund: is required under the enabling legislation 
after three years of operation of the Fund.  The former Advisory Council on Waste Management 
developed a review project for the grants program.  The project was put out to tender and the review 
is currently under way. 

 (f) Stream and River Logging Buffers in Western Australia: a review was initiated to ensure their 
adequacy in protecting waterways from salinity, degradation and turbidity, and to incorporate these or 
new buffer prescriptions into future forest management plans. 

(3) (a) Carbon Rights Taskforce: costs were met from portfolio Budgets DEWCP and CALM.  Total 
expenditure estimated at $5000. 

 (b) Independent Committee on Watsons Foods Odour Issue: the committee has no budget and relies on 
the contribution of staff time and facilities of the Department of Environmental Protection, City of 
Cockburn and Watsons Foods. 

 (c) Waste Management Board: effectively cost-neutral because the new body takes over from the 
previous Advisory Council on Waste Management, the State Recycling Advisory Committee and the 
WAste 2020 Taskforce. 

 (d) Swan River Trust: the cost of this review was $33,000. 

 (e) Waste Management and Recycling Fund:  see answer to 2(e). 
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 (f) Stream and River Logging Buffers in Western Australia: estimated costs of salaries for Author, 
contributors, peer reviews and printing $31,150 plus external contributions from the Water 
Corporation and CALM. 

The Perth Zoological Gardens: 

(1) Since the election of the State Labor Government Perth Zoo has undertaken one internal review of itself as a 
Statutory Authority.  This was consistent with recommendation nine of the Machinery of Government Report. 

(2) See answer to (1). 

(3) Perth Zoo undertook its review internally.  The salary cost to the Zoo was $8200. 

Minister for Police and Emergency Services; Minister Assisting the Minister for Planning and Infrastructure: 

Western Australia Police Service 

(1) One.  PriceWaterhouseCoopers organisation was engaged to undertake an independent review over the DCAT 
and CADCOM projects. 

(2) The scope of the review covered the areas of: 
The Management of the DCAT Program and CADCOM Project; 
Benefits Delivery; 
Program Funding; and 
Functionality and Options. 

(3) The review was completed in November 2001 at a cost of $54,890. 

NOTE: WAPS has not included participation in inquiries and reviews instigated and or run by other agencies, or 
internal administrative reviews or operational matters, for example: Drug Summit; Reviews as part of the Machinery of 
Government recommendations; Administrative Functions Review; internal inquiries; Ombudsman’s Inquiries. 

Fire and Emergency Services 

(1) The Fire and Emergency Services Authority (FESA) has been responsible for one taskforce. 

(2) Taskforce:  Interagency Taskforce for the consideration of rotary wing aircraft in the delivery of policing and 
emergency services to the community of Western Australia.  The taskforce was chaired by a member of the 
staff of the Minister for Emergency Services and FESA provided executive services. It included 
representatives of FESA, the Department of Health and the Western Australia Police Service. The Minister for 
Emergency Services announced the taskforce’s findings on 11 May 2002.   

(3) Cost:  Interagency Taskforce:  FESA’s contribution $35,600 

NOTE:  FESA has not included participation in inquiries and reviews instigated and or run by other agencies: 

For example: Bellevue inquiry; Reviews as part of the Machinery of Government recommendations; ES CADCOM 
review. 

Department of Transport 

(1) Two – LPG Task Force & School Bus Task Force. 

(2) Title of Task Force Terms of Reference 

LPG Task Force  To consider the economic, fiscal and social viability of the current subsidy scheme  
   and other subsidy options including low interest loan schemes that would be a 

financial incentive to use LPG in motor vehicles. 

To examine and recommend the roles of Government and the private sector in 
relation to any recommendations arising from the first term of reference. 

To report to the Minister Assisting the Minister for Planning and Infrastructure on 
the first two terms of reference. 

School Bus Task Force To report to the Minister on:  

the preferred model to be adopted to determine the rate of remuneration for school 
bus contractors;  

the preferred model for determining a fair and just conveyancing allowance for 
parents of mainstream students in non-public transport areas;  

the integration of school buses into the Transperth system; and 

the appropriateness of the Morrell and Special Education Reviews. 
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(3) Title   Cost 

LPG Task Force  Salary costs are being met by the individual agencies/organisations represented on  
the Task Force. 

School Bus Task Force Salary costs are being met by the individual agencies/organisations represented on  
the Task Force. The cost of consultancy work is being met jointly by the 
Department for Planning and Infrastructure and the Department of Transport. To 
date, these services have cost $125,000. 

Minister for Planning and Infrastructure: 

Department for Planning and Infrastructure: 

(1)  Eleven 

(2)-(3) see table below. 

               (2) (2)  (3)  

List of Inquiries, Taskforces, Established to Achieve? How much money has been spent? 
Committees, Summits and 
Reviews initiated since 
February 2001   

Joint Department for Planning and A jointly agreed position report on Not applicable.  Existing Departmental 
Infrastructure/Fisheries Taskforce the MOG 30 Recommendation and resources utilised. 
    a strategy and program to address 
    the requirements of the agreed 
    position 

Review of Statement of Planning In response to widespread community Given no Review body was 
Policy No: 7 Leeuwin Naturalise concerns about the scale of proposed established, the review has been 
Ridge (in relation to Smiths Beach). development at Smiths Beach,  largely undertaken through internal 
 the review was undertaken to consider resources of the WA Planning 
 whether amendment of SPP7 was Commission and the Department 
 required, and if so, the form of such for Planning and Infrastructure. 
 amendment.  Following public Newspaper advertising cost in the 
 advertising of the resulting proposed order of $3000 
 modifications to SPP7, the Western 
 Australian Planning Commission has 
 recently submitted its recommendations 
 to the Minister for Planning and 
 Infrastructure.  

Mandurah CBD Redevelopment To oversee the future planning and Nil 
Taskforce. redevelopment of the Central Business 
 District of Mandurah  

Rockingham City Centre Transit To identify an appropriate transit $82,475.65 as at 6 June 2002 
Study Taskforce infrastructure and service to link the 
 Rockingham train station with the 
 Rockingham City Centre, Murdoch 
 University and the Waterfront Village 
 area 

Ministerial Task Force Investigating To review the structural arrangements $79,000 
Structural Arrangements for Coastal for Coastal Planning and Management 
Planning and Management in Western Australia.  

Metropolitan Freight Network The Freight Network Review (FNR) Approx. $50,000.00 
Review is establishing a new policy and 
 planning framework for freight 
 movement in the Perth metropolitan 
 area and its linkages to regional areas 
 to ensure a long-term sustainable 
 freight system.  
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Lower Great Southern Regional To oversee the preparation of the Approximately $1,000 in travel 
Planning Steering Committee Lower Great Southern Regional expenses (air fares) 
(created by the Western Australian Strategy. 
Planning Commission)   

Air Services Policy Review Review Intrastate Air Services and Nil to date. 
    its relationship to the Transport  
    Co-ordination Act  

Goldfields-Esperance Regional To oversee the implementation of the The Committee is being established; 
Planning and Infrastructure Goldfields-Esperance Regional first meeting likely to be in July 2002. 
Coordinating Committee Planning Strategy, Regional Transport  
 Strategy and Roads 2020 program 
 (and to replace two existing committees) 

Air Services Subsidy Review/ Benchmark modelling report on $5,000.00 
Report assessing subsidies for remote air 
 services  

Lime Sands Route Option Review The purpose of this project is to The project is largely being developed 
 determine the preferred option  using existing DPI and MRWA resources. 
 for transporting Agricultural Lime 
 Sand from the coastal plain at 
 Lancelin to Wheatbelt areas 

Main Roads WA: 

(1) Insofar as Main Roads is concerned, four (4). 

(2)-(3)  The purpose and expenditure of each review is as follows: 

Road Train Summit– a broad consultative review of Main Roads’ heavy vehicle permit system addressing 
community concerns over the operation of heavy vehicles on the road network and strategies for improving 
safety and operations.  $35 800. 

Review of Main Roads Western Australia’s Term Contracts – to assess the impact of the privatisation of road 
construction and maintenance in Western Australia on Main Roads and the agency’s ability to manage the 10 
year contracts.  $280 326. 

Review of Main Roads Acquisition Process for Graham Farmer Freeway – Ken Pettit QC Report  - an 
independent assessment of the land acquisition processes used by Main Roads in the acquisition of land for the 
Graham Farmer Freeway project.  $31 954. 

Review of Statutory Authorities: Main Roads Western Australia – part of a review of statutory authorities 
within the Planning and Infrastructure portfolio to assess the justification for Main Roads remaining as a 
separate entity.  $5 000. 

LandCorp: 

(1) 7. 

(2) Refer to below: 

Committee/Forum/Review Objective 

Hope Valley Wattleup Redevelopment  Advise LandCorp on issues of concern and interest to residents within 
Project – Community Reference Group the redevelopment area, advise and contribute to preparation of the  
 Master Plan and disseminate information to the community. 
Hope Valley Community Management Provide advice on management of tenanted properties and 
Committee acquisitions, identify issues relating to community infrastructure, 
 provide input into the Master Plan process and communicate to the  
Wattleup Community Management community. 
Committee  
Leighton Beach Community Forum  To determine the community views on the extent of future  
  development and public amenity. 
Scarborough Redevelopment  To devise development options which were subsequently incorporated 
Community Forum  into a survey. 

Land Use Planning Review North  Land Use planning review assessing various options for future 
Cockburn  development of the area. 
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LandCorp Statutory Authority Review To assess the appropriateness and feasibility of incorporating the 
  functions of the Western Australian Land Authority into a Department  
  of the State. 

(3)  Cost details follow: 

Committees - Hope Valley and Wattleup Redevelopment Project committee members are paid $142 per half 
day and $215 per full day.   

Summits – LandCorp did not incur a cost for the Leighton Beach summit.  Scarborough Community Forum - 
The cost attributed to the staging of the forum (including venue and equipment hire, mailing, facilitation, 
printing, displays etc) was $42,965. 

Reviews – LandCorp is not responsible for paying the cost of the Land Use Planning Review of North 
Cockburn. Consultant fees for the Statutory Authority Review are expected to be $19,200.   

Department of Land Administration (DOLA). 

(1) One. 

(2) Review of the Future of the Department of Land Administration (DOLA). 
Review the future of DOLA in response to Recommendation 39 of the Machinery of Government Report. 

(3) Support for the review has been provided from within existing DOLA staff resources and has not been 
separately costed. 

Western Australian Government Railways: 

(1) One. 

(2) Yes. Perth City Rail Advisory Committee (PCRAC). 

(3) As at 22 May 2002 total $225,351. This figure does not include costs incurred by DPI and WAGR which were 
necessary for PURD’s master planning process.   

Bunbury Port Authority:  

(1) One 

(2) Port Community Advisory Committee 

(3) Not applicable 

All other agencies: 

Office of the Minister for Planning and Infrastructure (Planning Appeals) 
East Perth Redevelopment Authority 
Subiaco Redevelopment Authority 
Midland Redevelopment Authority 
Fremantle Port Authority 
Dampier Port Authority 
Broome Port Authority 
Albany Port Authority 
Geraldton Port Authority 
Port Hedland Port Authority 
Esperance Port Authority 

(1) Nil 

(2) Not Applicable 

(3) Not Applicable 

Minister for State Development; Tourism; Small Business: 

Department of Industry and Technology 

(1) (a) Timber Industry Assistance Review Committee 

The committee was established 21 November 2001 to; 

Consider applications, which on initial assessment were deemed ineligible by Forest Products 
Commission and if determine an independent assessment of the business should be undertaken; 

Consider the independent assessor’s report on the business and determine if the business should be 
invited to formally apply for a level of assistance determined by the independent assessor; 
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Consider requests by applicants for a review of the assessment and for claims for additional funds 
assistance above the amount recommended by the independent assessor; and 

Consider and recommend suggested amendments to the guidelines. 

(b) Replacement Fremantle Class Patrol Boat Working Group 

The role of the Working Group is to develop and implement a WA Government facilitation strategy to 
better position the three WA bidders for the project.  The strategy aims to market and promote 
Western Australian industry's substantial capabilities in shipbuilding to senior politicians and defence 
officials; to reinforce that the three of Western Australian bidders are internationally successful 
commercial shipbuilders and are in strong contention; and to minimise the impact of political 
considerations in the decision and to pressure Defence to focus on tender specific considerations. 

(c) Jervoise Bay Liaison Committee 

It is intended that the Jervoise Bay Liaison Committee acts as an informal forum within the context of 
the engineering fabrication and assembly industrial sector at the Australian Marine Industry Complex 
at Henderson in general and the Jervoise Bay Estate in particular. 

Its primary objectives are: 
- The promotion of the engineering fabrication industries 
- The international competitiveness of the Estate 
- The establishment and maintenance of a stable Industrial Relations climate 

(d) Ministerial Education Exports Advisory Committee 

The purpose of the committees is to: 
- increase the scale and capability of education providers, 
- produce increased trade through networks and the State's greater international profile, 
- bring more tourism,  
- increase the acquisition of international skills, 
- assist the retention of graduates, 
- produce more R&D, 
- create more investment opportunities, 
- increase AusAid student scholarships, 
- give WA greater access to multilateral Aid projects, and 
- increase public awareness that education can strengthen the State's economic foundation. 

(e) Inter-Agency Wine Advisory Group (IWAG) 

The purpose of the IWAG is to provide consultation on and co-ordination of Government activity in 
relation to development of the Western Australian wine industry. 

(f) The Intellectual Property Policy Review Sub Committee of the Government Intellectual Property 
Policy Council  

Established to review the Government Intellectual Property Policy 2000 to ensure that Government 
Policy meets the Government's broader economic and Industry Development objectives. 

(2) (a) Nil 
 (b) Nil 
 (c) Nil 
 (d) $1512 for the Inaugural meeting of key government, industry and community stakeholders. 
 (e)  Nil 

 (f) Nil 
Department of Mineral & Petroleum Resources 
(1) For the Department of Mineral and Petroleum Resources - 4 

(2) (i) Parliamentary Inquiry - “Bellevue Hazardous Waste Fire Inquiry”. 

That the Committee examine, report and make recommendations on:- 

1. The role of relevant government agencies and relevant Ministers of the Crown in: 

 (a) approving the treatment and storage of waste at the site; and 

(b) regulating waste treatment at the site, including monitoring and enforcement 
measures; 

2. The nature and quantities of non-compliant materials stored at the site; 
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3. The response of relevant government to the incident on 15 February 2001 and the post-crisis 
management; 

4. The regulation, storage and disposal of hazardous waste in Western Australia, the extent of 
past and current operations and alternatives available; and 

5. Any other matters deemed relevant by the Committee. 

(ii) Inquiry into the Carmel Fireworks Explosion – conducted by Mr Martin Whitely, Member for 
Roleystone. 

To report on; 

1. The events of 6 March 2002 leading to the incident (the explosion/s and subsequent 
bushfire); and 

2. The response of the local and relevant State Government departments and authorities during 
and subsequent to the incident; and 

3. The process of licensing and of regulation of the facility prior to 6 March 2002;  

and to make recommendations on; 

1. The siting of similar facilities (fireworks manufacturing and explosive storage facilities and 
facilities which pose a similar danger) in appropriate locations; and 

2. The licensing and regulation of similar facilities; and  

3. Improving the response efforts of agencies involved in similar incidences. 

(iii) Review of the Project Development Approvals System 

To recommend to Government a system of government decision making which is coordinated and 
integrated, clear and unambiguous, which is balanced between community and developer needs and 
which will lead to Western Australia being the global location of choice for project development. 

(iv) Ministerial Inquiry to Identify Strategies to Increase Resources Exploration in Western Australia. 

To investigate the reasons for reduced levels of private investment in greenfields mineral exploration 
in western Australia and recommend actions that might be taken by the State and federal governments 
to achieve the level of expenditure necessary for a sustainable future for this important sector of the 
WA economy. 

(3) (i) Cost of the Bellevue Inquiry should be provided by the Committee Secretariat. 

(ii) The cost of the Whitely Inquiry to the end of April 2002 is less than $100. 

(iii) The cost of the Review of the Project Development Approvals System was $445 000 

(iv) No expenditure to date 

Small Business Development Corporation 

(1) Since February 2001, the Small Business Development Corporation (SBDC) has established one review and 
one committee. 

(2) Review of the Small Business Development Corporation Act - a statutory review of the Small Business 
Development Corporation to assess its performance since 1995 and its appropriateness in meeting the future 
needs of small business development in Western Australia. 

The Small Business Development Corporation Act (1983) Review Steering Committee - An independent 
Steering Committee appointed to oversee the review of the Small Business Development Corporation Act. 

(3) Review - expenditure to 30 April 2002 - $15 000. 
 Committee - expenditure to 30 April 2002 - $3 805. 

Rottnest Island Authority 

(1) One. 

(2) Effective and Efficiency Review. 

The intent of this review is to consider and ensure that the operations of the Rottnest Island Authority are 
effective and efficient. 

(3) Internal costs only. The review is being undertaken in conjunction with the development of the Rottnest Island 
Management Plan 2002-2007. 
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Western Australian Tourism Commission 

(1) Since taking office in February 2001, the Gallop Labor Government has initiated two reviews within the 
tourism portfolio. 

(2) They were: 
Review of the operations and structure of the Western Australian Tourism Commission. 
It was undertaken in August 2001 to assess whether the WATC’s structure (established in 1995) and 
operations were the most appropriate to meet the requirements of the Western Australian Tourism Commission 
Act 1993 and the Government’s Tourism Policy. 
Review of the 5 year Tourism Industry Plan – Partnership 21. 
The review, which has just commenced, is intended to:-  
(a) Assess and report on progress made on the initiatives described in the document prepared in 2000; 
(b) Consider the relevancy of the principles it promotes and make improvements where necessary; and  
(c) Provide scope for input on significant tourism issues not originally included in the plan and update 

those requiring further emphasis or clarification. 

(3) The cost of the Review of the WATC was $12,463 (does not include GST) The cost of the Partnership 21 
Review is expected to be approximately $90,000. 

Minister for Education; Sport and Recreation; Indigenous Affairs: 
Department of Education and Country High School Hostels Authority 

(1) A total of three reviews and one taskforce have been established since the election (not including the various 
groups established from time to time for routine operational purposes in schools, and district and central 
offices of the Department of Education).  There have been no summits.  

(2) Geraldton Secondary College Review. The purpose of the review was to identify issues affecting the ability of 
the College to maximize the educational outcomes of its students.   

Review of Educational Services for Students with Disabilities in Government Schools. The purpose of the 
review is to ensure that the educational needs of students within this group are met through the provision of 
appropriate, effective and efficient services, resources and facilities.   

Review of Behaviour in Government Schools . The review was established to examine and respond to the 
following specific behaviour management issues and contexts.  

Taskforce on Structures, Services and Resources Supporting Government Schools.  The report was tabled in 
Parliament on 27 August 2001. 

Response to be provided by Department of Education Services. 

(3) The following have been financed within existing resources by a reallocation of funds, taking into account staff 
time, at an estimated cost for each review as follows: 

Geraldton Secondary College Review - $35 000 
Review of Educational Services for Students with Disabilities in Government Schools - $200 000 
Review of Behaviour in Government Schools - $30 000 
Taskforce on Structures, Services and Resources Supporting Government Schools  - response to be provided 
by Department of Education Services. 

Department of Education Services & Curriculum Council 

(1) Four reviews. 

(2)– (3) 

List of Reviews Outline of Purpose $ 
Review of Fees and Charges in To examine the implementation of the There were no additional costs 
Secondary Schools  Government’s policy concerning voluntary beyond officer time. 
    contributions in years 8-10.  

Review of Ministerial Advisory To review the role and functions of the There were no additional costs 
Committees – Education Portfolio Ministerial Advisory Councils   beyond officer time. 
    (Aboriginal Education and Training 
    Council, Rural & Remote Education 
    Advisory Council, Early Childhood 
    Education Council and WA Higher 
    Education Council). 
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Review of Statutory Authorities – To review the functions of the three  There were no additional costs 
Education Portfolio  Statutory Authorities (Curriculum Council, beyond officer time.  
    Public Education Endowment Trust and 
    Country High School Hostels Authority) 
    to assess the appropriateness and  
    feasibility of incorporating these functions 
    into departments of State. 

Research Consultancy on  To provide the Government with technical Total Cost: $61,407 
Distribution of State Government advice on the calculation of Government 
Funds to Non-Government Schools school costs as the basis for allocating 
    funds to non-Government schools, and a 
    model for distributing the funds. 

Department of Sport and Recreation 

(1) One. 

(2) Review undertaken of State Government owned and managed recreation camps with regard to management 
operations and the development of a capital investment plan for the Department of Sport and Recreation 
managed camps. 

(3) Review undertaken by an employee of the Department of Sport and Recreation and completed within existing 
resources. 

West Australian Sport Centre Trust 

(1)  One 

(2)  Review of the Western Australian Sports Centre Trust.  Refer to Terms of Reference within Recommendation 
43 of “Government Structures for Better Results” (Machinery of Government Report). 

(3)  Review undertaken by an employee of the Department of Premier and Cabinet.   

Western Australian Institute of Sport 

(1) Not relating to WAIS 

(2) Not Applicable 

(3) Not Applicable 

Department of Indigenous 

(1) One. 

(2) Indigenous Affairs Advisory Committee (IAAC). 

(3) There was no costs involved establishing the committee.  The only costs involved relate to money spent on 
conducting regular meetings which are met from the normal operating budget of the Department of Indigenous 
Affairs. 

Minister for Community Development, Women’s Interests, Seniors and Youth; Disability Services; Culture and the 
Arts: 

Disability Services Commission: 

(1) 5 

(2) (a) The Disability Services Act (1993) review.  The review is being undertaken as part of the review of 
statutory authorities resulting from the Government Structures for Better Results report (released in 
June 2001).  A review of the Act was also required in 2003 under section 57 (1) (b) of the Act.  This 
review was brought forward to coincide with the review of statutory authorities.  This will minimise 
the review costs. 

 (b) The Review of Local Area Coordination.  This review was a pre-election commitment made by the 
State Government.  The review will be conducted in four stages and is designed to ensure that the role 
and purpose of this valued service is clearly understood by families and the community, and is 
achievable and cost effective. 

(c) The Partnerships Working Party.  This working party was formed by representatives from government 
and non government agencies in the disability sector to suggest how partnerships between the two 
sectors might be enhanced. 
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(d) Unmet Need Working Group.  This group was commissioned to prepare a report to improve the level 
of transparency and openness about the current and future need for accommodation support for people 
with disabilities. 

(e) The Accommodation Support Funding Process Review Steering Committee was formed to oversee 
the identification of the best and fairest process for allocation of available accommodation support 
funding. 

(3) (a) A budget of $40,000 has been allocated for the Disability Services Act (1993). 

 (b) A budget of $25,000 has been allocated for the review of Local Area Coordination  

 (c) There were no specific costs associated with the Partnerships Working Party.  Officers of the 
Disability Services Commission provided support within their normal duties. 

 (d) The cost of the Unmet Need Working Group’s report was $10,000. 

(e) The cost of the Accommodation Support Funding Process Review report was $49,452. 

Community Development, Women’s Interests, Seniors and Youth: 

(1) Reviews: 2 
 Committees: 3 
 Taskforces:  2 –   1 of which is a joint Taskforce with the Minister for Housing and Works 
 Convention: 1 

 In addition there were 3 reference groups:   

 - Strengthening Women’s Policy: The Report of the Reference Group.  
 - WA Volunteering Reference Group 
 - Carers Act Reference Group 

(2) (a) The Inter Departmental Committee (IDC) on Sexual Assault was formed in June 2001. The final 
report is due to be presented to the Cabinet Standing Committee on Social Policy in June 2002.  Its 
purpose is to develop recommendations to address sexual assault and coordinate State input into 
national cooperation on sexual assault. 

(b) The report on Family and Children’s Services Accommodation Hostels which commenced in April 
2002 and was publicly released on 5 July 2002. 

Its purpose was to examine the history and operations of metropolitan and country hostels, identify 
current services, type and location, other services complementary services, gaps in services, 
alternatives to hostel accommodation and recommend future directions. 

(c) The Active Ageing Taskforce commenced on the 20 February 2002 and the anticipated completion 
date is March 2003. 

Its purpose is to: 

develop an innovative and relevant across-government 5-10 year policy framework which promotes 
the active and visible participation of older people in Western Australian communities  

develop strategies, including partnerships with local authorities to ensure genuine consultation and 
participation on new active ageing initiatives so that informed discussion can be reflected in 
government decision making 

recommend a range of programs and strategies based on the principles of coordination, inclusion, 
collaboration and flexibility 

recommend an ongoing consultative process to ensure that emerging needs and issues for seniors are 
reflected within the policy framework and the strategies contained within it. 

(d) The State Homelessness Taskforce commenced on 23 July 2001 and was completed on 31 January 
2002.  Joint Taskforce with the Minister for Housing and Works. 

Its purpose was to: 

develop a plan of action for the whole of government and the community 

provide advice on identifying the causes of homelessness in the community 

contribute to a better understanding of homelessness and the pathways through homelessness and 
identify gaps in service provision 

provide advice on the development of benchmarks and social indicators 
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make recommendations to the cabinet Standing Committee on Social Policy on the plan of action, 
implementation strategy and a plan to monitor the progress of the implementation strategy. 

(e) Steering Committee on the Proposed Corporate Strategy and Organisational Structure commenced in 
July 2001 and was completed in December 2001. 

Its purpose was to make recommendations to the Minister for Community Development on the 
establishment of the Department for Community Development, in particular to recommend: 

the corporate strategy best suited to achieving the goals set out by the Machinery of Government 
Taskforce and an organisational structure capable of giving effect to the corporate strategy. 

(f) The Interdepartmental Child Protection Coordination Committee commenced in February 2002 for an 
interim 12 month period, subject to review. 

Its purpose is to develop a strategic approach for ensuring coordination and collaboration in child 
protection across relevant government agencies. 

(g) The National Competition Policy – Review of Child Care Regulations commenced on the 5 March 
002 and will be completed by June 2002. 

Its purpose is to review the Community Services Act 1972 and specifically existing Child Care 
Regulations to determine the extent and appropriate justification for restriction to competition 
contained within. The outcome of the review is required to satisfy State and Commonwealth 
Government requirements within the Competition Principles Agreement. 

(h) The Women’s Convention was held on the 7-8 March 2002. 

Its purpose was to consult with women in Western Australia in regard to their goals and aspirations 
for the future in the areas of health, safety, seniors, opportunity, workplace, family care and law. 

(3) The cost of each is as follows: 
The Inter Departmental Committee (IDC) on Sexual Assault - $11,000* 
Family and Children’s Services Accommodation Hostels - $14,321 
Active Ageing Taskforce - $7131 to date* 
The State Homelessness Taskforce - $180,000# 
Steering Committee – Proposed Corporate Strategy and Organisational Structure - $62,480* 
Interdepartmental Child Protection Coordination Committee – nil* 
National Competition Policy – Review of Child Care Regulations – nil* 
Women’s Convention - $85,926 * 

* excludes salaries 

# shared between the Department of Housing and Works and the Department for Community 
Development (DCD). DCD's contribution was $90,000 in staff time and payment to facilitate a non-
government member of the secretariat. 

Culture and the Arts 

(1) 2 

(2) (a) Review of Statutory Authorities 

The Minister for Culture and the Arts initiated the review of Statutory Authorities in the Culture and 
the Arts portfolio as part of the Machinery of Government (MOG) Taskforce recommendations.     
The Statutory Authorities reviewed were the Art Gallery, Western Australian Museum, Library 
Board, Perth Theatre Trust and ScreenWest. 

The purpose of this review was to determine whether the functions of these statutory authorities could 
not be performed by the Department of Culture and the Arts or whether it would be inappropriate for 
them to be performed by the Department.  

(b) The Contemporary Music Taskforce 

The Contemporary Music Taskforce was established to assist in the development and promotion of 
Western Australian contemporary music talent.  This includes undertaking an economic review of the 
current state and growth potential of the industry; implementing a State-wide All ages concert 
program; developing a touring support and skill development program for industry practitioners; and 
establishing a music industry website. 

(3) (a) $10,010 has been spent for the services of an independent Review Consultant. 

 (b) Costs to date - $4909.62 
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Minister for Health: 

(1)-(3) This information is not readily available.  Provision of this information would require considerable research 
which would divert staff away from their normal duties and I am not prepared to allocate the State's resources 
to provide a response.  If the Member has a specific inquiry I will endeavour to provide a reply. 

Minister for Racing and Gaming; Government Enterprises; Goldfields-Esperance: 

Government Employees Superannuation Board 

(1) None. 

(2)&(3) Not applicable. 

Gold Corporation 

(1) Nil 

(2) Not applicable 

(3) Not applicable 

Goldfields-Esperance Development Commission 

(1) Nil 

(2) Not Applicable 

(3) Not Applicable 

Insurance Commission Of Western Australia 

(1) None 

(2) Not applicable 

(3) Not applicable 

Lotteries Commission 

(1) The Minister for Government Enterprises has only instituted one enquiry – ie. review of section 22(8) and (2) 
of the Lotteries Commission of Western Australia.  Under the Lotteries Commission Act 1990 (as amended), 
the Minister is required to review this section in relation to the funding for the Perth International Arts Festival 
and the Film Industry every three years. 

All other Lotteries’ reviews, taskforces or committees have been management initiated as part of routine 
operational improvements. 

(2) See response to 1. 

(3) No expenditure other than management time has been incurred in the review of section 22(8) and (2) of the 
Lotteries Commission Act 1990 (as amended) or any operational reviews. 

Racing and Gaming Department Of 

DRGL,  BPB,  TAB and WAGRA 

(1) Nil 

(2&3) Not applicable. 

Water Corporation 

(1) None 

(2) Not applicable  

(3) Not applicable 

MINISTERS OF THE CROWN, STAFF, VEHICLES, MOBILE PHONES, PAGERS AND CREDIT CARDS 

1614. Hon. C.L. Edwardes to the Deputy Premier; Treasurer; Minister for Energy 

With respect to the Deputy Premier’s office, as at 11 March 2002, will the Deputy Premier indicate for each staff 
member in their office the following details - 

(a) name, level and type of employment contract; 

(b) the number of vehicles attached to the office, the names of the staff to which they are allocated and 
under what scheme are they allocated to the staff member; 
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(c) how many mobile phones are available at the Deputy Premier’s office and to which staff are they 
allocated; 

(d) are the mobile phone bills audited for the number of non-government related calls; 

(e) how many pagers are available and to which staff are they allocated; 

(f) how many Government credit cards have been authorised for use by the Deputy Premier’s office and 
to which officers have they been allocated and what is the limit of each card allocated; and 

(g) how often are audits conducted on credit card purchases? 

Mr RIPPER replied: 

(a) Michael Megaw  L9    Term of Government 
Darren Foster  L8    Term of Government 
Graeme Eley               L8     Public Servant 
Malcolm Bradshaw    L7              Public Servant 
Rod Torrens               L5                 Public Servant 
Shona Zulsdorf           L5                     Term of Government 
Chris Bolt                   A/L5                    Public Servant 
Simon Rebeiro           L4                      Public Servant (3 months secondment) 
Lois Anderson            L3                     Term of Government 
Kymberly Clifton       L3                     Term of Government 
Sharon Hoysted        Temporary Special Allowance L3 Public Servant 
Karen Riley               L2                   Public Servant 
Lauren Pierson         A/L2                 Public Servant 
Michelle Rivers        A/L3                    Public Servant 

(b) Four 
Darren Foster, Graeme Eley, Malcolm Bradshaw all under the Government Vehicle Scheme and one 
office vehicle. 

(c) Seven 
Michael Megaw, Graeme Eley, Malcolm Bradshaw, Darren Foster, Bruno Santarelli. office, spare 

(d) All mobile telephone usage within Ministerial Offices is subject to the Department of the Premier and 
Cabinet's Computing and Communications Acceptable Use Policy, which provides that: 

'Limited personal use of facilities by staff is permitted provided: 

(i) It is endorsed by local management; 

(ii) It does not interfere with work, or the work of anyone else; and 

(iii) It does not involve unethical behaviour.' 

In addition, Premier's Circular 24/01 stipulates that mobile phones are provided for work related 
purposes, however there will be circumstances where private use is acceptable.  However, mobile 
phones are not to be used for conducting private commercial activities, party political or campaigning 
purposes, or accessing fee incurring information services for unofficial or unnecessary purposes. 

The Premier's Circular requires agencies to adopt monitoring processes to address mobile phone 
usage, however there is no requirement for the number of non-government related calls on mobile 
phone accounts to be specifically audited.  Detailed information on the usage of telephone facilities is 
retained by the Department and can be scrutinised at the direction of the Director General if 
necessary. 

(e) Three 

The pagers are not allocated to any staff.  

(f) Eleven 

Michael Megaw; Visa $2000, American Express $2000 
Darren Foster; Visa $2000, American Express $2000 
Graeme Eley; Visa $2000, American Express $2000 
Malcolm Bradshaw; Visa $2000, American Express $2000 
Chris Bolt; Visa $2000, American Express $30000 
Michelle Rivers; Visa $3000 
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(g) Credit card expenditure is subject to regular periodic testing under the Department of the Premier and 
Cabinet's internal audit program in accordance with Part XII of the Treasurer's Instructions 
accompanying the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985. 

External review of departmental transactions, including credit card expenditure, is also undertaken by 
the Office of the Auditor General in respect of each financial year. 

MINISTERS OF THE CROWN, STAFF, VEHICLES, MOBILE PHONES, PAGERS AND CREDIT CARDS 

1623. Hon. C.L. Edwardes to the Minister for Health 

With respect to the Minister’s office, as at 11 March 2002, will the Minister indicate for each staff member in their 
office the following details - 

(a) name, level and type of employment contract; 

(b) the number of vehicles attached to the office, the names of the staff to which they are allocated and 
under what scheme are they allocated to the staff member; 

(c) how many mobile phones are available at the Minister’s office and to which staff are they allocated; 

(d) are the mobile phone bills audited for the number of non-government related calls; 

(e) how many pagers are available and to which staff are they allocated; 

(f) how many Government credit cards have been authorised for use by the Minister’s office and to 
which officers have they been allocated and what is the limit of each card allocated; and 

(g) how often are audits conducted on credit card purchases? 

Mr KUCERA replied: 

(a) Bruce Campbell - Fraser - Level 8 - Term of Government 
David Inglis - Level 9 - Secondment from Department of Health 
Fran Robb - Level 6 - Term of Government 
Renay Sheehan - Level 7 - Term of Government 
Gavin Briggs - Level 5 - Term of Government 
Natalie Machin A/Level 4 (Substantive Level 3) - Public Servant 
Chantelle Watts A/Level 3 (Substantive Level 2) - Term of Government 
Jenaya Du Toit - Level 2 - Term of Government 
Suzanne Mitchell - Level 2 - Term of Government 
Joanna Worthington - Level 2 (job share/part-time) - Term of Government 
Samantha Hegerty - Level 2 (job share/part-time) - Term of Government 

(b) Bruce Campbell-Fraser – Government Vehicle Scheme 
David Inglis – Government Vehicle Scheme 
Fran Robb – Government Vehicle Scheme 

(c) Bruce Campbell-Fraser 
David Inglis 
Fran Robb 
Renay Sheehan 

(d) All mobile telephone usage within Ministerial Offices is subject to the Department of the Premier and 
Cabinet's Computing and Communications Acceptable Use Policy, which provides that: 

'Limited personal use of facilities by staff is permitted provided: 
(i) It is endorsed by local management; 
(ii) It does not interfere with work, or the work of anyone else; and 
(iii) It does not involve unethical behaviour.' 

In addition, Premier's Circular 24/01 stipulates that mobile phones are provided for work related 
purposes, however there will be circumstances where private use is acceptable. However, mobile 
phones are not to be used for conducting private commercial activities, party political or campaigning 
purposes, or accessing fee incurring information services for unofficial or unnecessary purposes. 

The Premier's Circular requires agencies to adopt monitoring processes to address mobile phone 
usage, however there is no requirement for the number of non-government related calls on mobile 
phone accounts to be specifically audited. Detailed information on the usage of telephone facilities is 
retained by the Department and can be scrutinised at the direction of the Director General if 
necessary. 
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(e) None 

(f) Bruce Campbell-Fraser - $10,000 (Visa) 
Fran Robb – $3,000 (Visa) 
Gavin Briggs – $10,000 (Visa) 
Chantelle Watts - $10,000 (AMEX) 

(g) Credit card expenditure is subject to regular periodic testing under the Department of the Premier and 
Cabinet's internal audit program in accordance with Part XII of the Treasurer's Instructions 
accompanying the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985. 

External review of departmental transactions, including credit card expenditure, is also undertaken by 
the Office of the Auditor General in respect of each financial year. 

MINISTERS OF THE CROWN, STAFF, VEHICLES, MOBILE PHONES, PAGERS AND CREDIT CARDS 

1624. Hon. C.L. Edwardes to the Parliamentary Secretary to the Minister for Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries; the 
Midwest, Wheatbelt and Great Southern 

With respect to the Minister’s office, as at 11 March 2002, will the Minister indicate for each staff member in their 
office the following details - 

(a) name, level and type of employment contract; 

(b) the number of vehicles attached to the office, the names of the staff to which they are allocated and 
under what scheme are they allocated to the staff member; 

(c) how many mobile phones are available at the Minister’s office and to which staff are they allocated; 

(d) are the mobile phone bills audited for the number of non-government related calls; 

(e) how many pagers are available and to which staff are they allocated; 

(f) how many Government credit cards have been authorised for use by the Minister’s office and to 
which officers have they been allocated and what is the limit of each card allocated; and 

(g) how often are audits conducted on credit card purchases? 

Mr LOGAN replied: 

(a) Michael McMullan, L9, Public Servant – seconded from Dept of Fisheries 
Kevin Donohue, L8, Public Servant – seconded from Dept of Fisheries 
John Dagostino, L7, Term of Government 
Alan Briggs, L7, Public Servant – seconded from Forest Products Commission 
Michael Marren, L7, Term of Government 
Mark Chmielewski, L5, Public Servant – seconded from Dept of Agriculture 
Wendy Lockhart, L5, Term of Government 
Charmaine Cragan, L4, Term of Government 
Kathryn Robertson, L3, Public Servant – Dept of Premier & Cabinet 
Dale Piercey, L2, Term of Government 
Kim Pszczola, L2, Term of Government 
Elenna Dionisio, L2, Temporary Public Service s.64(1)(b) contract 

(b) Three vehicles 
Michael McMullan, GVS 
Michael Marren, GVS 
John Dagostino, Home garaging 

(c) Eight 
Michael McMullan 
Michael Marren 
Kevin Donohue (funded by Fisheries) 
Mark Chmielewski 
Alan Briggs (funded by Forest Products Commission) 
Wendy Lockhart 
Kathryn Robertson 
One spare kept in office 

(d) All mobile telephone usage within Ministerial Offices is subject to the Department of the Premier and 
Cabinet's Computing and Communications Acceptable Use Policy, which provides that: 

"Limited personal use of facilities by staff is permitted provided: 
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(i) It is endorsed by local management; 

(ii) it does not interfere with work, or the work of anyone else; and 

(iii) it does not involve unethical behaviour." 

In addition, Premier's Circular 24/01 stipulates that mobile phones are provided for work related 
purposes, however there will be circumstances where private use is acceptable.  However, mobile 
phones are not to be used for conducting private commercial activities, party political or campaigning 
purposes, or accessing fee incurring information service for unofficial or unnecessary purposes. 

The Premier's Circular requires agencies to adopt monitoring processes to address mobile phone 
usage, however there is no requirement for the number of non-government related calls on mobile 
phone accounts to be specifically audited.  Detailed information on the usage of telephone facilities is 
retained by the Department and can be scrutinised at the direction of the Director General if 
necessary. 

(e) Nil 

(f) 14 
Michael McMullan – Visa $10 000 AMEX $10 000 
Kathryn Robertson – Visa $1 000 AMEX $10 000 
Mark Chmielewski – Visa $2 000 AMEX $5 000 
John Dagostino – Visa $5 000 AMEX $5 000 
Kevin Donohoe – Visa $2 000 AMEX $2 000 
Michael Marren – Visa $1 000 
Wendy Lockhart – Visa $5 000 AMEX $5 000 
Francis Logan (Parliamentary Secretary) AMEX $2 000 

(g) Credit card expenditure is subject to regular periodic testing under the Department of the Premier and 
Cabinet's internal audit program in accordance with Part XII of the Treasurer's Instructions 
accompanying the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985. 

External review of departmental transactions, including credit card expenditure, is also undertaken by 
the Office of the Auditor General in respect of each financial year. 

REVIEWS, COMMITTEES, INQUIRIES AND TASK FORCES, ESTABLISHMENT 

1627. Hon. C.L. Edwardes to the Premier; Minister for Public Sector Management; Federal Affairs; Science; 
Citizenship and Multicultural Interests 

(1) Since the election of the State Labor Government how many reviews, committees, inquiries and taskforces 
have been established in the Premier’s portfolio? 

(2) Will the Premier list the reviews, committees, inquiries and taskforces that have been established? 

(3) Will the Premier list the commencement date and the completion date for each review, committee, inquiry and 
taskforce? 

Dr GALLOP replied: 

I am advised that : 

Department of the Premier and Cabinet 

(1) Twelve. 

(2) (a)  Machinery of Government Taskforce. 

(b) (1)  Review of Native Title Negotiating Principles. 
(2) Technical Taskforce on Land Title Applications. 

(c) Family Violence and Child Abuse in Aboriginal Communities (the Gordon Inquiry). 

(d) Indian Ocean Territories – review of Service Delivery Arrangements (in conjunction with the 
Commonwealth Department of Transport and Regional Services). 

(e) Office of Crime Prevention: 

(1) Review of Crime Prevention Strategies in Western Australia.  
(2) Review of Crime Prevention Funding Programs. 

(f) Review of Appointments to Government Boards and Committees. 

(g) Review of the Members of Parliament Financial Interests Register. 
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(h) Review of Members' Travel Entitlements. 
(i) Interdepartmental Committee on Native Vegetation. 
(j) Review into Missing Department of Consumer and Employment Protection Files. 
(k) Review of National Trust of Australia (WA). 
(l) Anti Racism Steering Committee. 

In addition, the Department, as a matter of good management practice, regularly reviews its organisational 
resources and structures to ensure efficiency and effectiveness of operations. 

(3) (a)  Commenced in March 2001, completed in July 2001. 

(b) (1) Commenced in April 2001, report presented to Premier in September 2001. 
(2) Commenced in April 2001, report presented to Premier in November 2001. 

(c) Commenced in January 2002, due to report by 31 July 2002. 

(d) Joint reviews for the Small Business Development Corporation, Valuer General, Main Roads, 
Department of Mineral and Petroleum Resources, Equal Opportunity Commission and the 
Department for Community Development were commenced in January 2001 and completed in 
May 2001. 

The Department of Environmental Protection review commenced in October 2001 and was completed 
in November 2001. 

The Department of Industry and Technology review was commenced and completed in 
February 2002. 

(e) Both commenced in April 2002 and are due for completion in late June 2002. 
(f) Commenced in April 2001, report presented to Premier in August 2001. 
(g) Commenced in May 2001, report presented in June 2002. 
(h) Commenced in April 2001 and is due for completion in June 2002. 
(i) Commenced in August 2001, completed its report in December 2001. 
(j) Commenced in February 2002, report provided to Premier in May 2002. 

(k) Commenced in December 2001, report provided to Premier and Minister for Environment and 
Heritage in March 2002. 

(l) First meeting held 18 November 2001.  No completion date has been set. 

Anti-Corruption Commission 

The Anti-Corruption Commission has provided the following information: 
(1) Nil. 
(2) Nil. 
(3) Nil. 

Governor's Establishment 

(1)-(3) Not applicable to Governor's Establishment 

Office of the Public Sector Standards Commissioner 

The Commissioner for Public Sector Standards advises as follows: 
(1) Nil. 
(2) Not applicable. 
(3) Not applicable. 

REVIEWS, COMMITTEES, INQUIRIES AND TASK FORCES, ESTABLISHMENT 

1635. Hon. C.L. Edwardes to the Minister for Education; Sport and Recreation; Indigenous Affairs 

(1) Since the election of the State Labor Government how many reviews, committees, inquiries and taskforces 
have been established in the Minister’s portfolio? 

(2) Will the Minister list the reviews, committees, inquiries and taskforces that have been established? 

(3) Will the Minister list the commencement date and the completion date for each review, committee, inquiry and 
taskforce? 
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Mr CARPENTER replied: 

Please refer to the response provided by the Premier to question on notice 1572 of 12 March 2002 

MINING, TAILINGS DISPOSAL FACILITIES, CONTAMINATION 

1735. Mr Birney to the Minister for State Development 

I refer to a document titled ‘Mining Operations Division Guidelines for preparation of a ‘Notice of Intent’ – Tailings 
Disposal Facility, cat leach, heap leach or extensions to existing structures’ produced by the Department of Minerals 
and Energy, dated July 1993, and ask - 

(a) will the Minister explain the reasons why the Department stated on page 4 ‘Regardless of the quality 
of the natural groundwater at the site, contamination is to be prevented at all times’; 

(b) if not, why not; 

(c) does the Department still take the factual view that regardless of the quality of the natural 
groundwater at the site, contamination is to be prevented at all times; 

(d) if not, why not and on what specific date did this change; and 

(e) if yes, will the Minister explain the reasons why? 

Mr BROWN replied: 

I am advised: 

(a) It is the Department's policy to protect where possible the receiving environment, and in this case to 
minimise the potential risk of groundwater contamination. 

It should be noted, however, that the guideline referred to has been superseded by: 

· Guidelines on the Development of an Operating Manual for Tailings; 
· Guidelines on the Safe Design and Operating Standards for Tailings Storage dated May 1999. 

(b) N/A. 

(c) See (a) above. 

(d) N/A. 

(e) See (a) above. 

ALCOA REFINERY, HAMEL-YARLOOP, ANIMAL HEALTH INVESTIGATIONS 

1743. Dr Woollard to the Parliamentary Secretary to the Minister for Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries 
In view of the fact there have been health complaints in humans possibly due to emissions from the Alcoa Refinery in 
the Hamel to Yarloop area - 

(a) has any official investigation into animal health in this area been conducted; and 

(b) if not, will the Government instigate an investigation into animal health in the area? 

Mr LOGAN replied: 

(1) No 

(2) The Department of Agriculture does not conduct animal health investigations unless there is a report of 
problems or a clear potential risk identified. 

There have been no reports of animal health problems specific to this area that suggest a link to emissions from 
the Alcoa Refinery. 

The Department of Agriculture has no plans to initiate an investigation into animal health problems in the 
Hamel-Yarloop area. 

POLICE ROYAL COMMISSION, EMPLOYING AUTHORITY AND FUNDING 

1793. Mr Birney to the Premier 

(1) Has the Director General of the Department of the Premier and Cabinet delegated his ‘employing authority’ 
powers under the Public Sector Management Act 1994 to the Executive Officer of the Police Royal 
Commission? 

(2) If not, why not? 

(3) Is the Police Royal Commission recognised as a ‘discrete entity’ for the purposes of the Financial 
Administration and Audit Act 1985? 
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(4) If not, why not? 

(5) Does the Police Royal Commission operate a separate bank account and its own accounting system that 
enables it to process its accounts in house? 

(6) If not, from which bank account does the Royal Commission draw its funds to meet its day to day 
commitments and why? 

(7) Will the Royal Commission be preparing separate financial statements and will it have a separate division 
within the estimates? 

(8) If not, why not? 

Dr GALLOP replied: 

(1) Yes. 

(2) Not applicable. 

(3) Yes. 

(4) Not applicable. 

(5) Yes. 

(6) Not applicable. 

(7) Yes.  I refer the Member to page 104 of Volume 1 of Budget Paper No. 2 for the 2002-03 Budget, presented to 
the Legislative Assembly on 16 May 2002. 

(8) Not applicable. 

DEPARTMENT OF INDIGENOUS AFFAIRS, OFFICE CLOSURES 

1795. Dr Constable to the Minister for Indigenous Affairs 

(1) Have any regional, or other, offices of the Department of Indigenous Affairs been closed in the past four years? 

(2) If yes to (1) - 

(a) where were these offices located; and 

(b) when were they closed? 

(3) If yes to (1) how many FTE employees were affected by the closures? 

Mr CARPENTER replied: 

(1) Yes 

(2) (a) (i) Roebourne 
(ii) Mirrabooka 
(iii) Narrogin 
(iv) Katanning 
(v) Mandurah 
(vi) Carnarvon 
(vii) Fitzroy Crossing 
(viii) Onslow 
(ix) Fremantle 

(b) (i) January 2001  
(ii) April 2001 
(iii) April 2001 
(iv) August 2001 
(v) October 2001 
(vi) November 2001 
(vii) December 2001 
(viii) January 2002 
(ix) March 2002 

(3) Ten. 

DEPARTMENT OF INDIGENOUS AFFAIRS, BUDGET 

1796. Dr Constable to the Minister for Indigenous Affairs 

(1) What was the total budget for the Department of Indigenous Affairs in – 
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(a) 1991-1992; 

(b) 2000-2001; and 

(c) 2001-2002? 

(2) What is the estimated budget for the Department of Indigenous Affairs for 2002-2003? 
Mr CARPENTER replied: 

(1) (a) Not applicable.  The Department of Indigenous Affairs was created in November 1994. 

(b) Total Budget (Total Cost of Services)   $20,069,000 
Total Appropriation                  $19,201,000 

(c) Total Budget (Total Cost of Services)              $17,461,000 
Total Appropriation                             $17,901,000 

(2) Total Budget (Total Cost of Services)               $17,498,000 
Total Appropriation                                            $17,414,000 

DEPARTMENT OF INDIGENOUS AFFAIRS, STAFF NUMBERS 

1797. Dr Constable to the Minister for Indigenous Affairs 
What were the total FTE employment figures for the Department of Indigenous Affairs in each of the past ten years? 
Mr CARPENTER replied: 
The Department of Indigenous Affairs (formerly the Aboriginal Affairs Department) was created in November 1994.  
Figures for 1994/95 to 1995/96 are not available, as there was no stipulated reporting requirement for this data 
until 1997.  The collection of this data through examination of archived records would require significant resources, 
which I am not prepared to allocate at this time. 

Accordingly, the following figures are provided:- 

1996/97 - 126 
1997/98 - 112 
1998/99 - 108 
1999/00 - 144 
2000/01 -  143 

DEPARTMENT OF INDIGENOUS AFFAIRS, SITES DEPARTMENT, RESOURCES 

1798. Dr Constable to the Minister for Indigenous Affairs 

What resources did the Sites Department of the Department of Indigenous Affairs have in each of the past five years in 
terms of – 

(a) Financial resources; and  
(b) FTE employees? 

Mr CARPENTER replied: 

(a) The actual financial resources dedicated to site related projects over the last five years are as follows 
(these figures cover direct project dollars only): 

Financial Year                             Actual $ 
2001-2002 (estimated)                $68,400 
2000 – 2001                                 $97,747 
1999 – 2000                               $435, 859 
1998 – 1999                                 $65, 970 
1997 – 1998                                   $5, 778 

(b) Prior to July 2000, FTE data for Site staff (ie: staff located in the Heritage and Culture Branch) is 
unavailable due to the fact that employees were absorbed into other Departmental cost centres, and 
the Heritage and Culture Branch did not have an individual cost centre.  However, the FTE employee 
details for more recent years are as follows: 

2000/01, average FTE 7.08 (as at 30 June 2001). 
2001/02, average FTE 12.07 (as at 23 May 2002). 

DEPARTMENT OF INDIGENOUS AFFAIRS, LAVERTON BRANCH 

1799. Dr Constable to the Minister for Indigenous Affairs 

(1) Has the Laverton branch of the Department for Indigenous Affairs been closed? 
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(2) If yes to (1), when was it closed? 

(3) If yes to (1), why was it closed? 

(4) If yes to (1), what savings in terms of financial and FTE allocations resulted from this closure? 

Mr CARPENTER replied: 

(1) No. 

(2)-(4)  Not applicable. 

DEPARTMENT OF INDIGENOUS AFFAIRS, KALGOORLIE BRANCH 

1800. Dr Constable to the Minister for Indigenous Affairs 

(1) Have there been any changes in the - 

(a) staffing; and/or  

(b) funding of the Kalgoorlie branch of the Department of Indigenous Affairs in the past two years? 

(2) If yes to (1), what were those changes? 

(3) Are any changes in staffing or funding projected for the coming financial year? 

(4) If yes to (3), what are the proposed changes? 

Mr CARPENTER replied: 

(1) (a) No.  The FTE allocation remains the same, however, two staff members, one from the Laverton 
district office, and the other from the Goldfields regional office at Kalgoorlie, have been transferred to 
Perth.  An Acting Regional Manager has been seconded to the Goldfields regional office for a period 
of six months. 

(b) No. 

(2) See response to (1)(a). 

(3) No changes are currently planned. 

(4) Not applicable. 

BRUNSWICK PRIMARY SCHOOL, COVERED ASSEMBLY AREA 

1816. Mr Bradshaw to the Minister for Education 

(1) Has an allocation in the budget been made for a covered assembly area for the Brunswick Primary School? 

(2) If yes, when will the covered assembly area be contracted? 
Mr CARPENTER replied: 

(1)-(2)  Decisions regarding those schools which will be provided with a covered assembly area during 2002/2003, 
will be announced later this year. 

HARVEY AGRICULTURAL COLLEGE, RELOCATION 

1824. Mr Bradshaw to the Minister for Education 

(1) Is any money allocated for the relocation of the Harvey Agricultural College facilities to the new site at 
Wokalup? 

(2) What is the time frame for the relocation of administration, dormitories, dining room, classrooms and other 
facilities to the Wokalup site? 

Mr CARPENTER replied: 

(1)-(2)  No funds have been allocated in the Department of Education's 2002/2003 capital works program for the 
relocation of the Harvey Agricultural College facilities to Wokalup. 

The decision taken by the Department was to progressively relocate the farm activities and facilities on to the 
Wokalup site. 

No decision has been taken to relocate or to resource the relocation of the administration, dormitories or dining 
facilities etc at this time. 

MINISTERS OF THE CROWN, PORTFOLIOS, UNFILLED POSITIONS 

1849. Hon. C.L. Edwardes to the Minister for Health 

(1) How many unfilled positions are there in the portfolio of the Minister? 
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(2) Of those positions that are unfilled, how many are occupied in an acting position? 

(3) What is the length of time each position has had an occupant in an acting position? 

Mr KUCERA replied: 

(1)-(3)  Due to the size and diversity of the Health portfolio this information is not readily available.  Provision of this 
information would require considerable research which would divert staff away from their normal duties and I 
am not prepared to allocate the State's resources to provide a response.  If the Member has a specific inquiry I 
will endeavour to provide a reply.  

__________ 


